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Remembering Shaheed Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani 

My first interaction with Nazir was in 2005 when I went to Kashmir as the company commander (CC). He was a recently recruited Ikhwani in my team. With his demeanour and discipline, he stood out amongst all. Even with minimal army training, he was physically fit, very sharp in conducting operations and generous. Once he was taught something, it never had to be repeated. In no time, he became a part of my core team.

In the years of working together, there were many incidents that portrayed his bravery, selflessness and devotion towards the country and the armed forces. His medals are proof of this.

The impression that Nazir made during my tenure as the CC steered me to get him in my team once again in 2013 when I joined the same team as the commanding officer (CO).

As a Kashmiri, it is a difficult task to work in the army and to be selfless towards the organisation. When the family stays in the vicinity, their safety too is a critical concern. But Nazir balanced duty towards the nation and home beautifully. 

How effectively and compassionately you deal with situations and the categorisation of a good officer or bad officer depends a lot on the team you have around you. Nazir played a major role in the success of our team. He was frank in his opinions and was a straightforward man. He was not just a subordinate, but also a buddy to me.

We as a country are blessed to have men like Nazir whose dedication towards the service is undeterred, no matter what may come. 

Colonel Parmvir Singh Jamwal

Commanding Officer
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Martyr Lance Naik (L/Nk) Nazir Wani, Ashok Chakra (AC), Sena Medal (SM**), served under me between 2016 and 2018. He was indeed a great soldier, and writing about him feels just like writing about my own family member or brother. 

He undisputedly held a great persona of a dignified soldier and a comrade. In my opinion, any soldier who has a distinctive military bearing and a humane attitude, which duly complements it, is the ultimate.  Nazir was indeed a very tough soldier but with very pious, humane qualities. Always truthful and faithful, Nazir was a wonderful human being. He was shy but straightforward, polite but very firm and truthful. 

Being a Kashmiri and operating near his hometown, with his family staying at the same place, demands a very high level of balance. And this balance was between integrity to the organisation and a hostile environment to deal with. I still wonder how he managed it so well without ever losing his composure.

Nazir, my buddy, was courageous to the extreme. He left me amused in many operations where I found him volunteering for grenade lobbying, house entry and chasing militants without any concern for his personal safety. In an operation near Kund village, while chasing a blood trail, we spotted a militant hiding in a cliff and Nazir immediately brushed me aside saying, ‘Sahab, aap peeche hato’ (‘Sir, please move back’), and took the lead and engaged him from close range. This reflects his immense qualities of leadership and camaraderie for which I will be indebted to him forever. 

A superb soldier, a kind human being and a brother, L/Nk Nazir Wani has left us with deep sorrow but with immense fond memories full of inspiration and great learning as a comrade-in-arms.

RIP and salute bro. 

See you up there to plan another operation...


Colonel Akhil Mendhe

Commanding Officer
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To Mahajabeena,
 ‘The Strong One’ 
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Introduction

Biographies are but the clothes and buttons of the man. The biography of the man himself cannot be written.

—Mark Twain

It was 24 January 2019 when I read the headline: 

‘Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani to be conferred with Ashok Chakra.’

It was big news; he was the first man from the Kashmir Valley to receive the honour. But the thought of penning down his journey didn’t occur to me then. Later, as we were discussing our day at the dinner table, it was my husband Ashutosh who said, ‘You must write his biography.’ 

It was then that I started to search for a way to connect with Mahajabeena, his wife. I got her number two days later and gave her a call. However, it took several more calls and a whole month before I actually got the chance to meet her.

I sat beside Mahajabeena in the same room that Nazir used to stay in when they shifted to their ‘summer capital’—Jammu. It was a simply done room; a wall-to-wall Kashmiri carpet was spread out on the floor, a mattress with bolsters for seating, light green walls, one of which had Nazir’s photograph hanging on it.

‘This is the first day that I have unlocked the room since Nazir left us,’ she said.

We didn’t say anything for some time. I suppose we both were gathering courage. ‘I am thankful to you for letting me write such an important part of you.’ Nazir was a part of her now. She smiled a little, ‘I just want his story to be told. And since we talked on the phone, I knew somehow that I can trust you with this.’ It was something that she had told me several times on call, but hearing this in person overwhelmed me. She had lost Nazir only a few months back and yet the strength and warmth of her character was something that I wish we all could imbibe. These are not just words, but our meeting that day and subsequent interactions made me respect her even more. She has shown the courage that cannot be put in words.

‘I haven’t been able to sleep properly since Nazir has gone,’ she said. ‘But you know what, yesterday he came in my dream,’ she added with a smile. ‘I told him that it is becoming difficult to live without you. And he said, “Then come to me”.’ Her voice started to choke, but she gathered herself, ‘I told him, “I will. But for now, I have to take care of our kids”.’

‘Who will be for them if I am gone?’ she asked me. That was true. Now she had the huge responsibility of keeping her children on the right path. ‘You are both the mother and father for them,’ I said.

‘He did everything for us. He had already made sure that we do not have any issues; financially or otherwise.’ She continued, ‘The only desire of his that I wished had been fulfilled was that he wanted to adopt a daughter,’ she sighed, ‘but I guess, not all we wish for come true.’ She went inside, and when she came back, there were some photographs in her hand. It is true, they looked adorable together and when she told me about their meet-cute and the journey, I could clearly see the love in her eyes. 

There are very few people who within the short span of their lives leave an indelible mark in the hearts and minds of everyone around them. Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani was one such soldier from the valley who, despite being surrounded by mayhem, took an unshakable stand against militancy. His act of bravery will constantly remind us that people can change for the better even if situations don’t alter. As I penned down his story, I realised that apart from being an exceptional soldier, he was also an excellent human being. The way he encouraged Mahajabeena to excel in every field, helped her in household work and considered it his duty, his constant support to those in need, the respect that he had for women, his devotion towards the relations, of blood and of heart—the list illustrates only a few examples of his exemplary character. I can only say that his story is an incredible tale of love, patriotism, sacrifice and hope. It is an extraordinary journey of a common man. 

This biography has been written after interviews with Nazir’s family, his childhood friends and his colleagues from the Ikhwan and the armed forces. If there are any discrepancies between what they said, it is because of a difference in perception and outlook, hazed by pain and loss. 

This book is a tribute to the men in olive uniforms, their valour, heroism, sacrifice and the hope that they instil in all of us. This is also a representation of my gratitude towards their families who are pillars of support and strength for these men. 

Dr Sonal Chaturvedi


Part One


1

Home: Kulgam, 1988

Pale hands I loved beside the Shalimar, Where are you now? Who lies beneath your spell? [...]
Pale hands, pink tipped, like lotus buds that float 
On the cool waters where we used to dwell...

—Laurence Hope, ‘Kashmiri Song’ (1902)

As he continued working, he turned his head east and saw that dawn had broken. The sky was still dark but near the horizon, a brew of yellow and orange was breaking out underneath the darkness of night.  

These were the first rays of the sun filtering in through the leaves of the deodars, waiting to shine bright. ‘I must hurry or else I’ll miss school again,’ he thought and started moving his hands quickly on the brass vessels.  

‘Oho! Azz chi tur (It is cold today),’ he said as soon as he dipped his hands in the icy-cold water.  He washed the vessels quickly and wiped his hands. Now the sky was well lit with sunrays, and birds had started announcing the arrival of the new day. He ran inside the house crossing Ammi who had just started firing up the mud chulha. 

‘Slow down or else you will hurt yourself,’ she shouted. ‘This boy has wheels fitted under his feet.’  

He half-listened to Ammi cribbing as he struggled to get into his pheran quietly. He had to make sure his sleeping brothers didn’t wake up because then Ammi’s work would be disturbed. His father, Sonualla, was half-awake now and smiled at Nazir.

Nazir waved him goodbye and slowly took his cloth bag and came out. 

‘Eat this,’ Ammi served him kahwa with last night’s chapatti. This was the time of the day when he and Ammi would sit together peacefully for a few minutes.  

‘Why do you have to clean vessels daily? I will do it when I am free. See your hands, how rough they have become,’ Ammi sounded worried. 

‘But what all you will do, tell me? You cook, you clean, you do everything else,’ he smiled, ‘and on top of that you have those two monsters to take care of,’ he laughed. 

‘Don’t talk about your brothers like that!’ Ammi frowned in mock anger. As he laughed, she looked at him lovingly; he was all that a mother could ask for. Always ready to help, always there to listen. 

‘But babu, you have your school, your studies; I do not want you to suffer because of household work.’ 

‘I will not, Ammi,’ he said solemnly.

‘Promise that you will not let yourself wander away. I want to see you become a bada sahib. People will see you and say salaam, they will recognise you by your name,’ as she spoke, she closed her eyes for a minute as if living the moment in her head. 

He smiled at Ammi. She looked so lovely and so pure with her head covered in a dupatta. He knew she was praying silently to Allah for him as she always did. 

‘Nazir, Nazir!’ It was Aslam calling him; he took his bag, waved to Ammi and left. 

‘Walk quickly, or else we will be late for school again,’ Aslam said. They walked hand in hand towards the government school. The sun had by now peeked over the horizon and was almost ready to dazzle the morning sky. By the time they entered the building, the pink overhead had become a pale yellow mixed with blue.   

It was a lovely winter morning in Kashmir in 1988. Nazir always felt a sense of peace when he entered the school building. The fresh smell of books, the paper, chalk, they all took him to a land away from reality. 

‘I really can’t understand why we have to solve these maths questions,’ Aslam was irritated. ‘Are we ever really going to buy thirty watermelons? And what will we do with them if we buy them anyway?’ 

‘I would rather buy thirty cricket balls,’ said Salim, Nazir’s classmate.  

‘Of course, you will,’ Nazir knew how much Salim loved cricket, ‘but for now, we have to focus on these thirty watermelons, which will lead our way to becoming bada sahibs one day,’ he said sagaciously. 

‘Nazir you love maths, so it hardly matters if there are thirty watermelons or thirty balls, you are going to kick them all,’ they all laughed. 

It was the day’s routine; these eighth graders all laughed, studied and played together. The schools were about to close for the three-month-long winter vacations. While they were all excited about it, little did Nazir know that this break would become a permanent one for him. 

As he returned home from school, he saw Ammi preparing the kangri for the night. The cold was still bearable as the sun was shining, but at night, they would need the kangri. 

‘Let me do this, Ammi,’ he insisted.

‘You have just arrived from school. Go and change and have some food, only then I will allow you to help me.’

Nazir ran away inside, saying, ‘Oh Ammi, I am your stubborn son, you know I will not budge from my duty.’ 

His Ammi smiled to herself, ‘Allah salamat rakhe (May Allah keep you safe).’ 

They all were sitting in front of the kangri while Raja Begum, Nazir’s mother, was serving them shorba. It was snowing outside. This winter was going to be a harsh one; it had been three days since the sun had set its rays on the ground. A view of the clear sky was much awaited now. The winter was dawning on the family as well; it had been a few days since they had last eaten a proper meal. With the increasing responsibilities, it was getting difficult for Sonualla to fend for a family of five. Little lines of worry had quietly etched themselves on his face. 

Nazir, the eldest child of the family, had begun to understand the situation. ‘I need to talk to him,’ he thought. 

After dinner when everyone went to sleep and Raja Begum was doing her chores, Sonualla went outside. To Nazir, it seemed the right moment to have a conversation with him. He reached the dalan; snowfall had stopped. The air smelled pure and fresh. Everything seemed quiet, almost muffled. Nobody attempted to come out of their houses. This added to the starkness of the silence. 

‘You seem worried, Abba. Is everything alright?’ 

‘Yes, why do you ask, Nazir?’ Abba smiled at him although Nazir could see through the empty half-hearted reassurance. 

‘You do not go to the dhaba often now?’ 

‘Because the business is meagre in winters, there are fewer tourists, fewer visitors.’ 

‘It becomes difficult in winters.’ 

‘Yes, it does, but it’s also so beautiful, isn’t it?’ He took his son’s hand in his and stared at the sky, ‘I love you all, I love you all a lot Nazir. I want to do things for you, your brothers, your Ammi but the means do not let me. To tell you the truth, we can barely make ends meet.’ 

Nazir knew he had to do something; he could not let Abba take the entire burden on to himself. He took in Abba’s frail figure, sitting on a bench, looking at the moon. He wasn’t old, quite young on the contrary, but tonight Nazir could see age on his face, untimely wrinkles too. And that was it. 

‘Abba, I think I should start working,’ he said abruptly.

Sonualla looked surprised. ‘What do you mean working? You have your studies; your school will reopen in three months.’ 

‘But studies can wait,’ he protested, ‘I can continue them later, for now, I just want to work.’ 

‘I will manage, child, don’t take this pressure on yourself.’

‘There is no pressure, Abba. I want to be of help while I can. Trust me, it will be okay.’ 

‘And what will your Ammi say? Have you told her? She dreams of you becoming a bada sahib every day.’ 

‘And her dream will come true Abba; I will explain everything to her. I am sure she will understand.’ 

‘Nazir,’ Abba couldn’t say anything else; he just came forward to hug his son. ‘You are too young child, and the world is too harsh. May Allah be with you,’ he murmured. 

Ammi was not very happy with Nazir’s decision, but there was little choice they had.  

One of his cousins offered Nazir a job in a carpet karkhana, ‘It is a fine place, people are good and the pay is satisfactory. They will teach you, what else do you want?’ Thus, the young boy started working with his cousin, Shadab, in a carpet karkhana. 

 Nazir had no idea that Kashmiri carpets were very famous and sought after. They used to see them all the time, but little did they know that they were prized possessions for many.  

The work used to start at 7 am in the morning after namaz. They would sit together and start working. Nazir took a while to understand the process in the beginning, but his co-workers helped him with everything.  

He used to sit behind the translucent veil knotting fine silk strands into even more delicate knots with his knees up, facing the waan. The karkhana was a warm, homelike place. They wove designs of gardens, flowers and chinars. Their time passed swiftly as Wasim, a fellow weaver, led them, sometimes with his singing and at other times with his qissas. Always mumbling, he spoke to no one in particular and yet he used to sing for everyone. He would interrupt himself suddenly, only to launch into a fusillade of other stories that would come to his mind.  

Kashmiri carpets are best described through this poem by an unknown Sufi poet, called ‘Ode to a Garden Carpet’:

 

Here in this carpet lives an ever-lovely spring Unscorched by summer’s ardent flame, Safe too from autumn’s boisterous gales, 
Is gaily blooming still, 
The handsome wide border is the garden wall 
Protecting, preserving the park within 
For refuge and renewal: a magic space

Watching the beautiful patterns coming to life was like sheer magic, something Nazir had never thought possible. ‘This is my Kashmir,’ he used to think and feel a sense of relief; the music, the chatter, the work, but, most importantly, the smile on everyone’s faces when they used to leave for home. 

As Shadab had told him, it was a beautiful place to work, and the people were friendly too. The work demanded ten hours of the day, but it used to pass in a jiffy. Although Nazir seemed happy and content in front of his mother, he couldn’t lie to himself. He missed school—the books, the bell, every little thing. He used to think about his friends, who must have started going to school again now that the new session had started. He wished to join school again, but now, his father was not very keen towards letting go of the income that he generated. Be it snowfall, rain or harsh weather, Nazir was never allowed to give up the day’s work.

It had been about a year since he had started working at the karkhana. He would get up in the morning as he did previously, sit with Ammi but his steps wouldn’t tread the path that led to the school, instead, he would head in the opposite direction.  

On one such day, as he was lost in his train of thoughts, Mir, a fellow weaver, called for a break. ‘Come on, everyone, now give yourselves some rest,’ he smiled. 

It was time for everyone to break for some refreshments, some bread, some nun chai and some tamokh jajeer. It was that time of the day when they all used to sit together to discuss various issues, whether it be their household problems or the political situation.  

The November sky had started showing signs of winter’s arrival. While the weather was getting cold, the political temperature was rising in the valley. The situation was often the point of discussion during everyone’s day-to-day work in every nook and corner. The peace-loving people of Kashmir were worried about the prevailing conditions. Daily newspapers were carrying news of threats issued to Kashmiri Pandits.

Nazir was young, but he understood the grave nature of the situation. They had no Kashmiri Pandit in their village and, hence, were less impacted by the whole situation. 

But the night of 19 January 1990 changed their lives forever. The Kashmiri Pandits were thrown out of their homes and were forced to flee the valley overnight. The militants infiltrated the valley and raised the slogan of azaadi. A section of the youth, fuelled by the fire of their age and the hopes of a brighter future, took easily to this notion.

Nazir by now had completed the process of learning how to weave carpets. It seemed only right to him that he should start the work of weaving carpets from his home. That way, he would be able to teach the same to his brothers.

‘There should at least be a way to earn a living for them if nothing works out,’ he thought, and the situation at home only reinforced his belief.

It was 1992, and it had been two years since Nazir and his brothers had started the work of carpet weaving from home. But the tensions in the valley hadn’t calmed down.

‘These are difficult times. May Allah be with us,’ Sonualla sighed. The dhaba had been closed for a few months, and they had little savings left. ‘We have our land. I will do farming.’

‘Are you sure?’

‘Yes, better than stretching my hands in front of someone.’

‘And now that Nazir is doing work with his brothers at home, I am sure we will have more to save.’ Sonualla patted Nazir’s back with pride. They were hopeful of a better future.

Their smiles, however, were short-lived. Although there were no Kashmiri Pandits in the village, the infiltration of militants brought chaos. 

On a beautiful Sunday morning, Nazir’s brothers were out playing in the courtyard. Suddenly, they heard an explosion followed by multiple gunshots. Everybody who was playing started to run away, but the youngest one could not move. He just stood there with his legs shivering.

Nazir saw his brother and was alarmed; he ran towards him and grabbed him. They came home with his brother in Nazir’s arms. Ammi hugged him and tried to cheer him up but the boy was shell-shocked; he was so scared that he just grabbed her pallu and sat still.

This was not a stray incident. There were incidents like this every now and then. Militants were trying to get a hold over the village. Some people were favouring them, some were being indifferent. The militants too behaved accordingly. The small fights between neighbours, which were always resolved amicably before, now had a third-party intervention. Petty fights in the neighbourhood now took ugly turns. The militants started to arrive in favour of one party and beat the other side ruthlessly. These kinds of acts sowed the seeds of bitterness that snapped personal bonds. People who had lived together for generations were now divided by ideologies.

Nazir was a victim of this kind of abuse. He was fifteen now, old enough to understand the situation but too young to retaliate. Due to continuous pressure, he worked as Over Ground Worker (OGW) for the Hizbul Mujahideen for a few months. 

As per SJM Gillani, inspector general of police (IGP), Kashmir, ‘The police have laid down rules for identification of the over ground workers. People who facilitate militants in carrying out attacks and other terror-related activities are considered over ground workers. Those who provide resources to militants or propagate their propaganda also fall in this category.’1

Nazir was a kind-hearted soul. The unnecessary bloodshed around disturbed him. He soon realised the futility and long-term harm of this violence. He started avoiding the terrorists. This was not taken well by the Hizbul Mujahideen. 

And since he had stopped being an OGW for the Hizbul Mujahideen, his family no longer received the patronage of militants. They were now easy targets. 

‘OGW: The police have laid down rules for identification of the over ground workers.

Nazir, as the eldest, was the one who suffered the most. The day-to-day thrashings and beatings flooded him with anger. He came home one day with blood gushing from his nose and a swollen eye.

‘You are bleeding!’

‘Ammi, those people hit bhaijaan again.’ The younger one said, ‘We were just coming home and they grabbed bhaijaan’s collar. He asked them to let it go, and they started thrashing him without a reason.’ He started to sob.

‘Allah! Help us. Nazir, you sit over here. I will bring some malham.’ 

‘Why don’t they leave us alone, what have we done to deserve this…?’ Raja Begum was murmuring while searching for some ointment. Tears were dripping down her face. Nazir saw everything but didn’t utter a word. 

Big, fat droplets fell down her face in ugly, quiet sobs. Nazir turned away; he couldn’t bear to look. Her weak figure looked frailer than ever. Something broke inside him.

And then one day he heard about the Ikhwan.


2

Ikhwan: Kashmir, 1990 Onwards

We must take sides.
 Neutrality helps the oppressor, never the victim.
 Silence encourages the tormentor, never the tormented.
 Sometimes we must interfere.
 When human lives are endangered, when human 
dignity is in jeopardy, national borders and 
sensitivities become irrelevant.
 Wherever men and women are persecuted because of 
their race, religion, or political views, that place must—at that moment—become the center of the universe.

—Elie Wiesel,  
Nobel Prize Acceptance Speech

When militancy broke out in Kashmir in 1989, Kashmiris inevitably got involved. In 1988, when the Jammu and Kashmir Liberation Front (JKLF) initiated armed rebellion in the valley, it was hoping for eventual Pakistani military intervention. As India had helped East Pakistan to gain independence and create Bangladesh, they believed a similar strategy would be followed by the Pakistani army which would help Kashmiri separatists create an independent state of Jammu and Kashmir. They may also have been hoping that New Delhi might, over time, lose the will to retain Kashmir. How to proactively bring about this happy state of events was not a matter that the separatist leadership had thought through. JKLF was under the naïve belief that Pakistan was merely out to aid Kashmir and to exact vengeance for the humiliation of 1971.

They failed to notice that there could be a possibility that Pakistan might be focusing on the expansion of its territory. It didn’t strike them that allowing Pakistan to help them create a state of their own might lead to them wanting a share of not only the say but also the power. Failure to anticipate that Islamabad would challenge the pro-independence movement and assist only those militants who favoured accession to Pakistan was JKLF’s big mistake. 

Even though JKLF leaders used Islamic symbols for their cause, they differed from the radical Islamists who thought that religious commonality was enough reason for Kashmir to become a part of Pakistan. Due to this foundational difference of ideology, the ground was set very early on for a parting of ways between the JKLF and the ISI-Islamist coalesce.2 The consequences of this miscalculation were apparent soon enough. 

Satisfied that it had succeeded in initiating an anti-Indian rebellion in Kashmir, eventually, the ISI got rid of the JKLF in 1990 and started favouring a pro-Pakistan Islamist group—Hizbul Mujahideen. The group was created by a few different-minded JKLF groups and youths recruited by the Kashmir branch of the Jamaat-e-Islami. A Jammu and Kashmir based socio-political and religious organisation, the Jamaat-e-Islami was founded in 1945 as a chapter of the Jamaat-e-Islami Hind during the independence movement. With a pro-Pakistan stance (especially during the Plebiscite), the party pitches itself as working mainly in the fields of education and awareness about Islam.

JKLF was now caught between the withdrawal of Pakistani support, on the one hand, and an Indian counter-insurgency, on the other, and it suffered heavy losses. 

Unlike JKLF, the Hizbul Mujahideen derived its power primarily from the military hardware and funds supplied to it by the ISI and the Pakistani branch of the Jamaat-e-Islami. With the benefit of hindsight, it is possible to say that Pakistan made a grave mistake in scaling down JKLF’s military capability at the same time that India launched a crackdown in Kashmir. Between 1990 and 1994, the ISI converted what had initially been a mass uprising against Indian rule in Kashmir into a pro-Pakistan movement with a much narrower support base. Only committed Islamists were prepared to believe that Kashmir was bound to join Pakistan and that people’s verdict on the matter counted for little. While a handful of quislings were always available to champion this view, most Kashmiris were unconvinced.3

Muslims in Kashmir adhere to a mystic Sufi tradition of Islam in which reverence for local religious practices and shrines is not anathema as it is in fundamentalist Islam. 

The traditional communal harmony that once existed in Kashmir enabled the peaceful coexistence of Muslims, Kashmiri Pandits (Hindus) and other minorities. The Kashmiri society evolved to be more open to various beliefs, under the influence of Islamic sufis and saints of the rishi order.

Some of the Hindu festivals in Kashmir attained a secular character and both Pandits and Muslims celebrated them, the birthday of river Vitasta (Jhelum) being one such festival. The King, Zain-ul-Abidin, also known as Bud Shah (Great King) used to function as a high priest on such occasions promoting a collective identity, often referred to as Kashmiriyat, which further evolved as a representation of religious tolerance. Saints like Lal Ded/Lalla Arifa, Sheikh Noor ud-Din Wali/Nund Rishi also helped the cause by spreading the message of oneness and sowing the seeds of the concept of religious-humanism. The humanistic philosophy of Kashmiri sufis and rishis has played a prominent role in building the Kashmiri ethnic identity.

As times progressed, despite varied political leanings and conflicting attitudes to the history of Kashmir, Kashmiris (Pandits and Muslims), continued to have a remarkable degree of tolerance, respect and concern for each other in their day-to-day life. Pandits and Muslims honoured the onset of spring by celebrating a festival called Badamwari (almond festival) as flowers blossomed in almond gardens. In many areas, Muslim asthans (shrines) and Hindu shrines stood facing each other while people together made pilgrimages to shrines and also visited living sufis. Until the year 1989—the year that marked the beginning of a rather political movement for rectification of political grievances, which soon took a violent turn—nobody could have imagined that the soil over which the Sufi saints walked, spreading the messages of spirituality and oneness, would be one day soaked in the blood of countless people whereby also, a minority community would be forced to leave their ancestral land, all in the name of religion.4

Those Kashmiris who advocated accession to Pakistan were fundamentalists since they believed that these cultural differences constituted a barrier to the political unification of Muslim populations. By suggesting a consolidation with Pakistan, they contradicted two basic principles for which the anti-Indian rebellion was originally incited. One of these was the defence of Kashmiriyat—the region’s cultural distinctness. Afraid of losing their identity in an India where Hindu nationalism was becoming a political force to reckon with, many Kashmiris grew hostile to the thought of further integration with the national mainstream. During the 1980s, this trend was accelerated, as communal violence across the rest of India created a sense of Muslim insecurity. Eager to resist the forward march of Hindutva, the Muslim population of Kashmir grew susceptible to militant appeals couched in religious undertones.

At the core of these appeals was, however, a desire to preserve their cultural heritage in all its distinctness and not to have it merely subsumed within a broader Islamic identity. By calling for accession to Pakistan, the Islamists with their fundamentalist agenda were in opposition to the very concept of Kashmiriyat. According to them, religious commonality trumped ethnic and linguistic differences between Pakistan and Kashmir. Initially, the majority of Kashmiris did not perceive this contradiction, since the anti-Indian rebellion was in theory masterminded from Pakistan Occupied Kashmir (PoK) and not from Pakistan itself. For a while, it appeared as though the separatist movement was a fight against the Government of India by the peoples of both Indian and Pakistani administered Kashmir. However, over time, Indian attrition of militant groups forced the latter to recruit increasingly from the Pakistani heartland. Gradually, the myth of an indigenous Kashmiri uprising got exposed, and the reality of a proxy war controlled directly from Islamabad became too obvious to ignore.5

The second mistake made by the Islamists was to cavalierly dismiss the notion that the Kashmiri people had a right to self-determination. By foreclosing the independence option which resonated strongly with a large number of Kashmiris, the Islamists completely ignored public opinion in the valley. They, thus, appeared no less dictatorial than the corrupt local elites against whose rule the rebellion had initially broken out. If the rigging of the 1987 State Assembly elections was anti-democratic, so was the arbitrariness with which the Islamists blocked out differing points of view.

Hostility towards the Islamists in Kashmir boiled over when a highly respected religious leader called Qazi Nisar Ahmad was assassinated in June 1994. The Hizbul Mujahideen was thought to have carried out the killing upon instructions from the ISI which wanted to silence moderate Kashmiri politicians. At Qazi’s funeral, thousands of angry mourners chanted, ‘Jo mangega Pakistan, usko milega kabristan’ (‘Whoever asks for Pakistan shall get a grave’). Alarmed by the outpouring of anti-Islamist sentiment, the Hizbul threatened to assassinate anyone who did not retract his or her statements against Pakistan.6

It was early 1994 when Mohammad Yusuf Parray—also known as Kuka Parray, alias Jamshed Shirazi, the folk singer-turned-militant—began to cooperate with the Indian Army to carry out the dirty counter-insurgent wars, after having surrendered to the Indian security forces in 1993. Parray was a part of a large group of terrorists which, marginalised by the one-track support given by Pakistan’s ISI 
to the Islamist Hizbul Mujahideen, threw in its lot with the Indian security forces. Parray, then the leader of the Ikhwan-ul-Muslimeen, began cooperating with the army. Soon afterwards, the former National Conference MLC, Javed Ahmad Shah, started a parallel initiative backed by the state police’s Special Operations Group (SOG) in Srinagar. Liyaqat Khan joined the movement shortly afterwards, operating in Anantnag, in southern Kashmir. Soon after that, many such militants followed suit—they switched sides and started to cooperate with the army. At the end of that year, all the three renegades had merged into the feared Ikhwan-ul-Muslimeen, which later became the most dreaded among all others.7

The value of the Ikhwan for the army, and indeed Liyaqat himself, is best explained in his own words:

‘What the force got most from us—because we were local and knew militants—was that we could connect the army to the local people. People became informers. Every day we would get 5–6 bits of information. Our manpower was too few to handle the information. The biggest benefit from us was therefore intelligence gathering. We also used to assist the army in operations—again where to go and which house to go to was our work. The army itself did the actions. We used to route information through wireless systems. We also had access to various places.

As things spread—we also had local commanders in different places. There were our boys everywhere. We facilitated all this. Boys were communicating with individual camps in the area. So we had for example area A—we had 5–6 boys. They were given weapons. By then, we were dealing with the Core commanders and I did not have to be on the ground anymore. By 1996—I was almost in politics. When I used to go to Victor Force—the Commander used to say he had four commanders—1 sector, 2 sectors, 3 sectors, and Liyaqat.’8

Renegades like these proved highly useful for the army, especially in conducting the assembly elections of 1996. They played the dual role of informers and killers at the same time, thus suppressing the militants to a great extent, who otherwise would have proved to be a great encumbrance to the elections. Farooq Khan, the then SOG head, is reported to have said that without these groups, it would have been challenging for the elections to be held in a peaceful atmosphere.

Across Kashmir, they operated the same way as militants did. A commander controlled each group of twenty to twenty-five men. They shifted bases frequently and planned ambushes against militants. The specificity with which the army and Ikhwan worked out their operations is best explained by quoting a colonel, who describes how they protected local sources:

‘When sources would give any information from any area, Ikhwan with the help of army and SOG used to cordon the area and hold crackdowns. From parade grounds we used to arrest our sources and beat them in front of locals to avert any disclosure of their identity as informers. We used to detain sources for sometime and then would release them after getting accurate information about the hiding of militants in village. Afterwards, the army and Ikhwan would cordon the identified place and launch encounter operations to kill the militants.’9

Also, the Ikhwan operated from two places—Kuka Parray’s area of Sonwari and north and south Kashmir. In places like Pulwama and Budgam, the Ikhwan was run by CRPF/BSF and was their creation. Some groups started local camps of the Ikhwan in other areas. Many in these groups were mostly just interested in personal benefits and hence their activities became a cause of defamation for the Ikhwan.

As for the Ikhwan, some people thought that due to the circumstances, it was required at that time. The founders of the group were not all trained militants from Pakistan. The majority of people voluntarily joined the Ikhwan because everything was going against Kashmiri people.

It was around this time that Nazir decided to join the Ikhwan. He thought it was a way to fight back the militants and their atrocities. 

Although joining the Ikhwan was not something that he had planned, the daily troubles created by terrorists pushed him towards searching for a solution. He was most concerned about his family. His brothers were young and Abbu was not in a condition to retaliate. He spent sleepless nights trying to decide the way forward. And then, one day, he was sure of what he wanted to do. 

On a summer morning in1995, Nazir went to Ayoob’s home, just a few steps ahead of his own. Ayoob was his childhood friend, one whom Nazir trusted completely. The close bonding between the two had led their families to become close too. As he entered the gate, he found Ayoob’s mother was sweeping the floor.

‘As-Salaam-Alaikum (Peace be unto you), Khala.’

‘Kus chuu (Who is it)?’ she asked without looking up.

‘Nazir.’

A smile lit up her face, ‘Wa-Alaikum-Salaam (And unto you peace), Nazir. Come; you keep busy these days.’ 

‘Only due to work, Khala.’

‘I understand baccha, it is necessary. And I am happy that now Ayoob is working with you. His Abba cannot work any more due to illness; we need to fend for ourselves. Ayoob has taken all the responsibility on his shoulders.’

Nazir asked for the whereabouts of his friend. Ayoob’s mother reassured him that he would be out in a few minutes and offered him chai. ‘Arey Nazir, Salaam,’ Ayoob said, coming out a moment later. As the two finished exchanging pleasantries, Nazir drained his glass and set it down, thanking Khala for her hospitality. He turned to Ayoob then and asked him to accompany him outside. ‘Come along, I have some work.’

‘So, what is going on, I hope the people aren’t troubling you?’ 

Nazir avoided his question and hurriedly said, ‘All is good. Listen, I need you to come with me to the Kulgam Market. You will come along, right? I have some work over there.’

Ayoob did not protest. They started moving down the lane with mud houses on either side grazing their shoulders. There were wet mud ditches in the crackling kachcha road, warm and frothing. 

Splish splash. Their feet fell into one.

‘Oho!’ It was probably cow piss; must be cow piss. They could also smell cow shit nearby; lots of it.

They reached the bus stand and waited. Suddenly, a jeep came and stopped there. Four men were sitting inside. It was not difficult for Nazir or Ayoob to figure out that the men were from the Ikhwan. They had been patrolling routinely for a few days now.

‘You two come sit inside the jeep.’

It was evident that resisting was futile so they did as asked. The jeep took them to Kulgam, but rather than going to the market, it took them in the opposite direction. The Kulgam Ikhwan centre was like a fortress, guarded at every nook and corner. They got down from the jeep and were rallied to the 
central hall.

‘Sit here, take some water if you want,’ a person directed them to plastic chairs lying in the centre of the room. 

Nazir and Ayoob moved hesitantly. They were scared and didn’t know why they were brought there. After a few minutes, a man came into the room and sat on one of the chairs. 

‘What are your names?’

‘Nazir.’

‘Ayoob.’

‘And are you studying?’

‘No, we make carpets,’ Ayoob replied.

The man smiled, ‘That’s good. But what if I offer you better work?’

‘And what is that?’ Nazir asked.

‘Join us, the Ikhwan.’

They had heard about the Ikhwan, the counter-militants. But as no one from their village had joined, they did not have a clear idea of what it was all about. 

‘You know how militants are infiltrating every corner of our home. They are creating disparities in the social fabric; they are troubling locals,’ the man paused for a moment, ‘but most importantly, they are posing a threat to our integrity, to the essence of Kashmiriyat, to our nation.’ 

There was a moment of silence in the room. 

‘We need people like you to fight back. We have the support of the army; we have resources…all we need is your participation.’ 

Ayoob flinched, but gathered courage and said, ‘I don’t know if what you do is right or wrong, but Sahib, all I know is that my family depends on me. My father is bedridden, they need me. I cannot join you.’

Tense silence permeated the room. 

But before anyone could say anything, Nazir said, ‘I will join the Ikhwan. Maybe Allah has shown me a way to help myself and others; I will not let it go waste. 
But before anything, I request you to let Ayoob leave for his home. I know that what he is saying is true.’

The men looked at each other, and then the person sitting in front of them nodded.

‘Behtar hai (It is better).’

The jeep left Ayoob on the muddy road of Cheki, alone. His friend had left to be a part of a different world. From the tales that were doing the rounds about the Ikhwan, Ayoob couldn’t make out what he should tell Nazir’s parents. He came home and dropped on the bed. It seemed as if someone had drained every bit of strength from his body. 

‘Allah, be with Nazir,’ he thought.

Only a few kilometres away, Nazir was preparing to start his new journey, which would define his entire life. Nazir entered the premises and felt a sense of relief on seeing a known face, Mushtaq. Mushtaq had been an ally to the JKLF in the past, but now had decided to join the Ikhwan. He had known Nazir since he worked as an OGW for Hizbul. Their paths had crossed some times a few months back, but it was now that the two men could really start to bond.

‘I am glad you made the right decision,’ Mushtaq said.

Nazir replied, ‘I have not told my family.’

‘They will make peace with this once they know that this is for a good cause,’ Mushtaq patted his back, reassuring him. ‘From this day onwards, I will guide you through every step till my last breath.’

‘Or maybe my last breath,’ Nazir smiled. He didn’t know then, but Nazir had foretold his future. The two would carry on side by side through the Ikhwan and then the army, till the operation which would prove to be Nazir’s last. 

The news was not well-accepted by his family. Given what they had heard about the Ikhwan, it was not easy for them to imagine their eldest, most responsible child out in such a scary world. When Sonualla received the news, he went pale, unable to utter a word. Nazir’s mother started wailing. ‘We should go and get him back. I am sure he will listen to us. He might have been angry with all that is happening, but he will understand once his mind cools down.’ His father agreed and asked Khala to look after the kids. Sonualla set foot on the muddy road with his wife. They simply wanted their son back with them.

As they reached the Kulgam Ikhwan camp, the guard at the gate stopped them. ‘Where are you going? Who are you?’

After explaining to him who they were and who they wanted to meet, the guard went inside. He emerged a few minutes later. ‘Come with me.’

They were directed towards a room. As time passed, both waited eagerly for their son to arrive. About half an hour later, the door opened and Nazir walked in. Begum ran towards him and hugged him tightly, ‘I was so scared for you Nazir.’ Tears were flowing down her cheeks. Nazir embraced her. Sonualla was not able to express his fear and love the way Begum did, but his eyes said it all, ‘Come, son, come with us,’ he pleaded.

‘Abba, I can’t.’

‘But this life isn’t for you. You have no idea how risky it is to be an Ikhwani.’

Nazir smiled, ‘But Abba, isn’t it risky everywhere these days?’

No matter how hard Sonualla tried, Nazir wouldn’t change his decision. ‘I need to leave now Abba. Ammi, take care of yourself. Don’t worry about me, I am happy over here. Inshallah (God willing), I will fulfil your dream by becoming bada sahib one day.’

Despite their best efforts, they left without their son that day. Turning one last time, they saw the camp gate and knew that they had lost their Nazir to this unrest. 

They were not completely wrong about it. Though Nazir went on to achieve different milestones personally and professionally, he got more engrossed in his work. And as the years passed, they would see less and less of him.
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Hope for Peace:
 Lahore Summit, 1999

Tan hama daag daag ast pamba kuja kuja niham. 
(My body is full of bruises, where all can I apply the balm.)
 
—Persian lament

In March 1994, Jammu and Kashmir—barely surviving terrorist insurgency—came under the governor’s rule. Although the democratic aspirations of Kashmiris were compromised with this move, political negotiations were on. The Indian government engaged in talks with the separatists (mainly via intelligence agencies) and also kept Kashmiri parties in the loop. The immediate goal in this phase was the restoration of democracy. 

General elections were finally held in the state of Kashmir in 1996, after a long hiatus. But this was not an easy task as many contestants and party workers faced armed attacks. The elections were won by Farooq Abdullah’s party with a two-thirds majority in the assembly. The polls were majorly carried out with the help of the Ikhwanis; they protected the booths, were vigilant in the areas and protected the party members. Unsurprisingly then, they became the target of various terrorist organisations, which started locating and killing them—at tea shops, at home and wherever the Ikhwanis went unguarded. 

When the time came for re-elections for a few seats in 1998, the retaliation by terrorists surged. The Ikhwanis who had let their guards down were being targeted once again. At the same time, India conducted its second nuclear test in Pokhran in May 1998. Soon after, Pakistan too conducted its series of nuclear weapon testing in the very same month. With these tests, both countries acquired the de facto status of nuclear weapon states.

The move was condemned by many countries around the world, although the strength of actions was different. As described in the CRS Report for Congress10: 

‘On May 13, President Clinton imposed wide-ranging sanctions on India, remarking that its surprise nuclear testing “recalls the very worst events of the 20th century.” Noting that 149 nations have already signed the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty (CTBT), the President called on India to define its greatness “in 21st-century terms, not in terms that everybody else has already decided to reject.” On May 13, the U.S. Senate Subcommittee on Near Eastern and South Asian Affairs held hearings on India that had been originally intended to focus on growing ties and economic cooperation between the United States and India but instead became a forum for bipartisan condemnation of India’s nuclear tests. (See CRS Issue Brief 93097, US-India Relations.) A number of nations joined the United States in imposing economic sanctions on India. On May 14, 1998, Japan announced it was suspending aid loans, reportedly worth nearly $1 billion, in addition to suspending $26 million in grant aid. Germany, Australia, the Netherlands, Sweden, and Denmark also announced economic sanctions on India of varying degrees of severity. The Europeans and Japanese also supported the United States in postponing consideration of pending World Bank loans for India. Amid fears by nonproliferation experts that India’s tests would prompt testing by Pakistan and other countries, President Clinton dispatched a high-level team, headed by Deputy Secretary of State Strobe Talbott, to Pakistan to try to dissuade Islamabad from responding in kind. Acknowledging the pressures on the Pakistan government to test, President Clinton stated that refraining from testing, “would be a great act of statesmanship and restraint on their part.” It was not clear what incentives the U.S. Officials intended to offer Pakistan, but settlement of the longstanding dispute over the nondelivery of F-16 fighter planes as a result of the cutoff of aid to Pakistan in 1990 was widely cited as one possibility. In any event, what ever incentives the Administration may have offered, Pakistan tested on May 28.’

These times led to the initiation of peace talks between both the countries, mainly due to international pressure. The result was the ‘Lahore Declaration’ (as available on Ministry of External Affairs official website)11: 


Lahore Declaration February, 1999 
February 02, 1999
 The Lahore Declaration


Joint Statement ||| Memorandum of Understanding 

The following is the text of the Lahore Declaration: 

The Prime Ministers of the Republic of India and the Islamic Republic of Pakistan: 

Sharing a vision of peace and stability between their countries, and of progress and prosperity for their peoples; 

Convinced that durable peace and development of harmonious relations and friendly cooperation will serve the vital interests of the peoples of the two countries, enabling them to devote their energies for a better future; 

Recognising that the nuclear dimension of the security environment of the two countries adds to their responsibility for avoidance of conflict between the two countries; 

Committed to the principles and purposes of the Charter of the United Nations, and the universally accepted principles of peaceful coexistence

Reiterating the determination of both countries to implementing the Simla Agreement in letter and spirit; 

Committed to the objective of universal nuclear disarmament and [non-proliferation];

Convinced of the importance of mutually agreed confidence-building measures for improving the security environment;

Recalling their agreement of 23 September, 1998, that an environment of peace and security is in the supreme national interest of both sides and that the resolution of all outstanding issues, including Jammu and Kashmir, is essential for this purpose; 


Have agreed that their Respective Governments:

• shall intensify their efforts to resolve all issues, including the issue of Jammu and Kashmir.

• shall refrain from intervention and interference in each other’s internal affairs.

• shall intensify their composite and integrated dialogue process for an early and positive outcome of the agreed bilateral agenda.

• shall take immediate steps for reducing the risk of accidental or unauthorised use of nuclear weapons and discuss concepts and doctrines with a view to elaborating measures for confidence building in the nuclear and conventional fields, aimed at prevention of conflict. 

• reaffirm their commitment to the goals and objectives of SAARC and to concert their efforts towards the realisation of the SAARC vision for the year 2000 and beyond with a view to promoting the welfare of the peoples of South Asia and to improve their quality of life through accelerated economic growth, social progress and cultural development. 

• reaffirm their condemnation of terrorism in all its forms and manifestations and their determination to combat this menace.

• shall promote and protect all human rights and fundamental freedoms.

 

Signed at Lahore on the 21st day of February 1999. 
 Atal Behari Vajpayee
 Prime Minister of the Republic of India 
 Muhammad Nawaz Sharif
 Prime Minister of the Islamic Republic of Pakistan



Joint statement 

The following is the text of the Joint Statement issued at the end of the Prime Minister, Mr. A. B. Vajpayee’s visit to Lahore:

1.	In response to an invitation by the Prime Minister of Pakistan, Mr. Muhammad Nawaz Sharif, the Prime Minister of India, Shri Atal Behari Vajpayee, visited Pakistan from 20–21 February, 1999, on the inaugural run of the Delhi-Lahore bus service. 

2.	The Prime Minister of Pakistan received the Indian Prime Minister at the Wagah border on 20th February 1999. A banquet in honour of the Indian Prime Minister and his delegation was hosted by the Prime Minister of Pakistan at Lahore Fort, on the same evening. Prime Minister, Atal Behari Vajpayee, visited Minar-e-Pakistan, Mausoleum of Allama Iqbal, Gurudawara Dera Sahib and Samadhi of Maharaja Ranjeet Singh. On 21st February, a civic reception was held in honour of the visiting Prime Minister at the Governor’s House.

3.	The two leaders held discussions on the entire range of bilateral relations, regional cooperation within SAARC, and issues of international concern. They decided that:


	The two Foreign Ministers will meet periodically to discuss all issues of mutual concern, including nuclear related matters.

	The two sides shall undertake consultations on WTO related issues with a view to coordinating their respective positions.

	The two sides shall determine areas of cooperation in Information Technology, in particular for tackling the problems of Y2K.

	The two sides will hold consultations with a view to further liberalising the visa and travel regime.

	The two sides shall appoint a two-member committee at ministerial level to examine humanitarian issues relating to civilian detainees and missing POWs.



4.	They expressed satisfaction on the commencement of a Bus Service between Lahore and New Delhi, the release of fishermen and civilian detainees and the renewal of contacts in the field of sports.

5.	Pursuant to the directive given by the two Prime Ministers, the Foreign Secretaries of Pakistan and India signed a Memorandum of Understanding on 21st February 1999, identifying measures aimed at promoting an environment of peace and security between the two countries.

6.	The two Prime Ministers signed the Lahore Declaration embodying their shared vision of peace and stability between their countries and of progress and prosperity for their peoples.

7.	Prime Minister, Atal Behari Vajpayee, extended an invitation to Prime Minister, Muhammad Nawaz Sharif, to visit India on mutually convenient dates.

8.	Prime Minister, Atal Behari Vajpayee, thanked Prime Minister, Muhammad Nawaz Sharif, for the warm welcome and gracious hospitality extended to him and members of his delegation and for the excellent arrangements made for his visit.

Lahore, February 21, 1999. 
Memorandum of Understanding 

The following is the text of the Memorandum of Understanding signed by the Foreign Secretary, Mr. K. Raghunath, and the Pakistan Foreign Secretary, Mr. Shamshad Ahmad, in Lahore on Sunday: 

The Foreign Secretaries of India and Pakistan: 

Reaffirming the continued commitment of their respective governments to the principles and purposes of the U.N. Charter; 

Reiterating the determination of both countries to implementing the Shimla Agreement in letter and spirit;

Guided by the agreement between their Prime Ministers of 23rd September 1998 that an environment of peace and security is in the supreme national interest of both sides and that resolution of all outstanding issues, including Jammu and Kashmir, is essential for this purpose; 

Pursuant to the directive given by their respective Prime Ministers in Lahore, to adopt measures for promoting a stable environment of peace, and security between the two countries; 

Have on this day, agreed to the following:-

1.	The two sides shall engage in bilateral consultations on security concepts, and nuclear doctrines, with a view to developing measures for confidence building in the nuclear and [conventional] fields, aimed at avoidance of conflict.

2.	The two sides undertake to provide each other with advance notification in respect of ballistic missile flight tests, and shall conclude a bilateral agreement in this regard.

3.	The two sides are fully committed to undertaking national measures to reducing the risks of [accidental] or unauthorised use of nuclear weapons under their respective control. The two sides further undertake to notify each other immediately in the event of any [accidental], unauthorised or unexplained incident that could create the risk of a fallout with adverse consequences for both sides, or an outbreak of a nuclear war between the two countries, as well as to adopt measures aimed at diminishing the possibility of such actions, or such incidents being misinterpreted by the other. The two [sides] shall identify/establish the appropriate communication mechanism for this purpose.

4.	The two sides shall continue to abide by their respective unilateral moratorium on conducting further nuclear test explosions unless either side, in [the] exercise of its national sovereignty decides that extraordinary events have jeopardised its supreme interests.

5.	The two sides shall conclude an agreement on [the] prevention of incidents at sea in order to ensure [the] safety of navigation by naval vessels, and aircraft belonging to the two sides.

6.	The two sides shall periodically review the implementation of existing Confidence Building Measures (CBMs) and where necessary, set up appropriate consultative mechanisms to monitor and ensure effective implementation of these CBMs.

7.	The two sides shall undertake a review of the existing communication links (e.g. between the respective Directors—General, Military Operations) with a view to upgrading and improving these links, and to provide for fail-safe and secure communications.

8.	The two sides shall engage in bilateral consultations on security, disarmament and non-proliferation issues within the context of negotiations on these issues in multilateral fora.


Where required, the technical details of the above measures will be worked out by experts of the two sides in meetings to be held on mutually agreed dates, before [mid-1999], with a view to reaching bilateral agreements.

Done at Lahore on 21st February 1999 in the presence of Prime Minister of India, Mr. Atal Behari Vajpayee, and Prime Minister of Pakistan, Mr. Muhammad Nawaz Sharif.
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Love, Friendship, Work and Nazir: Kashmir, 1997

Let’s work together and build together, and as we do that, the real solution will begin... The real healing process will begin, and we will erode the distrust of the past.

—John Hume,  
Co-recipient of the 1998 Nobel Peace Prize

It was routine patrol on a Saturday for Nazir and his friend Amin (name has been changed due to security reasons). Every Ikhwani was designated to patrol the areas they belonged to as they understood the geography and demographics better. Nazir and Amin were designated to patrol the Ashmuji area. It was little past noon and the April sun was shining over their heads. Rivulets of sweat poured off their faces. Their shirts were soaked at certain places and clung to their bodies.

Since the weather was hot, Amin suggested that they get some lemonade. Nazir agreed, ‘But then we should get going quickly, we still have a lot to do.’

‘Yes Nazir miyan, your order is my command,’ Amin chuckled. 

They ordered a lemonade each and sat on the metal bench placed in a corner of the stall. The gazes of passers-by were not friendly. The Ikhwan was not treated with respect among local Kashmiris—they thought it was an organisation that troubled their own people. It didn’t help that several smaller organisations were formed in the name of Ikhwan, very few of which were legitimate. The wrongdoings of these groups tarnished the image of Ikhwan as a whole and this always troubled young Nazir. It had been two years since he had joined the Ikhwan and he had seen the way it worked. There were people who risked their own lives for a chance of peace in the valley. Nazir wished he could explain to everyone the need for an organisation like Ikhwan in the given situation. 

‘We have to visit Kulgam tonight, there has been news of some unrest there,’ said Amin.

‘Sure,’ Nazir took a sip of his lemonade. Raising his head, he saw the building in front of him—Ashmuji Government High School. 


[image: ]

Nazir (left) as an Ikhwani with Colonel Cariappa (right)

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s friend, Amin
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Nazir (centre standing) with the other members of the Ikhwan

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's friend, Amin

Something broke inside him. School and education had always been sacred to him. His life before the unrest had all that—school, his Ammi and her hope that someday he would become a bada sahib. How beautiful that life was! Home, his parents, their daily carefree strolls and peaceful nights. Nazir had always wanted to study, but he knew that wise words didn’t fill an empty stomach. Had he not left his studies and helped Abbu, the family would have starved. ‘I left the world of books behind,’ he thought. 

Amin’s slurping broke his train of thoughts. ‘This is good,’ Amin said. ‘Good that we took a break.’ Nazir patted his back. ‘Let’s get back to work,’ he said.

The school bell went off at that moment and Nazir glanced at it one more time. His eyes caught a beaming face. It was impossible for him to refrain from looking at her. The girl saw him once and then turned to look at him again. Nazir couldn’t take his eyes off of her, even as she caught him staring. Usually very shy, he surprised himself as he smiled at her. The girl turned away then and went on to join the rest of her group.

Nazir continued smiling as he watched her walk away. He wished he knew what she was saying to her friends. He stood there, awkwardly, running his fingers through his hair. 

‘Nazir,’ Amin shook him, ‘have you gone mad? Smiling to yourself?’ A little embarrassed, he fought back a boyish grin, not wanting to appear smitten by the face he had just seen.

‘It’s nothing, let’s get going,’ he said. 

Because the Ikhwanis were locals and knew the militants, the army contacted them to get inside information. Once the Ikhwanis were sure the information was authentic, the Ikhwanis would pass it on to the army. Sometimes, the military also used the Ikhwanis in operations, usually for directions. The Ikhwanis informed the military about the exact whereabouts of the locations including which house and how to get there.

Nazir and Amin had collected one such piece of information that day. There was a house near Cheki harbouring two militants. The information had come from a reliable source. It was their job now to guide the forces through the rails and tracks to the location. 

The sun had set while the forces travelled to the area. It was around eight in the evening when they cordoned off the house. Around two or three militants were expected to be inside.

‘Sahib, this is the location,’ Nazir told the army men.

‘You stay back and ask people in the adjacent houses to stay inside.’

‘Ji Sahib.’

Like all others, this was a carefully planned operation with coordination between various security forces—the police, the army and the CRPF. The standard operating procedure demanded that troops, closing in on a target, ask the militants to surrender. The militants rarely acknowledged this. In most cases, these operations ended in an encounter.

Nazir was well-versed with the process by now. He was no longer a newbie; these two years had taught him a lot. But every time he saw a local person among the dead, his heart broke…he could not bear the sight. This place that he called home was falling apart. These feelings would come and go periodically and they always made him uneasy. He realised, however, that he was doing his bit to keep the motherland intact. He believed that things would change one day.

 The operation lasted until the wee hours of the morning. But this time the militant, who turned out to be a local, agreed to surrender. 

‘Sahib, I was misguided. I am not the man who will kill my own clan.’ He looked exhausted and sounded afraid.

The man agreed to cooperate with the military in exchange for their protection. All he wanted to do, he said, was meet his family. Nazir took a deep breath. He was relieved, not only because the operation was over but also because a son was saved. There would not be yet another wailing mother.

‘Aaj ki raat to kaali ho gai (Tonight went without sleep),’ Amin placed his hand on Nazir’s back.

‘Haan, par sama to roushan ho gaya (But the world is a little brighter today),’ Nazir smiled back.

Back in Kulgam, they went to their rooms in the Ikhwan residence and retired to bed. As he was about to succumb to sleep, a face flashed before his eyes. He knew that they had to meet again, and given the nature of his work, it wouldn’t be difficult. 

They woke up the following day when the sun was shining bright. It was a little past noon. ‘Oh,’ Nazir sighed, realising the time. It would be late by the time he reached the school. He got up quickly and got ready, ‘The mess will be closed for breakfast by now, I should head to Amin’s room,’ he thought to himself. He knocked on the door of his friend’s room.

‘Coming,’ his friend called. ‘Aha! It’s you, I was thinking of coming to your room. The langar (mess) will be closed by now. Let’s head to the naan shop and have something before our day begins.’ 

The day was a usual one, patrols, getting information and keeping an eye on anything unusual. They didn’t get a chance to visit Ashmuji as it wasn’t part of their schedule that day. A few days passed by and still, Nazir couldn’t forget that face.

He decided that he had to visit Ashmuji and went there the next day. He reached the same spot and waited for the bell to ring. At noon, when the bell rang and everyone from school started coming out of the building, Nazir’s eyes searched the crowd. He wanted to know her name and everything about her; only if he could see her one more time. 

Not having found her yet, he went to wait by the lemonade shop. An hour went by. The school bell went off again and there she was, walking out through the school gate, busy talking to her friends. She had papers in her hand. Maybe they had an exam today, Nazir thought. He tried to muster up some courage to speak to her, but his feet were frozen. He turned away, only to find that face staring at him at the lemonade shop. 

‘There will never be a better time than now,’ he said to himself and stepped towards her.

‘As-Salaam-Alaikum,’ he said, approaching her nervously.

‘Wa-Alaikum-Salaam.’ She watched Nazir and continued, rather doubtfully, ‘Do I know you?’

‘No, you don’t, but I saw you some weeks back when I was here with my friend,’ Nazir hastened to explain.

‘Does your friend work here?’

‘No, no,’ Nazir struggled hopelessly. 

There was an awkward silence between them. Nazir had been courageous in all spheres of his life, but standing here today, he was falling short of both—words and nerve.

The girl spoke, ‘What is your name?’

‘Nazir… And yours?’

She opened her mouth to answer, when her friend called, ‘Come Mahajabeena, we are getting late.’

She smiled, ‘That’s my name. Khuda Hafiz (May God be your Guardian), Nazir.’

He couldn’t stop smiling, even when she was out of his sight. He was glad that at least they had started some sort of conversation that day. ‘Mahajabeena, the powerful one,’ he said to himself.

That marked a very eventful day in Nazir’s life. He met two people who would become his pillars of strength in the coming years—Mahajabeena and Zahoor.

Zahoor accompanied him on his first operation later that very day. This teenager would become his closest ally through the coming years. He was a local boy from the village Shurat, located in the Kulgam District in Jammu and Kashmir. At the time of the insurgency in 1992, the Hizbul Mujahideen was spreading terror across the valley and the organisations demanding freedom for Kashmir were trying to maintain their hold on the people of Kashmir. The people of Shurat, like other parts of the valley, were divided in their ideologies. Some wanted to support azaadi, and others were in favour of Hizbul Mujahideen’s call to merge with Pakistan. Zahoor’s brother, who worked as a carpenter, was friends with some youngsters who openly supported the JKLF. 

Although Zahoor’s brother wasn’t particularly inclined towards any organisation, his friendship with the JKLF supporters did not sit well with the terrorists associated with Hizbul Mujahideen. One day, when he was working in the garage area of his home, the terrorists barged in and shot him from a close range. By the time the family could do anything about any of it, he was already dead. Zahoor was in eighth grade at that time. This incident sparked anger that led him to join the militancy. But after spending a few months in training and a few days as a militant, he, along with his commander and other members, surrendered in front of the army. Later, Zahoor joined the Ikhwan in 1995.

Although they had joined the Ikhwan almost at the same time, it was only in 1997 that Nazir and Zahoor went on an operation together. The army was tipped off about seven militants hiding in two houses in Bandh village. The forces reached there in units of twenty-five and thirty and sieged the town from all sides. Nazir and Zahoor were aiding them with five other Ikhwanis.

‘We make a fervent appeal to all militants in hiding to drop your guns and surrender,’ the army announced. ‘We guarantee that we will facilitate a safe return and your re-entry into mainstream society.’

However, like in most instances, the militants did not pay any heed to the appeal. Instead, they tried to escape via the back door, running out towards the grass fields. The firing started from both sides. There was a feared and much-wanted leader of Hizbul Mujahideen among these militants, Manzoor Goble. He was tall, had a strong build and was fierce-looking. He, along with the other terrorists, opened fire at the military forces. 

The retaliation from the army was equally fierce. That was also the first time Zahoor saw Nazir’s transformation from a soft-spoken lad to a fiercely-battling man. He was upfront, fighting side by side with the army, a roaring lion. 

The operation took six hours, but in the end, all the terrorists were shot dead. ‘It is a major win—Manzoor Goble has been killed,’ Zahoor said to Nazir. ‘You fought really well.’

Nazir smiled, ‘Every bit counts!’

‘I forgot to ask your name,’ Zahoor said.

‘I am Nazir, and you?’

‘Zahoor.’ Thus began their friendship. They ended up talking all night, each telling the other about their life. The bond was really beginning to form.



Part Two
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The Wedding

Let there be spaces in your togetherness and let the winds of the heavens dance between you. Love one another but make not a bond of love: let it rather be a moving sea between the shores of your souls. Fill each other’s cup but drink not from one cup. Give one another of your bread but eat not from the same loaf. Sing and dance together and be joyous, but let each one of you be alone, even as the strings of a lute are alone though they quiver with the same music. Give your hearts, but not into each other’s keeping. For only the hand of Life can contain your hearts. And stand together, yet not too near together: for the pillars of the temple stand apart, and the oak tree and the cypress grow not in each other’s shadow. 

—Khalil Gibran, The Prophet

Life was moving forward and now, apart from his work, Nazir had one more purpose in life, Mahajabeena.

It became routine for Nazir to try and meet Mahajabeena whenever he was in Ashmuji. They discussed their pasts and the present, laughed at silly jokes and debated on different matters. Both of them had started to find solace in each other’s company. Although he was sure in his mind, Nazir was still scared to ask Mahajabeena the big question. He contemplated asking her many times but always left it for some other occasion.

Amidst all the new developments in his personal life and his duties as an the Ikhwani, Nazir was growing as a person. His discipline and devotion made him an irreplaceable part of the Ikhwan. The army was equally impressed with his work. Nazir too was happy with his job. The incentives from the Ikhwan were enough to sustain him and he even managed to save some funds. 

Every once in a while, he would go back to his native village to be with his family. Ammi and Abbu were now accustomed to the fact that he was an Ikhwani and was not going to leave. They discussed the scenario of the valley and the rumours that did the rounds. But now, with the passage of time, the discussions were less about the situation of the state and more about him settling down. 

‘Bring a zanaan for you, Nazir. Then I will not worry about you,’ his mother used to say. Nazir would just smile.

But Raja Begum was not the one to budge. She tried to convince him by giving him examples of the locals around them, ‘Look at Ayoob. He is your age and he is a bab now. You are not even married.’

‘Don’t worry Ammi,’ Nazir would grin in response, ‘I will get a very pretty and strong nosh for you… Just like you.’

His mother brushed him off with a ‘pagal’ and launched into a recitation of names, urging his son to pick one amongst them as his bride. He listened patiently and finally said, ‘They all are too good for me Ammi, I am sure that they will reject me once they hear my name.’ He winked at her.

‘Don’t act smart with me, I know you inside out. You keep on giving these silly excuses and avoid the wedding bells, but till when?’ his Ammi mock pinched his cheek lovingly.

Nazir knew Ammi’s desperation, but he also knew who he wanted to be with. ‘I must take the plunge now or I will be a loner for life,’ he thought. The very next day, Nazir wore his favourite black pathani, combed his hair well and took an off from duty for the day. For the first time in his life, he rehearsed what he wanted to say and then left for Ashmuji. He was a man on a mission.

As he reached Ashmuji Government High School, he saw his reflection one more time in the mirror at the barbershop. ‘It will be a yes,’ he reassured himself as he waited at the lemonade shop. The bell rang and in a few minutes, he saw Mahajabeena come out of the school premises with the others. She saw him waiting and waved; Nazir smiled at her.

Bidding goodbye to her friends, she came up to him and asked, ‘How long you have been waiting? I thought you were not supposed to visit today. Anyway, I’m glad that you are here, my results were announced today. I passed the matric!’ 

‘That is wonderful news,’ Nazir smiled nervously. ‘Let’s sit somewhere, it will be better.’

Mahajabeena could sense something was off, ‘What has happened to you today? You don’t seem like your normal self.’

Nazir took a deep breath as he looked at her and said, ‘Mahajabeena, I don’t know how to propose romantically. I will ask you one question; please answer with a yes or no. Will you marry me? If your answer were to be a yes, I would feel like I am the most fortunate man alive and I promise to take care of you till the day I die. Even if you do not feel the same way for me, I will readily accept your answer. But all I ask is that this must not create differences between us and you remain my friend for life.’ With bated breath, Nazir looked at her for an answer. Mahajabeena was shocked to hear his confession and sat still, watching him with wide eyes. 

Desperately trying to fill up the silence, he continued, ‘I will do everything I can to keep you happy, aap bas aish karna (you just enjoy yourself).’ 

She said nothing.

‘Don’t you wish to be with me, Mahajabeena?’ Her silence had started troubling Nazir.

Mahajabeena seemed a little uneasy as she said, ‘The time that I spend with you is beautiful Nazir, I cherish every moment of it. There has been no one and there can be no one who is as understanding as you. And it is not about me responding to your question, I believe that you already know my answer. But marriage is between two families. I need to tell my family first; they don’t know anything about you.’

Nazir assured her, ‘You don’t worry about that Mahajabeena, I myself will visit your family to ask for your hand, but tell me first in words—do you want to be with me for the rest of our lives? Whatever may come?’

‘Yes, come what may!’ Finally, a smile spread across Mahajabeena’s face. 

Although that day they parted with happiness in their hearts, the situation changed when Mahajabeena reached home. The news was a shock to her family. The idea was not acceptable, especially to her mother, Hajara Banu. 

‘He is not good enough for you,’ she said, ‘and with all the risks involved with him being in the Ikhwan, how can I let you jump into the blind well knowing that there is nothing but death ahead?’

Mahajabeena said firmly, ‘Ammi, he’s a good Muslim, and he cares about me. Just because he is an Ikhwani does not mean he is a bad person. I know that the things we hear about the Ikhwanis are not always pleasant. But this is different, he is different. Trust me; we will support our marriage on the pillars of love and trust.’

The discussion between mother and daughter continued. Mahajabeena’s father, Ghulam Mohammed Rather, who was observing and listening to everything silently up until now, finally said, ‘We have heard enough from you. Tomorrow, invite the boy home. We would like to meet him first and then make a decision.’

‘Oh, Abbu!’ Mahajabeena couldn’t control her happiness, ‘I will ask him to visit tomorrow.’

Contrary to the situation at Mahajabeena’s house, where things were still uncertain, Nazir’s family was beaming with excitement. His mother was overwhelmed with happiness, ‘Allah has answered my prayers, I am so happy. Ah! Such a beautiful name “Mahajabeena”. She will definitely bring happiness and stability to your life, Nazir.’ She hugged him.

Sonualla smiled and said, ‘So when are we meeting her and her family?’

‘Soon Abbu,’ Nazir said. He had decided not to tell them that he was yet to convince Mahajabeena’s family. On the following day, he left for Mahajabeena’s home. As he reached the gate of the house, a teenaged boy greeted him.

‘You must be Ajaz,’ Nazir said, ‘As-Salaam-Alaikum.’

‘Yes, I am Mahajabeena’s younger brother. Wa-Alaikum-Salaam; Abba is waiting for you inside,’ and he guided Nazir towards the room. Ghulam Mohammed Rather was sitting with his newspaper. As Nazir entered, he looked up and gave him a smile. ‘Son, please sit.’

In a few moments, Hajara Banu came and served kahwa to them, ‘So, tell me son, what brings you here?’ Ghulam Mohammed Rather asked.

Nazir cleared his throat and started speaking, ‘Uhm, sorry sir to have intruded into your space; I am Nazir Ahmad Wani, my home is in Cheki. I wish for your blessings and approval for marrying your daughter, Mahajabeena.’ As he completed his sentence, his hands became sweaty even though the weather was quite pleasant.

‘Have you told your parents?’ Mohammed Rather asked patiently.

‘Yes,’ Nazir replied.

‘And do they have any inhibitions?’

‘None. They are happy with my choice and wish for the wedding to happen as soon as possible.’

Ghulam Mohammed Rather waited for a minute and said, ‘Nazir, I will not mince my words, I do not find anything wrong with this union. In fact, I would be happy with this wedding. The only reason for my worry is the safety of my child. She is my only daughter and God knows how much I love her. You are an Ikhwani, and this reason is enough for people to dislike you, I do not need to tell you this. When you two become a family, that hate might extend to my daughter as well which may make things difficult for her.’

Nazir understood his worry and heard him out patiently and then said, ‘It is my promise to you that Mahajabeena will not have any trouble from the day she enters my home—I will make sure of that. I cannot control what people say or believe, but Mahajabeena will never have to suffer, it will always be me before her if we have to face challenges.’

‘She is still studying,’ Hajara Banu, who was unsure about this relation, said.

‘And she can continue that, without any disturbance,’ Nazir spoke in a firm yet reassuring tone.

‘And what about your family? Will they be okay with her studying after marriage?’ 

Nazir tried to assure her, ‘My family will be happy that their daughter-in-law will be completing her studies. They will always be supportive.’ Mahajabeena’s mother left the room without responding to his statement. An uncomfortable silence spread throughout the room with her departure as nobody knew what to say. Ghulam Mohammed Rather was well aware of Hajara Banu’s reservations about this relationship, but he felt that she should not have disrespected their guest.

After a few minutes, Mahajabeena’s mother entered the room with a plate of sweets in her hand.

‘Plan a day so that we can meet your parents. After all, only you two meeting and convincing us is not enough,’ she said with a kind smile. ‘We elders need to meet as well.’

This gesture was a sign of her approval. Everyone’s faces beamed with elation. Amidst all the celebration, Nazir saw Mahajabeena peeking through the curtain.They exchanged smiles. At last, they would be together!

The following days were busy for Nazir as well as both the families. While Nazir was busy with work, both their parents were busy with the preparations for the nikaah. Considering the situation of the valley at that time, they decided to have a small wedding at Mahajabeena’s house with limited people in attendance. But the rituals were religiously followed. Another reason for having a modest wedding was Nazir’s association with the Ikhwan. Nobody wanted to garner unnecessary attention from anti-social elements.

The wedding festivities were kicked off with the first major function, malmaenz (also called mayun and haldi). It started with Majhajabeena’s mas traavu (letting down the bride’s hair). The elderly women of her family oiled Mahajabeena’s hair and tied them in waankh. Then they were wrapped with colourful ribbons.

‘You are looking so pretty Maha,’ one of her cousins chuckled.

‘Wait for a year and you will look this pretty too,’ winked Mahajabeena.

The ladies started singing wedding songs while they untied the fancy braids one by one.

‘Be cheshay khaenemoej koer, du mei rukhsaet meine baijano… (I am a pampered daughter, please bid me farewell, my brother…)’

Tears started welling up in everyone’s eyes, but that was the destiny of every girl. Later that day, after everyone was done with the feast, Mahajabeena sat with her mother. They were overwhelmed. In a matter of two days, she would leave this house to settle down in another home. 

Hajara Banu placed Mahahjabeena’s head in her lap and started stroking her hair lovingly, ‘What have you thought about wearing?’

‘Ammi, although you suggested some dresses, I want to wear the blue sharara.’

‘I know you love the colour blue Maha, but the day is reserved for red outfits as they are a symbol of love and happiness. It is considered auspicious for a bride to wear a red sharara.’ 

‘I know Ammi, but the day is mine, isn’t it?’ Mahajabeena smiled, ‘And, I want to celebrate it in my favourite colour.’ 

Hajara Banu knew how adamant her daughter could be at times. ‘You will look lovely no matter what you wear and after all, who can argue with you my jigar?’ she embraced Mahajabeena lovingly and planted a kiss on her forehead, ‘Lagyi balai (May all your troubles be mine).’

The next day was manzeraat. Mehendi was applied on Mahajabeena’s hand. This mehendi was sent by Nazir’s family. Her cousin sketched beautiful floral designs on her hands and then wrote Nazir’s name in Arabic. ‘This is done for good omen,’ she told Mahajabeena.

After the mehendi was applied on Mahajabeena’s hands, other women of the house got some on their hands as well. This was the last night before the wedding; everyone was celebrating and singing till the wee hours.

On the day of the wedding, Mahajabeena woke up early, to do ghusl. It meant that she was to take a bath and cleanse herself for the new beginning. Once done with it, she wore her traditional Kashmiri tilla-work pheran and offered two rakath of namaz and recited verses from the holy Quran. 

Once she came out, everyone wished her. ‘Allah salamat rakhe mere noor ko (May Allah protect my love),’ her Ammi said. ‘Nikaah ka waqt hone wala hai (The time for the wedding is near), you should get ready.’

‘Ji Ammi.’

Mahajabeena wore her blue wedding dress embroidered with golden threads, with jewellery saved by her mother. Her religious beliefs were firm hence she never preferred to use any kind of make-up.

In Cheki village, Nazir was ready with his family to bring his bride home. He dressed modestly in a simple shirt and a pair of trousers, and came outside. 

‘Come Nazir, sit,’ Raja Begum said. She brought the flower sehra, which Nazir knew she had sat weaving till the early hours of dawn. As she tied it around his forehead, tears welled up in her eyes, ‘I am so happy today, Allah ne meri sun li (Allah has answered my prayers).’ There were around thirty to forty people in Nazir’s baarat. His friends from the Ikhwan, Amin, Zahoor and Mushtaq had come to attend the nikaah. 

When the baarat reached the flower clad gate of Mahajabeena’s home, Ghulam Mohammed Rather and Ajaz welcomed them. Women were escorted by Hajara Banu to another room. 

The Maulvi recited holy verses of the Quran and asked the free will of Mahajabeena and Nazir.

‘Qubool hai. Qubool hai. Qubool hai (I accept, I accept, I accept).’ As they both said these three times, good wishes started pouring in. They were officially husband and wife now; companions for life.

Mahajabeena’s mother was the first to bless her. There was a feast after the nikaah ceremony. Nazir and Mahajabeena were seated on a Kashmiri carpet where everyone could give their blessings to them.

In the evening, it was time for the rukhsaati. Usually, as per tradition, the bride would go to her in-laws’ house after departing from her maternal home. But due to the prevailing unrest and targeting of the Ikhwanis by insurgent groups, Nazir decided against it.

‘We will be going to the Ikhwan camp,’ he announced. It was unexpected and unacceptable to some. The bride must step into her in-laws’ house after bidaai.

‘But what about the rest of the rituals?’ Nazir’s mother seemed clearly displeased with his decision as well. 

Nazir didn’t want to take any chances. He held Raja Begum’s hand and tried to explain the situation to her, ‘Ammi, are these rituals bigger than our safety? Ikhwanis are being targeted everywhere and I don’t want any harm to be inflicted upon our family or Mahajabeena. God forbid, if anything happens, I will never be able to forgive myself.’

After this argument, there was not much room left for discussion. Everyone understood what he was saying and there was nothing more important than the safety of the newly-weds. The departure was an emotional one for both the families. As the jeep moved away from the home, Mahajabeena started sobbing uncontrollably. It seemed easy to move in with Nazir, but the pain of leaving her family behind was inexplicable.

She was thinking about having to leave her parents, the house that she grew up in and how the unconditional care, love and pampering she got all these years would disappear. Now she wouldn’t be able to see the two most important people in her life on a daily basis. This thought made her even sadder. There was the happiness of starting her life with Nazir, but there was the pain of leaving a part of herself behind.

 As they reached the Kulgam camp, Mahajabeena peeked out of the jeep; there were no flowers decorated for her welcome, but armed guards. There was no walima organised for guests, but a common kitchen where everyone would gather for langar. Their new life was beginning in the midst of caution and security. She got off the jeep in her wedding attire, feeling a little out of place in this setting. Nazir lifted the trunk in which she had brought her few belongings and guided her to their room, ‘Come Mahajabeena.’

She followed him silently. They climbed up to the first floor and entered a small room. Nazir switched on the bulb, and Mahajabeena saw her home—a cot was placed adjacent to the wall, a small almirah was located right in front and a chair. Nazir placed the trunk in a corner and looked at her, ‘Welcome to our home Maha.’ She looked around and then her gaze settled on him. He smiled, ‘This is not what you must have imagined your married life to be. But trust me, we will build our world together; bit by bit, hand in hand.’

Mahajabeena smiled at him and said, ‘Nazir, we will. But you know what? This is exactly what I had imagined, a life with you by my side.’
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War and Blessings

When we tackle obstacles, we find hidden reserves 
of courage and resilience we did not know we had. 
And it is only when we are faced with failure do we 
realise that these resources were always there within us. 
We only need to find them and move on with our lives.

—APJ Abdul Kalam,  
President of India (2002–2007)


As time passed, Mahajabeena slowly adjusted to life in an Ikhwan camp. She befriended a few women and her time was mostly spent with them, discussing their families and life. In Nazir’s absence, Mahajabeena had started her studies again. They spent time together whenever they could as Nazir routinely had to go out for operations, sometimes at odd hours. 

Even when they were together, Mahajabeena never complained to him. It was not difficult for Nazir, however, to understand that she felt lonely at times. A newly-wed wants her husband to be by her side at least for some part of the day. Moreover, at the camp she didn’t even have the support of her in-laws. She was used to living in a close-knit family and now, there was no one except him. 

Her world was confined to their one room in the Ikhwan camp. Sometimes, she used to sit beside the window and watch the quiet lanes forgetting that everything was not as calm as it seemed. When Nazir returned from his operations, they would discuss how she spent her time and how her studies were going. He would sit and plan with her things she would like to do when he could take some time off from work. 

It was the first week of May 1999 and summer was now slowly becoming harsh. The routine patrolling and operations were unhindered. Nazir was busy but he made sure that Mahajabeena got at least a day in the week with him. 

However, everything was not calm. The Army Headquarters in Delhi started receiving reports of unusual activity in the Kargil and Batalik sectors of Jammu and Kashmir. The reports suggested that there were intrusions into Indian territory by Pakistani terrorists. At that time, the army chief, General VP Malik, was on a visit to Poland and the Czech Republic. The staff was asked to keep him updated and to increase patrolling operations. Thereafter, every subsequent report he received about the scale of intrusion indicated a graver situation than the previous one. By the time the army chief returned to India, it had become quite clear that this was a much bigger intrusion than the usual cross-border terrorism warranted. He immediately took a trip to Jammu and Kashmir to get ground-level assessment.

By mid-May, it became evident that a vast number of intruders had made their way into Jammu and Kashmir and captured a sizeable part of Indian territory. Doubts increased when army commanders realised that jihadi outfits hardly ever captured territory. Moreover, the intensity of mortar and artillery fire suggested the involvement of the Pakistani army.

Initial estimates of the Indian Army and intelligence suggested that the composition of intruders was 70 per cent terrorists and 30 per cent Pakistani army. All this while, Pakistan’s director general of military operations (DGMO) kept reassuring his Indian counterpart that the ongoing incursions into Kargil had no involvement of the Pakistani army.

Even though tensions at the border had increased, the news about the seriousness of the situation had not reached everyone yet. One day, when Nazir came home early, he and Mahajabeena decided to take a stroll. As they were walking, Mahajabeena said hesitatingly, ‘I would like to go home for a few days; my exams are approaching and it will be easy for me to study from home.’
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Nazir holding his first-born son, Athar, at his wife Mahajabeena’s house

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir (extreme right) with his friends from the Ikhwan along with Company Commander Major Jamwal (centre right)

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's friend, Amin


‘Yes, studies are important, even I feel it would be better for you to prepare at home,’ Nazir said. He was convinced by the idea. ‘When do you wish to leave?’ he asked.

‘As soon as possible. Is tomorrow okay with you?’ she asked.

Nazir agreed, ‘Perfect. We shall leave early morning tomorrow.’ He thought this would be a good break for her.

The next day, they left camp around five in the morning. The distance was of about an hour. Nazir dropped Mahajabeena at her home and returned to the Ikhwan camp a little after noon. He had wanted to return a bit early but his mother-in-law didn’t allow him to leave without eating a meal with them. On entering the camp, he headed straight to his room to relax for a few hours. The summer had come into its full colour and it was scorching hot. As he was about to doze off, someone knocked on his door. It was Amin, who had a grim look on his face.

‘War is foreseeable between us and Pakistan.’ 

‘What are you saying?’ Nazir was surprised. ‘How do you know?’

‘The Pakistani army has invaded border areas near Kargil, it will be in the news in a few days.’

They rushed to the hall where everyone was discussing the same thing. This piece of information was a shock for everyone. Although rifts between the two countries were constant, a full-blown war was something that nobody had expected; more so after the two countries were armed with nuclear weapons for a year now.

But as expected, the terrorists had no role in this invasion—it was the sole work of the Pakistani army, the details of which were confirmed by the Indian Army’s internal assessment on 20 May 1999. General Malik briefed the Cabinet Committee on Security about it on 24 May. By 26 May, India had launched Operation Vijay with the Indian Air Force conducting the first air strikes against the intruders. India was now officially embroiled in a full-blown conflict; although both sides hesitated to call it a war. 

On 31 May, five days since the launch of Operation Vijay, Prime Minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee publicly said that it was a ‘war-like situation’ in Kargil. The violence escalated rapidly over the next ten days. The situation further worsened when the Pakistan Army returned mutilated bodies of six Indian soldiers on 10 June. 

International pressure was building on Pakistan when on 15 June, US President Bill Clinton urged Pakistani prime minister, Nawaz Sharif, to withdraw troops from Kargil. In this period, the armies fought the Battle of Tololing, which was seen as one of the major turning points of the war. By 29 June, the Indian Army had captured two important posts near Tiger Hill, a major feature of the Kargil landscape. By 4 July, it had captured Tiger Hill, which was seen as a de facto victory for India.

On 14 July, the Indian government declared Operation Vijay a success and by 26 July, all of the Pakistani forces had been evicted from Jammu and Kashmir.12

Now that peace had returned to the border, for the time being, Nazir had taken leave for a week to visit Mahajabeena. He had planned to celebrate Eid-e-Milad together on 26 June, but the situation at that time had not permitted Nazir to take leave from his duty. Now, after a month, he was going there to surprise Mahajabeena. He purchased a few gifts for her and left for Ashmuji with excitement in his heart. 

Mahajabeena feared about Nazir’s safety, but she knew that her being weak was not an option. Nazir could focus on his work because he had her, Mahajabeena, as his anchor. There were long periods during which they had to live apart, but Mahajabeena seldom displayed her worries when they got a chance to talk.

The surprise visit was worth it, for when Mahajabeena came outside and saw Nazir, she burst into a smile. She prepared his favourite fish and a Kashmiri rice dish. 

Nazir took the first piece and served it to Mahajabeena. ‘Eid Mubarak,’ he said.

She smiled as she ate, ‘Eid Mubarak.’

In December the same year, the upper reaches of the Himalayas, including Gulmarg and Pahalgam, received heavy snowfall. Cold wave conditions tightened their grip around Kashmir as the mercury levels dipped down further. It was officially Chillai-Kalan now.

Mahajabeena and Nazir were sitting beside the hot kangri. The evening was peaceful as Nazir was not scheduled to go to any operation, at least not for now. They were drinking Nazir’s favourite noon chai made by Mahajabeena. The time that they managed to spend together was simply blissful. 

While Nazir took a sip from his cup, he said, ‘Why don’t you join college?’

‘I will just need some time,’ Mahajabeena replied and asked, ‘How come you thought about college suddenly?’

Nazir looked at her and replied, ‘Your schooling will get over this year so the next step is to get enrolled in a college. You will have ease of commute; after all, the college is not too far from the camp. You are happy when you study. You can complete your studies and it will be a good utilisation of your time as well.’

Mahajabeena was smiling over his enthusiasm. Unaware, he continued, ‘Maha, I don’t want you to stop studying like I had to. I want you to do what you want to do without giving a second thought about what others will think.’

She took a deep breath and said, ‘I know that you want me to continue my studies, but I don’t think that in these conditions I will be able to manage it.’ Nazir couldn’t understand what Mahajabeena was trying to say to him. He thought that Mahajabeena was worried about having to balance her studies and her duties at home, about his food and other things. ‘I will ensure that you do, you need not worry,’ Nazir said, reassuringly.

Mahajabeena could not hold in the news any longer, and suddenly, her voice was trembling. She stopped Nazir from saying anything further, ‘You do not understand what I’m trying to say.’ It was true, he did not understand what was stopping Mahajabeena from pursuing her studies further. He looked at her face and saw her smiling.

‘Why are you smiling when I am discussing such an important matter with you?’ he became irritated. 

‘Because I am happy,’ Mahajabeena said.

Nazir grew even more confused. ‘And what is the reason? Tell me, I will be happier to know.’ 

‘Someone is about to come into our lives. Someone who will call you “Abbu”,’ she broke down, smiling and crying at the same time. Nazir couldn’t speak for a moment. He was overwhelmingly happy and kept wiping her tears while hugging her. 

‘You are okay no, Maha?’ was the first thing that came to his mind. Her health was a priority for him. Mahajabeena just nodded in response.

It was heavenly! In that moment, Nazir forgot everything. All he could see and think about was Mahajabeena and the bundle of joy that was to arrive in their lives. They thanked Allah in a small prayer and started building their dreams for the future. 

Since that day, Nazir was extra cautious of everything concerning Mahajabeena. He made sure that she did not do anything that might affect her health. From her diet to her work, he made sure everything was safe for her and the baby. 

But his work was still his priority. He used to go whenever duty called. Mahajabeena understood this, but since the onset of her pregnancy, her mood swings and physical changes were keeping her on her toes. In her final trimester of pregnancy, it was becoming difficult for her to manage everything alone. Nazir tried to pitch in whenever and in whatever way he could, but it was not enough to give Mahajabeena the complete rest that she required. While he knew this, there was nothing more he could do. 

One evening when they were taking a walk in the garden, Nazir said, ‘Mahajabeena, I am out for most of the time, and sometimes I am not even sure when I’ll return.’ She looked at Nazir, not knowing where this conversation was heading.

Nazir continued, ‘I want you and our baby to be safe, and I have given it much thought. You should go to Ashmuji to your home for the delivery. It will be good for you and our baby. You have Ammi there to take care of you.’ 

‘But I am doing fine, Nazir,’ Mahajabeena objected, ‘I am in good health and I am taking good care of myself. I don’t need to go anywhere.’

Nazir reasoned with her. ‘I know you are, but at this time, I wish for you to be in the best space possible and that space is nowhere else but your home. It will be good for your health and the baby’s,’ he smiled. After a bit of contemplation, Mahajabeena understood his concern and gave in to the idea. Nazir helped her pack her stuff and called Ajaz to come and accompany them back home. 

Ajaz arrived at the Ikhwan camp the very next day and all three of them left for Ashmuji. Mahajabeena’s parents had been waiting to see her for months. As she reached home, they welcomed her with joy. 

‘Ammi, now she is under your wings, take good care of her,’ Nazir said as he handed over Mahajabeena’s luggage to Ajaz.

Hajara Banu smiled and said, ‘Before your wife, she is my daughter Nazir. Beta, you do not worry and focus on your work. Be assured your wife and your baby will be safe.’ 

Nazir nodded, ‘I know and that is why this decision seemed best to me. Who better than a mother to take care of a mother-to-be?’ After Hajara Banu reassured him, Nazir took everyone’s leave. He turned towards Mahajabeena and said, ‘I will keep on visiting, do not worry about me. Just take care of yourself.’ She nodded and bid him goodbye.

Nazir reached Kulgam camp by early evening. He went to the mess and asked for tea. The weather was cold and he took his tea and went straight to the television room; only one or two people were sitting in the room.And the news flashed: ‘Hijack of Indian Airlines Flight 814’. 

Indian Airlines flight 814 was to fly from Tribhuvan International Airport in Kathmandu, Nepal to Indira Gandhi International Airport in Delhi, India on 24 December 1999. At 17:30 Indian Standard Time, the plane was hijacked by five armed men belonging to the Harkat-ul-Mujahideen, a Pakistan-based extremist group, upon entering the Indian airspace.

One of the five men ordered the captain to ‘fly west’, threatening to blow up the plane if he didn’t oblige, the other four men took positions throughout the cabin, holding 191 passengers and crew hostage at gunpoint.

Then, the hijackers forced the pilots to fly the plane to Lahore but agreed to land at Amritsar, India, due to insufficient fuel. The airplane was to be stormed by armed personnel of the Punjab Police, but they were directed against it by the Crisis Management Group in Delhi that feared causalities. Eventually, they agreed that a fuel tanker would be sent so that it will block the approach of the aircraft. As the tanker moved towards the plane, air traffic control radioed the driver to slow down; instead, the driver immediately stopped the tanker which led to the hijackers becoming suspicious. Without waiting for fuel or clearance from traffic control, they forced the pilots to take off immediately.

The airplane headed towards Lahore, Pakistan. At first, the Pakistani government denied the aircraft permission to land in Lahore or any other Pakistani airport and even switched off the runway lights at Lahore to keep the plane from landing within their territory. But IC 814 was running low on fuel, and the pilots decided to land without ATC clearance on what they thought was the runway. But it turned out to be a well-lit road and they aborted the landing just in time. Fearing the plane would crash-land, Pakistani authorities granted it permission to land in Lahore where the aircraft was refuelled and took-off shortly at 22:32 IST, heading towards the United Arab Emirates. As the relationship between India and Pakistan was not cordial, Pakistani officials rejected the pilot’s request to offload some passengers.

Upon landing in Dubai, twenty-seven of the hundred and seventy-six passengers were released, including the corpse of Rupan Katyal, who was stabbed multiple times by the hijackers and was the only fatality during the entire hijack. The UAE government refused to allow the Indian military to carry out a commando hijack specialist operation in Dubai.

The hijackers finally had the plane land in Kandahar, Afghanistan which was under the control of the Taliban, a Sunni Islamic fundamentalist group. Armed Taliban militants surrounded the aircraft upon landing, claiming it was an effort to dissuade the hijackers from harming or killing the hostages, but it is primarily suspected that it was an attempt to prevent an Indian military operation against the hijackers.

The Taliban militants took on the role of mediators between the hijackers and the Indian government to gain international recognition. The hijacking aimed to secure the release of terrorists who were held in prison in India—Mushtaq Ahmed Zargar, Ahmed Omar Saeed Sheikh and Maulana Masood Azhar.

The hijack hostage crisis lasted for seven days and ended on 31 December 1999 when the three militants were released. The fifteen-member crew and hundred and forty eight passengers who survived the hijack were flown back to India and the five hijackers left Afghanistan, taking with them a Taliban hostage to ensure their safe passage.

While the incident shook the whole country, it was significant in Kashmir’s situation as well. The terrorist attacks had increased and restlessness amongst the people was palpable. The next few months were high in tension and lead to terrorist infiltrations.

The hijack was also significant for Kashmir due to the release of Maulana Masood Azhar. Only a few months after his release, he announced the formation of Jaish-e-Mohammed, which later scripted many audacious terror strikes in India. It announced its arrival in the valley in 2000 by carrying out a suicide car bombing attack at the gate of Badami Bagh Cantonment in Srinagar, the headquarters of the army’s 15 Corps. In this attack, two army casualties were reported.13

Nazir was engrossed in his work more than ever. The days were passing by and he was happy that Mahajabeena was with her parents at this crucial time. He was getting less time these days; it would have been difficult for her to manage alone in this condition. At last, the day came when Nazir and Mahajabeena welcomed Athar in their lives. It was a beautiful day in August 2000. Nazir had driven for the whole day from the interiors of the forests to be with Mahajabeena in this pivotal time.

‘He looks just like you,’ Mahajabeena said.

‘Does he? I can’t tell.’ Nazir couldn’t hide his happiness and excitement. He held their newborn child in his arms and looked at his tiny face. He felt what could only be described as an all-encompassing, pure love. He couldn’t say anything.

Their life was complete, and they both knew that everything had changed forever in that instance. They knew that they would do anything for this tiny creature, even if it comes to giving up their own life.

‘I will name the child!’ Ajaz said with enthusiasm. 

Hajara Banu cut him short, ‘Let his Abbu decide the name, after all, unka haq banta hai (it is his right).’

‘No Ammi, more than me, you all have a right on the baby. Ajaz will name him,’ Nazir said. Mahajabeena looked at Nazir and felt a sense of pride. Ajaz happily named the boy Athar, which means the pious one.

‘Alhamdulillah (All praise is due to God alone),’ everyone rejoiced. There was a small feast arranged by both sets of parents at Mahajabeena’s home. 

‘You stay here for some time,’ Nazir told his wife, ‘Ammi will take good care of you and Athar. I will come to take you both after a few days.’ Mahajabeena agreed. She stayed at her mother’s place until Athar turned two months old. Then as per custom, Nazir came to take them home. 

‘Visit more often now, we will long to see our grandchild every moment,’ a teary-eyed Hajara Banu said. Mahajabeena hugged her and sat in the jeep. As they neared the Kulgam camp, rather than turning to the building where their room was located, Nazir took the jeep in another direction.

‘Where have you turned the jeep? Have you forgotten the way to our room?’ Mahajabeena chuckled.

‘I have some work, let me finish it. It won’t take much time and then we will go home,’ Nazir smiled. Soon they reached a house in the secured area of Kulgam camp. 

‘Isn’t this Dar’s house?’ Mahajabeena asked as she knew most of the people over there. Nazir didn’t say anything and moved out of the jeep. He took Mahajabeena’s luggage out of the jeep as well.

‘Come let’s go,’ he said as he helped her get out of the jeep with little Athar in her arms.

‘But why are you taking our luggage there?’ Mahajabeena was confused. ‘The door is locked Nazir, it seems that no one is home,’ she said. He said nothing. Unlocking the door, he took her inside the house. 

‘You have the key!’ she was surprised. As they stepped in, Nazir turned, took a fresh red rose out of his pocket and said, ‘Welcome to our home.’

‘Our home?’ Mahajabeena was stunned.

‘Yes,’ Nazir replied, ‘while you were away, I thought about it and shifting into our own home only seemed right. But it would have been difficult for us to build a new home from scratch. How would you manage food for every mason and worker? So, when Dar offered to sell his home, I immediately said yes,’ Nazir smiled. ‘I wanted this to be a surprise and hence didn’t discuss anything with you.’

Mahajabeena couldn’t have been happier. She was content with her room, but now they had their own safe place. The only thing that worried her was the absence of Nazir. She knew that now he would have to stay in the camp area more frequently as they were a little away from the main camp. 

Their life started in the new house. Sometimes Nazir used to be so involved in his duty that he would be on location for eight to nine days. Those were the times that Mahajabeena would feel lonely and worry about him. The thing that annoyed her the most was that other people used to return to their families once in a day, but Nazir did not return till the operation was over, whether it took one day or ten days. 

Mahajabeena understood this, but one day, when Nazir wasn’t home, she fell ill. Her body felt exceedingly weak. Athar was eight months old, and she didn’t even have the strength to hold him. That day she felt helpless, scared and angry. The entire night went by and Mahajabeena could barely change Athar’s nappy when he wet himself.

In the morning when Nazir returned, Mahajabeena couldn’t control her anger, ‘You should come home at night. Look, everyone returns home. What is the need to be so involved that you forget your family?’ She was furious.

‘Maha, this is my work. If I don’t do it, who else will? And you tell me, if we will slack, how will we bring peace to our homes?’ Nazir tried to explain things to her.

‘And what about this home of yours? Me and Athar? What if something happens to us?’ her eyes welled up. Nazir couldn’t stand this, ‘Don’t say this Maha, you know that you and Athar are my life, I can do anything for the two of you.’

Mahajabeena knew this. Nazir was caring and loving, more than she could have ever imagined. Men in their neighbourhood used to taunt him, ‘Why do you do household work? This is the work of the ladies. Be a man.’

To which he always replied, ‘What is there to be ashamed of? This is my house as well. She is my wife, my better half. She works year-round to take care of my family and me. Kya hua agar maine uska thoda hath bant dia to? Ghar me kaam karne me sharam nahi hai, na karne me hai. (What wrong have I done by helping her in household chores? There is nothing to be ashamed if you participate in household chores, but if you do not help your wife, then you should feel ashamed.)’

She remembered, one day when Athar was about to puke and Nazir was uneasy, Mahajabeena taunted him jokingly, ‘Abhi se ghabra rahe ho? Abhi to ye hai, phir mera hoga to kya karoge (You are scared by just this? What will you do when the second one comes)?’ And without thinking for a second, Nazir spread his hands in front of Athar. She was shocked by this gesture. This was just one incident of many through which Nazir had shown his devotion in unimaginable ways.

Mahajabeena calmed down a little, ‘I know Nazir that duty is paramount for you, but your home is your world as well.’ 

‘And my home will be secure. I will make sure that you and Athar do not have to face any trouble,’ Nazir reassured her. Such incidents and arguments were rare in the Wani household, but when they occurred, they brought restlessness about what the future held for them. 
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Responsibility and Transformations

One’s philosophy is not best expressed in words; 
it is expressed in the choices one makes...and the 
choices we make are ultimately our responsibility.

—Eleanor Roosevelt, 
First Lady of the United States (1933–1945)

One day, in the summer of 2001, Nazir and Amin were sitting with their co-Ikhwanis and some army people. An operation was being planned in the meeting. Colonel Cariappa was briefing them the core commander’s orders. ‘We are going to search the jungles near Deosar; we have a lead that terrorists might be hiding in there.’

Everyone was listening to the orders attentively. ‘Any questions?’ the colonel asked. Before anyone could say anything, Amin and Nazir looked at each other and said, ‘Sir, we will not go to Deosar.’ Everyone turned to them in disbelief. It was rare for someone to override orders. Yet, knowing them, the colonel kept his cool and asked, ‘And why is that?’

Amin answered with confidence, ‘Sir, we have a lead about the terrorists in Arow village, and we are sure about the authenticity of the information.’

Colonel Cariappa thought for a minute and responded, ‘You know that we cannot override orders from the top.’

‘We do understand that sir,’ they said in unison, ‘but this is important. If someone asks, you can tell our names and we are ready to take the blame.’ The colonel knew that these two would not budge. He briefed the matter to the brigadier. The information of the Ikhwanis was trusted, and hence, they got permission to go ahead.

Nazir and Amin, along with the others, went to Arow. As soon as they reached the outskirts, two terrorists were spotted and killed in the firing. Before they could grab the third one, he escaped. It was 2 am, and a search was launched to catch hold of him. Nazir and Amin moved towards huge trenches, which were made for excretion. They started searching them one by one. Time passed, and it was already morning now. Sunshine had started lighting up the place. As they were moving ahead, they noticed that just one of the trench areas was covered with a jute bag. It raised their suspicions. Nazir went ahead and removed the bag. 

And there he was in hiding—the third terrorist. With lightning speed, he moved and aimed his gun towards Nazir. But before he could fire, he dropped dead in the trench. Amin had shot him in the chest. ‘Successful end of this operation,’ Nazir patted his back.

On their return to the camp, the colonel lauded them for their efforts; if they hadn’t been so adamant, the terrorists would have escaped. Nazir and Amin went to Nazir’s home directly. Inside, they saw that Mahajabeena had prepared Nazir’s favourite fish.

‘You must be exhausted, go and freshen up and then I’ll serve the meal,’ she said.

Amin took a deep breath, ‘Sister! The food smells great! I’ll be out in no time.’

Nazir smiled at him. As Amin left, Mahajabeena asked him, ‘How was the operation today?’ Nazir told her about the successful operation.

‘That is good,’ Mahajabeena said as she placed the food on the table. She noticed, however, that he lacked his general enthusiasm. A little worried, she said, ‘You seem a little disturbed.’

‘It pains me to see such young boys who could have done better for their family and themselves being lured into this business of death.’ Nazir sighed.

Mahajabeena didn’t say anything; she knew how Nazir felt about youngsters being misguided. Before Nazir could continue any further, Amin’s voice came, ‘You are still here!’ He was displeased. ‘I am starving, either you go and take a bath or I will eat alone,’ he announced. Nazir hurried off, promising to be back in a couple of minutes. Once he was back, they all thanked Allah for his blessings. As they started eating their food, little Athar crawled his way into his Abbu’s lap. 

‘His khatna is planned for the next month. Ammi wants to celebrate it in Cheki.’ 

‘Yes, it’s a good idea, it has been a long time since we met everyone. It is a good reason to celebrate.’ Mahajabeena was happy that they would be in the village for some days.

Nazir took a few days off and they went to Cheki for the celebrations. It was decided that the family would have a modest party as finances were a little scarce. But all their close relatives were invited, and a dawat was served. Everyone at home was happy that at least they all were together after such a long time. 

‘You should come to the fields sometime,’ Sonualla said.
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Nazir wearing his army uniform

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir with his son, Athar

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir in his Kulgam home

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir with his son, Athar

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena


[image: ]

Nazir with his son, Athar

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena


[image: ]

Nazir with his son, Shahid

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir while on vacation with his family in Jammu

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena



 ‘Not this time Abbu, but one day I will.’ His father understood that now Nazir was busy with his own work, and making time would be difficult for him even if he wanted to. At lunchtime, Nazir received news of an ongoing encounter in Mohimpura. 

‘Amin must be there alone.’ He got worried, ‘I need to leave now.’ 

‘But you are on your leave, bhaijaan,’ his brother said. Nazir hugged him and said, ‘Another brother of mine is there alone. If anything happens to him, I won’t ever be able to forgive myself.’ He bid goodbye to everyone at home and left for Mohimpura.

The encounter had started early in the morning; the army’s 9 RR Alpha company had deployed three battalions to flush villages as part of a routine procedure. The process was being carried out smoothly until the unit saw a local girl run away suddenly. That raised their suspicion. She went to her home and quickly escorted two men out of the house. 

Till that time, the army didn’t know that those two men were terrorists. ‘Stop and show your identity cards,’ Amin shouted as the two men started running in a deep nala. ‘Stop, or else I’ll fire,’ he warned them. But the terrorists didn’t stop. Instead, they started firing. The counter-firing had started. Nazir reached the spot at this juncture and aided Amin.

Surprised to see him, Amin said, ‘You were on leave.’ 

‘How could I leave you?’ Nazir held Amin’s hand. They followed the terrorists into the mustard fields. It was challenging to locate the hiding point until they saw a bunch of crops moving against the wind. Nazir fired in that direction and heard a cry. One terrorist was down. After that, it was not difficult for them to capture the second terrorist and kill him.

On their way back, Nazir said, ‘How do they fall prey to this? Such young kids.’

‘We can only pray that someday all of this will stop,’ his friend replied.

It was 2002 and the state elections were just around the corner. However, this time, elections for the Jammu and Kashmir Assembly were going to be different in more ways than one. On one hand, it was feared that the elections would be more violent than the one in 1996 (where seventy-five candidates had been killed), and on the other hand, this time saw a record participation of the Ikhwanis as candidates. For the first time, about fifteen Ikhwanis were contesting elections from crucial constituencies in Baramulla, Kupwara, Srinagar, Budgam and Anantnag. This was an apparent conflict of interest between the ruling party, Jammu and Kashmir National Conference, and the counter-insurgents (Ikhwanis). Some candidates were fielded by the National Conference itself. For instance, in the Bandipora Assembly of Baramulla district, out of the five Ikhwani candidates, the ruling party backed Javed Hussain Shah (an Ikhwani previously associated with the Al-Jihad). He was appointed a Member of Legislative Council in 1997 and had replaced Mohammed Naz, who had won from Bandipora in the 1996 Assembly polls.

These clashes between the political parties and the Ikhwan had started way back in 1996, when a folk singer turned-militant-turned-politician, Kukka Parray, who founded the Ikhwan with a few others, contested elections and defeated the National Conference’s candidate from Sonwari in the Baramulla district. This time, with an increased number of candidates from the Ikhwan, the interest of political parties in continuing an association with the Ikhwan dwindled.

This topped with various complaints of extortion and atrocity paved a path for dissolving this counter-insurgent group. The uncertainty about the future of the Ikhwan was often the topic of discussion among the Ikhwanis. Those who were doing their duty with honesty and integrity were solely dependant on this for feeding their families. 

It was one such day in August 2003 when Nazir, Mushtaq, Zahoor and Amin were sitting at home and discussing the current situation. ‘Grapevine has it that the Ikhwan will be disbanded soon,’ Zahoor said.

‘After all that’s happened, this was expected. It’ll still be sad though,’ Mushtaq replied.

‘But what will our future hold?’ Nazir sounded worried. His responsibilities towards the family were now twofold. Mahajabeena was expecting another baby. He was happy that their family would be complete but he also understood that it meant increased responsibilities. 

Zahoor said, ‘I have heard that they will recruit some Ikhwanis in the army.’

‘That will be a relief. That way we will be able to continue our fight to secure the valley and be tension free about our families,’ said Mushtaq.

Amin, who sounded hesitant said, ‘This is definitely a good opportunity. But, I am older than you; my body is not the same as it was when I had joined the Ikhwan. The fitness required for an army life is not there in me any more. And even if it is, it will be drained out in a few years.’ 

‘So, you mean that if the opportunity comes, you will not take up an army job?’ asked Nazir.

‘Nahi yaara, now I won’t be able to manage,’ Amin smiled faintly.

‘So what will you do? Have you thought of anything?’

‘Well, I want a life filled with peace now. And with my qualifications, I think I will be happy teaching our future generations.’ 

‘It’s a wise decision Amin, Mahajabeena would be happy to know your plan,’ Nazir said. Mahajabeena was herself a teacher now in a school in Nazir’s native village. As they had done during her first pregnancy, she and Nazir decided that being at her mother’s home was best for her in this critical time. Thus, she had gone to her home for the second delivery. 

‘How is she doing? I hope all is well health-wise.’ 

‘Yes yes, all is good, sab Allah ki meherbani hai (all hail to Allah).’

The news arrived a few months after that evening. The counter-insurgent group, the Ikhwan, was dissolved by the government in December 2003. The Ikhwanis who were working with the army were offered jobs, provided they pass the fitness and medical tests. This was a good opportunity and Nazir decided to share his desire to join the army with Mahajabeena. 

One day when he was at home with her, he said, ‘I wish to continue the service for the army. Now that the Ikhwan has been disbanded, I wish to continue the job as an army man. I hope that you are fine with this.’

‘Fine,’ Mahajabeena said, ‘I couldn’t be happier.’ When Nazir was with the Ikhwan, she was always worried about his safety. Technically it was right that he worked for the army, but he was not from the military. Most of the time, he was with one or two fellow Ikhwanis to get leads. They were vulnerable as there was always a chance that they were at some terrorist’s gunpoint. She would be relieved about his safety if he joined the army now.

‘This is great news!’ she couldn’t hide her happiness. ‘I will go to the shrine of peer baba first thing in the morning.’

Nazir smiled at her enthusiasm. ‘I will come along. It is because of Allah that we are sailing smoothly through these times,’ he said.

 At the shrine the following morning, Mahajabeena prayed, ‘He is starting a new chapter in his life. Be with him to protect and guide him.’

Mahajabeena’s delivery was due any time in January 2004. Meanwhile, Nazir was recruited to the Indian Army’s Jammu and Kashmir Light Infantry’s (JAKLI) Territorial Army battalion 162. The training had started while on duty, and he, Mushtaq and Zahoor were together. Nazir was now a rifleman in 162 Infantry Battalion (TA) JAKLI/2 Rashtriya Rifles. 

Amin went to Srinagar, where after doing some work, he planned to move to Jammu. As he had told his friends, he was going to become a teacher. Their parting was bittersweet as it had hopes of a better future but also the pain of separation. It seemed like the end of an era to them.

‘Never be out of touch,’ Nazir hugged him. ‘Bohot yaad aaegi teri (I will miss you dearly),’ he said. Amin couldn’t control his tears, ‘I will miss you every moment Nazir. Bas ek awaz dena, mai aa jaunga (just call me once, and I will be here).’ They went their different paths, but never lost touch with each other. 

Nazir got busy with his army duties. He was a courageous person but the discipline and conduct of the army were helping him widen his horizons. The military had amplified his sense of right and wrong, of fairness and compassion, of purpose and of the need to act. These were the things that he already believed in and now he was surrounded by people who shared his common desire and set of core beliefs—they wanted to right the wrongs, defend those who were helpless, stand for something positive and good and be a part of something bigger than themselves. It gave him immense joy and satisfaction to be a part of the army.

Mahajabeena was in the last month of her pregnancy. She had taken maternity leave from school and was now waiting for her bundle of joy to arrive.

One day when Nazir had gone for an operation, Ajaz tried to connect with him. Even after trying repeatedly, he couldn’t get through. Later, when Nazir was back in an area that had network, he saw the message from Ajaz, ‘Call kariyega.’ 

‘It must be about Mahajabeena,’ Nazir thought. He knew that good news was due at any time now, and as much as Nazir had wanted to be with Mahajabeena at this crucial time, his duties had not allowed him to do so. He immediately called back, ‘Hello, As-Salaam-Alaikum Ajaz, sab khairiyat to hai na (everything is fine, right)?’ 

‘Wa-Alaikum-Salaam, Nazir, don’t worry all is good; I had called you when Mahajabeena was admitted to the hospital,’ Ajaz replied. ‘Mubarak ho! You have been blessed with a baby boy.’ 

‘Alhamdulillah,’ Nazir was relieved and happy, ‘I will leave for the hospital right now.’ It took him six hours to reach the hospital. He was sleep-deprived, exhausted with the encounter and tired of driving, but his eyes were beaming with joy.

Upon reaching the hospital, he went straight to the ward where Mahajabeena had been admitted. She was sleeping at that time, but Hajara Banu greeted him. ‘Mubarak Nazir! Eat this first,’ she offered him sweets.

He ate the homemade sweet and said, ‘Apko bhi, Ammi.’ He went near Mahajabeena and saw the little bundle of joy, sleeping peacefully next to her. He could not control his excitement. He kissed the little fingers, little toes and the sweet face; now their family was complete. 

‘Nazir you go home and take some rest,’ Hajara Banu said. But Nazir instead requested her to take some time off, ‘Ammi you go home, you have been here since last night. I will stay with Mahajabeena.’

‘But…’ Hajara Banu wanted to say something but stopped. She knew it would be futile to argue. ‘Okay, I will be back by noon.’ She took her empty water bottle and tiffin box and placed them into a cloth bag.

Nazir asked, ‘Ammi, where is Athar?’

‘Athar is at home. He was asking about you and Mahajabeena. When I return, I will bring him with me,’ she left with Ajaz.

Nazir sat beside Mahajabeena. She was still sleeping, exhausted yet content. ‘I am so in love with this woman,’ he thought to himself and thanked Allah for His blessings in the form of little Athar and now this new addition to the family. As his eyes closed, tears started rolling down. He had to see so much bloodshed daily that these moments felt like paradise to him. He wanted peace and this was the only place that he felt it. He was still lost in his thoughts when Mahajabeena opened her eyes, ‘You’re here.’ 

‘Of course, I am, congratulations!’ Nazir held her hand and planted a kiss on her forehead. She smiled a little and sat up with his help. She picked up the baby and placed him in Nazir’s arms. He was overwhelmed. 

 ‘Have you thought of any name for him?’ Mahajabeena asked her husband.

He smiled and said, ‘Let Ajaz only name him, this department has been transferred to him. He had named Athar, and I am sure he will find a beautiful name for this one too.’ They were still talking when little Athar came running and hugged Nazir from behind. Nazir cautiously placed the baby near Mahajabeena and then kissed Athar on his forehead.

‘I’ve missed you, Abbu,’ he said.

‘I’ve missed you too, my boy,’ Nazir picked him up and took him in his lap. ‘Did you meet your little brother?’ 

Athar’s eyes widened as he saw his baby brother, ‘He is so tiny.’ The way Athar said it, Nazir and Mahajabeena couldn’t control their laughter. Mahajabeena got discharged the next day. Everyone welcomed her home. They had decided to name the baby the same day. As Nazir had requested, Ajaz named the boy Shahid.

‘God bless Shahid,’ everyone said.

After a few months at her home, Mahajabeena had returned to their Kulgam house. Although the Ikhwan was no longer active, the area still came under a security zone. Athar and Shahid both kept her hands full with work all day. Nazir was also busy with his work, now more so as he was learning the ways of the army. Their time together was a rarity, yet Nazir never let Mahajabeena, Athar and Shahid be alone on Eid. He made sure that he managed to get leave near the time of the festival. However, this time, although he managed to get leave and be at home, they couldn’t go to Cheki. It was Shahid’s first Eid and everyone was hoping to see them.

‘Ammi is sad,’ Mahajabeena said, ‘I wish we could go home for Eid.’

‘I wish the same,’ Nazir sighed, ‘but duty calls are always the priority.’

Mahajabeena nodded. They had a modest celebration at their Kulgam home. With Zahoor, Mushtaq and their families around, the festival was a little less lonely.

Congress had won the national elections of 2004, and Dr Manmohan Singh had been sworn in as the prime minister. India had begun to pull some of its troops out of Kashmir in November, coinciding with the new prime minister’s first trip to the troubled region.

‘The process of pull-out will start,’ Colonel Anil Shorey, a New Delhi-based military officer, stated. ‘About 20,000 soldiers will be pulled out in a phased manner systematically.’ This was deemed as a positive sign, although the number of troops being pulled out was not high. Political commentator, Prem Shankar Jha, stated, ‘This is a moment of peace in the Kashmir Valley. I believe Dr Manmohan Singh will grasp the chance, tell the people he is ready to break from the past and share with them a roadmap for peace.’14 Although the most ardent of the separatists, the All Parties Hurriyat (Freedom) Conference, welcomed this gesture, an alliance of separatist groups called a strike across Kashmir to mark the prime minister’s visit. ‘The strike call was to convey the message that Kashmiris would not compromise their dignity in the face of atrocities by Indian forces,’ the group said in a statement.15

To avoid any unpleasant situation ahead of the prime minister’s visit, the request for leave by the army personnel were not sanctioned.

‘Do you think this visit will help the situation here?’ Mahajabeena asked Nazir. They usually discussed the situation of Kashmir at home.

‘I don’t know. Whatever the measures are, I just hope the unrest comes to an end.’

But the situation in the valley did not seem to improve after the visit and even the peace talks between India and Pakistan seemed to be futile. There was violence in the state’s summer capital, Srinagar, ahead of Prime Minister Singh’s arrival, with Indian soldiers killing two militants in a fierce gun battle. At least two suspected separatists lobbed grenades and fired at soldiers guarding offices less than a mile from the sports field where the prime minister was planning to address the public, the police said.

Both suspected militants were killed, and two soldiers and a civilian were wounded, officials said. Later, Al-Mansoorian, a Pakistan-based militant group, telephoned the Srinagar-based Current News Service to claim responsibility for the attack.16

This was the year when the company commander, Major Parmvir Singh Jamwal came to Kashmir. He had a whole platoon of around thirty recently-recruited Ikhwanis under him, including Nazir. The Ikhwani-turned-army men were still learning the ways and discipline of the army. In Major Jamwal’s words, ‘Nazir was the most disciplined and well-groomed of them all. That was my first interaction with him. He was a sensible and well-mannered man.’

The association that started in 2005 continued till Major Jamwal left the valley in December 2007. In 2005, Nazir met Hanif who was an aid to Major Jamwal. Hanif became Nazir’s dear friend in the coming days. So much so, that the friendship continued even after Hanif’s retirement from armed forces.

In November that year, the holy month of Ramadan was about to come to a close and Eid-ul-Fitr was awaited. Although they could not celebrate Shahid’s first Eid at their home in Cheki, Nazir and Mahajabeena had made sure that they celebrated the festival at home that year. The markets in the area were flooded with shoppers. ‘It is good that Ammi made all the arrangements beforehand. Otherwise, it would have been difficult at this time to manage.’ Mahajabeena added as she served tea to Nazir, ‘and she has sewn such beautiful dresses for Athar and Shahid.’ As he sipped the namkeen chai, Nazir remembered how they waited for Eid when they were young.

‘True, the festive spirit makes us forget all that is going on in Kashmir,’ Sonualla said as he arrived from the fields. ‘People are queuing up at bakeries, mutton and poultry shops, departmental stores, sweet shops, ready-made garment shops and shops selling toys, to buy every imaginable thing that can add to the festivities’

‘That is the way it should be,’ Sonualla agreed.

That night was chaand raat, the first sighting of the new moon. Everyone woke up early in the morning. Mahajabeena woke up Athar and Shahid and got them ready in their new clothes for prayers. After the prayers, the whole family gathered and greeted each other. The day followed, where they met relatives and had home-cooked biryani and received eidi from elders.

After spending a month with his family, Nazir and Mahajabeena returned to their Kulgam home with Athar and Shahid. As Nazir was helping Mahajabeena unpack and set the house, Hanif knocked on the door.

‘Eid Mubarak.’

‘Eid Mubarak, bhaijaan,’ Mahajabeena wished Hanif and offered him homemade sweets. Hanif accepted one and said, ‘This is fine Mahajabeena, but I will come tomorrow and have gosht, that will be Eid for me.’

‘Of course, bhaijaan, but you can come today as well.’

Hanif looked at Nazir, ‘That is what I came to tell you and take Nazir with me. We have to go for an operation right away.’ Mahajabeena said nothing, just smiled. She had understood and accepted their ways by now. ‘I will wait for you two at dinner tomorrow, Allah hafiz,’ she said to them as they walked away.

It was 28 December 2005. It had snowed the other night, heavily; the roads were covered with snow, almost as high as two and a half feet. The seven parties moved through the snow; they were deployed to search Matribug village. It took the whole night to set up parties in and around the location. By morning, the entire village was emptied.

‘Look at the amount of snow. Had my kid been here, he would have made a snowman out of these,’ Hanif remarked.

‘My kids do that every winter,’ Nazir replied. As the sun rose, its rays provided relief. They were ordered to take a small break and have breakfast before resuming work.

‘That is a relief,’ Zahoor said to Nazir as they drank hot tea. They resumed the search shortly after. 

‘I don’t think that they have militants hiding here,’ Mushtaq stated. ‘We have searched almost all the houses.’ 

‘But you never know until the last house is done,’ Nazir replied. Only a few houses remained in a row. Nazir and four men from 9RR 34 JAT unit went inside a house. 

‘Check the ground floor.’ 

‘It is all clear.’

‘Let us move to the first floor then.’ 

Nazir was the first to climb up and four others followed him. But when they had searched the ground floor, what they hadn’t noticed was that one militant was hiding behind the door. As the last soldier stepped on the stair, the terrorist hiding behind the ground floor door pulled him in. 

Nazir and the team suddenly realised this. ‘They have taken our man hostage!’ 

Some militants were also hiding beneath the balcony. As soon as the forces surrounded the area, the militants broke out, firing. 

‘We are stuck here,’ one of the party men said. Nazir and three other members of the party were still in the first-floor room with the door closed and no way out but a small window. While the other militants were on the ground, they had no way to escape.

‘What will we do now?’ It was already evening the sun was about to go down. Nazir looked out the window and assessed the situation.

‘I believe the party will start firing from another side now and divert the terrorists’ attention. We will escape then. I will help you all jump out of the window one by one and then I will jump myself.’ Everyone nodded in agreement. At the right moment, Nazir pulled himself out of the window to the balcony and helped the men get out one by one. He jumped last, holding on to his rifle.

Zahoor was on the other side. As soon as Nazir reached him, a shot was heard. But this was accompanied by a painful cry. The junior commissioned officer had been shot. They heard what they never wanted to hear on an operation—‘One casualty’. As the night proceeded, the tensions increased. The terrorists were still in the house with the hostage. 

‘They are not letting him go.’ 

All the persuasion didn’t help and terrorists killed the hostage soldier. The operation took five days but it ended with two casualties—the police officer and the hostage soldier. The terrorists fled in disguise as the villagers started rallying around and chanting slogans. 

The operation was not a success and Nazir regretted that. But he was happy that he could save those who were with him. As they reached their homes, the year had already changed.

‘I was so worried,’ Mahajabeena couldn’t control her tears. Nazir comforted her, ‘Everything is okay, Maha.’ Soon Athar and Shahid came into the room. 

‘Abbu, Ammi made gosht.’

‘Is that so?’

‘And your favourite fish curry,’ Athar added.

‘Then we should not keep the curry waiting,’ he grabbed both the boys in his arms and moved to the baithak. 

Mahajabeena wiped her tears and went to the kitchen. They all sat together to have the feast. ‘Mmm, the curry is yummy, Maha,’ Nazir savoured the taste. ‘Feels so good to eat food cooked by you.’ Mahajabeena smiled. How could she tell him that it gave her more pleasure watching them eat, watching them safe and secure? After they were done with the meal, Nazir said, ‘I have an announcement to make.’ 

‘How dramatic!’ his wife taunted.

Nazir smiled and said, ‘Dramatic. In fact, I will increase the drama in our house now.’ The trio sat clueless, not knowing where all this was headed.

He looked at them and broke the news, ‘Well, I have ordered a television. I wanted to say this earlier. This was supposed to be a surprise for the new year. But anyway, it is still January,’ he smiled. The children were overjoyed. They exclaimed, ecstatically, how they could all watch cartoon shows together. It was not that they had never watched television, they had—sometimes in the common area and sometimes with the neighbours. But having their own television set was something that the kids were excited about.

‘We will watch Tom and Jerry,’ Athar said to Nazir while they were helping Mahajabeena clean the kitchen. Nazir agreed, excited at the kids’ enthusiasm. They started discussing the cartoon shows which were the only thing Nazir liked to watch apart from the news. Later, Mahaabeena was putting Shahid to sleep. By the time Shahid slept, Nazir entered the room with Athar resting on his shoulder. Mahajabeena took Athar and laid him on his bed. 

‘They both are my world,’ Mahajabeena said as she planted kisses on their foreheads.

‘And you are mine,’ Nazir looked at her lovingly.

The television arrived the next day. Mahajabeena was not very keen on it, but seeing how excited the kids and Nazir were, she didn’t say anything. ‘There will be a fixed time for watching television,’ she told the trio.

‘Ji janab!’ all three saluted her. Mahajabeena smiled, these little things helped in keeping the home alive with happiness.
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Guiding Light

Do not praise your own faith exclusively 
so that you disbelieve all the rest.
 If you do this, you will miss much good. 
Nay, you will miss the whole truth of the matter.
 God, the Omniscient and the Omnipresent, 
cannot be confined to any one creed.
 For He says in the Quran, wheresoever ye turn, 
there is the face of Allah.
 Everybody praises what he knows.
 His God is his own creature, and in praising it, 
he praises himself.
 Which he would not do if he were just, 
for his dislike is based on ignorance.

—Ibn Arabi, 
Arab Andalusian Muslim scholar, poet and philosopher

In a bid to bring peace to the valley, efforts were made by the government. In March 2006, a bus route linking the Indian city of Amritsar to the Sikh pilgrimage site of Nankana Sahib in Pakistan (the birthplace of the first Sikh guru) was launched. Then, Prime Minister Manmohan Singh invited Pakistan to join his country in a ‘treaty of peace, security and friendship’ to end nearly six decades of tension between the nuclear-armed nations.

‘I am convinced we can move forward if all concerned are willing to accept the ground realities, if all concerned take a long view of history and our destiny,’ the prime minister said. Pakistan’s foreign ministry welcomed the overture. ‘Kashmir is the root of the tension in the region,’ foreign ministry spokeswoman, Tasnim Aslam, said, calling on India to take ‘bold and sincere steps to resolve the issue’.17

The prime minister also praised Pakistani president General Pervez Musharraf for taking ‘bold steps’ to curb terrorism but said more work needs to be done. Reciprocating the actions, President Musharraf demanded that all foreign militants leave Pakistan immediately or ‘be crushed’.18

Sadly, these statements did not deter the terrorists. Killings in the valley were still a routine. Security forces were on their toes to combat these. Two months after these statements were made, thirty-five Hindus were killed in two separate incidents in Kashmir in May 2006. The killings were believed to be the handiwork of Islamist militants, just days before a scheduled meeting between Prime Minister Singh and the Kashmiri separatists.

In one incident, shooters stormed a village in the Doda district, dragged Hindu villagers from their homes and shot twenty-two of them dead. In another, in the neighbouring Udhampur district, suspected militants kidnapped thirteen villagers from a remote mountain spot. Four of their bodies were found lying in the woods late on a Sunday, while the rest were discovered on Monday, the police said. Even though the stories of bloodshed in Kashmir were never-ending, these gruesome incidents were the deadliest instances of violence since peace talks had been initiated between both the countries more than two years ago.19 

These attacks were a concern for the Indian Armed Forces as well. Apart from being heinous crimes that needed to be punished, these attacks were worrisome because they could hamper Hindu-Muslim peace. This issue was a point of discussion as it could disrupt the peace talks between separatists and the prime minister.

Every household spoke about this. ‘How can these terrorists take the lives of innocents in the name of Allah? Had they read the Quran, they would have known the truth,’ Nazir sighed.

One soldier said, ‘These attacks are to fuel the fire burning in Kashmir. These people do not believe in any God, they believe in bloodshed.’ 

One day when they were going for patrol, Nazir took a packet of chocolate and placed it in his bag.

‘Is it for Shahid and Athar?’ Hanif asked, tying his shoes.

‘It is for the kids we’ll meet on our patrol. The people here don’t have a very high opinion of the armed forces. I carry chocolates whenever I go for routine patrols and give it to the kids on the way. I think it’ll help in erasing fear from their minds. When the family sees that the kids are happy, it will have a positive impact.’

‘Kitna sochta hai tu, yaar (You think about these things so much, my friend),’ Hanif smiled. Nazir handed over a packet to him and said, ‘Tu bhi soch (You start thinking too).’ Major Jamwal knew about Nazir’s actions and eventually whenever they went out for patrol, they inevitably started keeping packets of chocolate in the vehicle.

While Nazir was busy with his increasing responsibilities at work, at home, Mahajabeena was busy with the kids and her studies. She was pursuing a BA through correspondence. Athar was almost of age to be enrolled in school and Shahid was getting naughtier with every passing day. There were weeks when Nazir was not able to come home and during those times, Mahajabeena prayed for his wellbeing as she managed their home herself. When Nazir was home, however, it would be a complete riot for the kids. They would binge-watch Motu Patlu, Tom and Jerry and other cartoon shows together.

‘You are a grown-up, why do you behave like Athar and Shahid?’ Mahajabeena used to get irritated at times.

Nazir would say, ‘What does watching cartoons have to do with age? I love watching them. And now with kids, it’s more fun.’

They were having this light argument when their neighbour from Cheki arrived. 

‘Arey Hassan, please come inside, sab khairiyat (everything okay)? You didn’t inform me you would be coming,’ Nazir wondered what might have brought him there. Hassan sounded worried; he said he needed Nazir’s help.

‘But what happened, bhaijaan? Everything well at home?’ Mahajabeena asked. Hassan was struggling to choose his words and at last, he said, ‘Bhaijaan you have seen Abdul since birth.’

‘Your youngest brother, right,’ Nazir confirmed.

‘Yes, bhaijaan...he was outstanding in studies. As you know, I left my education and worked so that he could study and become someone. But he was acting strange a few weeks ago. He was not talking to us. It looked like he was trying to avoid us. And above everything, he had started missing classes.’ Mahajabeena and Nazir were listening patiently.

‘I tried to follow him at times and talked to his friends. Bhaijaan, they say that he wants to join the terrorists, he wants to fight,’ Hassan broke out in sobs. Nazir tried to console Hassan. He promised to come and speak to his brother.

Hassan held Nazir’s hands in his, ‘But promise me that you will not discuss this with anyone else.’

‘I won’t, you have my word,’ Nazir assured him, ‘Let’s leave right away.’ He told Mahajabeena that he would be back by evening and they left.

When they reached Cheki, Hassan took him directly to his home. They met Hassan’s father, who knew the reason for Nazir’s arrival. ‘Abdul is in the backyard,’ he said, gravely.

In the backyard, they saw Abdul busy on his phone. On hearing footsteps, he turned around and was shocked to find Nazir accompanying his brother. The two men greeted each other.

‘I’ll ask Ammi to prepare tea, it has been so long since you last came,’ Hassan left them alone and went inside the house.

Nazir continued, ‘So how are studies going, Abdul? Hassan tells me that you are very good at studies.’

Abdul waited for a moment to reply and then said in a stern voice, ‘I am thinking of not pursuing education any further, bhaijaan. Now I wish to learn about Allah and follow the path which will lead to peace in our homes.’

It was not difficult for Nazir to understand what Abdul meant. But he decided to put across his point without using the word ‘terrorist’. ‘That is good thinking. But why do you need to leave studies for it? You can serve our land better when you study and become something.’

Abdul had not expected Nazir to confront him in such a way. He was taken aback a little. Nazir continued, ‘The root word of Islam is salema which stands for peace, purity, submission and obedience. So, the spirit of Islam is the spirit of peace. The first verse of the Quran breathes the spirit of peace; it reads: “In the name of God, the Most Merciful, the Most Compassionate”. It describes reconciliation as the best policy and states that God abhors any disturbance of peace.’ Abdul didn’t say anything. He just listened.

‘So, I don’t think any path that asks for bloodshed or hurts your family is ever worth following. Even Allah will not approve of that.’

Abdul, being a little at ease with the discussion now, asked, ‘Bhaijaan, what you are saying is right, but don’t you think sometimes we need to take matters into our hands?’

Nazir nodded, ‘Yes we do, but we should always keep an eye on what is right. The path which focuses on the safety of others rather than instilling terror is the one that should always be chosen.’ Both remained silent for a moment. Abdul was scratching the wall as if thinking over what Nazir had just said.

Nazir looked at him and continued, ‘Education opens up a new world to you. So, my advice is don’t give up on something which will benefit you, your family and society in the long run just because you are disturbed now. Your brother has given up his dreams so that yours can flourish. Your Ammi and Abbu have their hopes attached to you. Don’t break their heart. And when the time comes, Allah will show you the right path, as he guided me. Trust Him more than yourself and everything will fall in place.’ Abdul nodded in agreement. For Nazir, this assurance was enough to feel that his efforts were worth it.

‘Tea is waiting, Ammi wants both of you to come inside,’ Hassan called.

‘Coming, bhaijaan,’ Abdul replied, going inside.

Hassan looked at Nazir with questioning eyes and Nazir signalled to him that he need not worry. 

It was almost dusk when Nazir reached home. Mahajabeena was waiting anxiously for him. ‘Is everything okay now? Has Abdul shunned the idea of violence? Will he continue his studies?’ she bombarded Nazir with questions as he sat.

‘So many questions! I think you were thinking about this whole incident more than any one of us.’

‘You haven’t answered me,’ Mahajabeena said, miffed.

‘Okay okay, don’t get upset,’ Nazir said. ‘Yes, all is fine now. Abdul needed a little guidance, that’s it. I am glad that Hassan sensed that something was wrong and took action in a timely manner.’

Mahajabeena nodded, relieved. Later that night when Athar and Shahid were asleep, she got up and came out only to find Nazir standing near the window.

‘Not sleepy?’ she asked. Nazir looked worried. He said he was just tired. She stood beside him. The moon was shining bright, everything was at a standstill; it felt surreal.

‘I hope our children always follow the right path... That they never deviate,’ Nazir said.

‘Amen,’ Mahajabeena said.

Over the next few months, Nazir began to get busier. Unlike in the past, at least four attacks had been made on tourists in Srinagar since April. The bombings of 11 July 2006 shocked everyone. The attacks took place within an hour of the departure of Prime Minister Manmohan Singh after the conclusion of a two-day round table conference. The first attack was made on a minibus which was carrying tourists from Bengal. An hour later, another grenade was thrown on a private car. To everyone’s increasing shock, there were two more grenade attacks at Lal Chowk in the next couple of hours—one at a van with tourists and another in a taxi stand. In total, eight persons, including six tourists, were killed and over forty others were injured in six grenade explosions that rocked the uptown areas from Dalgate to the Central Lal Chowk area.20

A massive hunt was launched to track down the militants responsible for the act. Everyone was alerted along the sensitive district areas. The army, in every field, was on their toes to prevent further outbreaks of violence. Nazir was now seen even lesser at home. There were days when Mahajabeena wouldn’t meet him, but he always remembered to call her before going on any operation. She knew that it was difficult for him to share his whereabouts due to security reasons but a call from him was enough to reassure her that he was safe.

‘We had decided on Thursday next week, for Shahid’s khatna, you remember right?’ Mahajabeena reminded him one day when they were talking on the phone. 

‘Of course, I do. You don’t worry, I’ll be there on time.’

Mahajabeena knew how Nazir overlooked everything when he was on duty and said, ‘Don’t forget Nazir, we have called everyone. There will be a lot of work, it will be difficult for me to handle all of that alone.’

‘Sab ho jaega, aap chinta mat karo (Everything will be fine, don’t you worry),’ said Nazir.

And yet, even after such assurances, Nazir wasn’t able to make it before the day of the khatna. Mahajabeena was fuming with anger as she raced against time to prepare things for the guests. The house was full. There were guests both from her parents’ side and her in-laws’ side. She did all the shopping, made all the arrangements for the guests’ stay and prepared food so that nothing was amiss in the function.

‘There are so many guests. All this work and sahib is missing as usual. Let him come, this time I will not spare him,’ she thought as she prepared the chicken. Looking up then, she saw him at the gate, standing and smiling, watching her mumbling furiously to herself. 

‘You don’t dare put your foot here, or you will face the full force of my wrath,’ Mahajabeena warned him.

Nazir kept his bag aside, held his ears and started doing sit-ups. Mahajabeena couldn’t remain angry for long. ‘Stop this and help me,’ she couldn’t help smiling a little. He came inside and took the spoon from her hand and said, ‘Aap is ghar ki mard ho (You are the man of this house). I knew you would handle everything.’ Little did Mahajabeena realise that what Nazir had said that day, was going to be true for much of her life.
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Sena Medal

Remember that the chance to do the 
great heroic work may or may not come.
If it does not come, then all that there can be to 
our credit is the faithful performance of every-day duty.
That is all that most of us throughout our lives 
have the chance to do, and it is enough, because it is the beginning, because it means most for the nation 
when done, and if the time for the showing of heroism 
does come you may guarantee that those who show it are most likely to be the people who have done their duty in average times as the occasion for doing the duty arose.

—Theodore Roosevelt, 
President of the United States (1901–1909)

The beginning of 2007 brought an operation which would lead to the first feather in Rifleman Nazir’s cap. It was early morning and Nazir and his mates were ready in their best attires. It was the day when the new brigadier was coming to join the posting. Major Parmvir Singh Jamwal and he were supposed to have lunch together. Upon his arrival, they sat down and started discussing the matters. It was around 11 am and they were about to have lunch when an input came from Major Jamwal’s source. Major Jamwal informed the brigadier and took permission to leave. 

As Major Jamwal started briefing the men, they asked him, ‘Sir do we have to go immediately or can we change?’ The men sounded disappointed, they were wearing their best outfits as no operation was expected that day.

‘Nothing doing,’ Major Jamwal said, ‘get the teams ready; we are going to leave in ten.’

Nazir started hurrying up everyone, ‘Jaldi karo, taiyaar ho jao (Quick, get ready).’ The men hastened to change and were ready to leave. They left for the Aahgam village. As the first team, headed by Major Jamwal, reached the location, which was a lone house on the outskirts of the village, they were informed that the terrorists had fled from there and were inside the village now. 

The village had at least ninety households. With other teams not present at that moment, Major Jamwal decided to cordon off the area with the help of the available team. So ten men surrounded the whole village with around two hundred metres distance between each man. It took around ten to fifteen minutes for other parties to reach the location. Had the four terrorists tried to break the cordon in the meantime, they would have faced just one army man at a given point.

But as the teams started to arrive, the cordoning was tightened. After interaction with civilians and the source, thirty houses were shortlisted. The search began. But before that, all men were asked to come out of the houses and line up. The women and children were allowed to remain inside their homes. However, experience had taught Major Jamwal that where there was a sign of violent activity, women and children were generally absent. 

It was 4 pm in the evening and the teams proceeded to search the houses one by one. At this point, Major Jamwal received a call.

‘Sahab, my son called. He is in the village that you are searching. He wants to surrender, please do not start the operation,’ the man on the other end of the line said. By that time, the teams had zeroed in on the house that was holding the militants. It was an old, tattered, triple-storied structure with a thatched roof. 
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Nazir’s sons, Shahid (left) and Athar (right) at Ashmuji

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir at his family home in Ashmuji

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir receiving the Sena Medal 

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir with his wife, Mahajabeena, and sons, Athar and Shahid at their Kulgam home

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir (centre sitting) at the army’s drug-free drive

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir with his sons, Athar (left) and Shahid (right) at their Kulgam home

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena


Major Jamwal was of the opinion that even if there was a bleak chance of saving a life, it had to be explored. ‘You need to come down here and talk to your son. We will wait, but you need to hurry,’ he assured the man over the telephone, who said he would be at the site in fifteen minutes.

However, one hour passed and there was no sign of the man arriving. They tried to call him again but it went unanswered. It was around 6 pm now and it was starting to get dark. Major Jamwal asked Nazir to get one civilian.

‘You go inside and ask them to surrender; convince them. Their lives will be saved,’ Major Jamwal told the civilian. However, this exercise was futile. 

‘They will not surrender,’ Nazir came and told the major. It was now time for action. 

They weighed their options. As a lot of time had been lost waiting, it was now almost dark. Entering the house could cause civilian and army casualties. After a bit of contemplation, Major Jamwal said, ‘We will not resort to house entry. Let us blow up the house.’

Nazir came forward and said, ‘Sir, we will come along.’

‘Who will be holding the IED (Improvised Explosion Device)?’ Major Jamwal asked.

The person armed with a weapon had the comfort of retaliation if there was firing. But the person who was holding IED could not fire back. Nazir volunteered immediately, ‘I will hold it, sir.’

Major Jamwal and his colleague started walking ahead of Nazir, firing to provide him cover. Two men were walking behind him and covering Nazir’s back. Once they were in the proximity of the house window, others took to hiding behind the tree and kept firing at the window to distract the terrorists. 

Nazir went ahead and quickly removed the mesh from the window and dropped the IED inside. They all retreated and the IED blasted. Half the house blew up and the team suspected the death of all four militants. However, a couple of rounds were fired from inside the remaining structure.

‘Some of them must have survived the blast. Let us cover from behind the house and blast another IED from there.’

They went to the rear of the house with Nazir holding the IED once again. The remaining part of the house was blown up in a few seconds. The thatched roof came crashing to the ground. The debris was huge and the army men started clearing it. Some civilians also came along.

As they were clearing the area, they saw a gap between the crashed roof and the floor. People started digging a hole to clear the area. As they steered ahead, the bodies of the four militants became visible.

Meanwhile, the brigadier came to the location to take account of the operation. He came inside along with Major Jamwal and took in the scene. They were discussing the details when a militant became conscious. He fired a bullet, but missed. Before he could do any more damage, Nazir immediately threw a grenade and the area was in shambles. The bodies of the four militants were recovered.

The precision of this time-bound operation impressed the seniors and the team was highly praised. Digital cameras had recently been launched. This operation became the first one to be video-recorded. It made the team quite famous amongst different units. When they returned to the base, it was past midnight. Nazir reached and called Mahajabeena, who was waiting to hear from him.

‘You should have gone to sleep,’ Nazir said as she picked up.

‘I wasn’t sleepy. Athar and Shahid were asking for you.’

‘I know it has been some time. I’ll be coming home this Sunday,’ Nazir assured her as he prepared the bed. Mahajabeena smiled, she knew that Sunday with kids was Nazir’s favourite day. They watched cartoons, played chess while Nazir cooked, and Mahajabeena was not allowed to help. 

‘Okay, but if you have some time, I would like to visit peer baba’s dargah too.’ 

‘We can go after lunch, will that be fine?’ Nazir asked.

She agreed and they both wished each other good night before retiring to bed. 

Schools were open after the winter vacations. Mahajabeena and the kids were busy again.

‘You won’t believe the news I am going to give you today,’ Nazir told Mahajabeena one day on call.

Mahajabeena was in school at that time. She could sense the joy in his voice, ‘Oh? Tell me, what is this news that is making you so happy?’

‘I will get my first Sena Medal this Independence Day!’ Mahajabeena couldn’t understand it at that time. She was unaware of the importance of that medal and asked, ‘What is that?’

Nazir just smiled and rather than feeling annoyed at her ignorance, he felt complete love towards her, ‘Takh chhuk myon jigur (I love you); it is an award that is given for bravery in army operations.’

‘Aha! That is such great news! Now I understand,’ she laughed.

Nazir said, ‘Okay, so when I come home today, I want to drink your noon chai and eat fried fish.’

‘I’ll keep it prepared, and I will tell the kids about the medal!’ Mahajabeena replied.

Nazir said immediately, ‘No no, I will tell them myself. I have to bring chocolates for them after all!’

The moment Nazir arrived home, it was all celebration. Even though Athar and Shahid did not understand the importance of the medal, they did understand that their father was getting a significant award. And more so because they were getting chocolates! While Nazir received the Sena Medal, the Shaurya Chakra was awarded to the company commander, Major Jamwal, for the same operation.

‘Having Major Jamwal in my unit is a matter of pride. A fine officer, I have no worries when he handles operations because I know he will do the job with finesse. It was by his sheer grit that he fought militants in Aahgam, killing four of them in a clean operation,’ said Colonel Ranjan Mahajan, commanding officer, 9RR.21

Later at the function, Colonel Jamwal said to Nazir, ‘You should have brought Mahajabeena along. She would have felt nice with all the VIP treatment.’

‘Is baar reh gaya (She couldn’t attend this time), but the next time I get an award, she will attend for sure,’ Nazir smiled.

It was the beginning of the winter of 2008 when India and Pakistan decided to allow traders across the Line of Control (LOC) in Kashmir. This decision was welcomed by the sound of drumbeats and loud cheers on both sides. The traders were permitted to transfer locally grown or manufactured items across the LOC in both directions.22

This decision was taken as a sign of the start of peace between the two countries. Nazir was hoping for the same, more so because of the hope in people’s hearts. While on patrol, he overheard one local, ‘I am not going to be able to sleep tonight. I will wait for the crack of dawn and the beginning of a new era in this valley’s trade.’

‘Inshaallah!’ the people resonated with him.

Being witness to many violent incidents, Nazir wondered if this step would go well with the militants. Many were thinking along the same lines. Hassan Askari, a Pakistani political activist stated, ‘I don’t think the establishment on either side is unhappy with the current situation. But the Islamic militants will oppose any “soft solution” because it will put them out of business.’23 But then, hope won this time and there were no difficulties in sustaining the trade route.

The following months became a routine for Nazir and his family. Elections were scheduled at the end of the year. It was just the beginning of winter, the weather was pleasant. Nazir had taken a month’s leave to be with his family. They had planned to go on a holiday, to take the children to various destinations.

‘We will go to Punjab and then Rajasthan.’

‘We can take a break in Delhi as well,’ Nazir said.

Mahajabeena nodded, ‘Of course and that way we can see Wagah too. I have longed to see that, and I am sure the kids will enjoy it as well.’

‘Sure, Wagah and then we will head to Jaipur, we will visit Udaipur also.’

‘Sounds like a good plan,’ Mahajabeena said. They had agreed on making the most of these vacations. After all, it was a luxury to be together for so many days, undisturbed. They started packing for the long journey. This was their first holiday trip together and both of them were excited about it. More so, because now the kids were also there.

As they got ready to board the train, Athar and Shahid went into the holiday mood with their caps and goggles. Mahajabeena smiled at them, but when Nazir came out, she burst into laughter. Nazir was dressed in his favourite black t-shirt along with a cap, just like his sons. Mahajabeena took out the camera and clicked their photo instantly.

‘You look good,’ she said as she saw Nazir, ‘all of you,’ and hugged the kids.

They stepped out in Delhi in the wee hours of the morning when it was a little cold and foggy.

‘See,’ Athar said, blowing out air from his mouth, watching his fog-like breath. Nazir followed suit. They laughed watching their condensed breath. Shahid was asleep in his mother’s arms. They reached the hotel and spent the following two days in the lanes of Chandni Chowk, visiting the Jama Masjid and other monuments. When they reached Wagah, after completing a kilometre of security checks and stops at snack stores, they got in and witnessed the vast majesty of the stadium.

‘How colourful it is!’ Athar and Shahid were excited.

‘Wait till you see the ceremony,’ Nazir took them in his arms.

And he was right. The ceremony began and soldiers thrust their legs upwards. They marched in neat formations and often kicked their legs as high up as they could, trying to display strength. The parade was grand and exhibited the discipline of the soldiers guarding the border.

‘This is giving me goosebumps, see,’ Mahajabeena said as she watched the parade. Nazir was equally excited and proud. When they were back in the hotel, Athar and Shahid kept imitating the soldiers.

‘You must try this suit,’ Nazir said when they were exploring the city the next day. Mahajabeena saw the suit which was hanging in the shop. It was blue.

‘It would look good on you,’ they went inside and purchased it.

‘I will wear it on Eid.’

‘No, you will wear it tonight when we step out for dinner,’ Nazir smiled. Mahajabeena argued that it wasn’t a special occasion. He held her hand and said, ‘Why wait for any occasion? We are together, so every day is an occasion.’

While Nazir and Mahajabeena were spending their days exploring different cities with their kids, in Kashmir, the Jammu and Kashmir People’s Democratic Party (PDP)-Congress government had crumbled and elections were due in December. Forces had been deployed in every nook and corner to ensure safe and fair elections. Nazir returned from his trip and was deployed for election duty immediately.

‘Take care of yourself,’ Mahajabeena said when Nazir was leaving for duty. 

‘Yes, I will, but you try to take rest. And call me if you have a fever again.’ Mahajabeena was not feeling well since her return from the vacation. Shahid and Athar were off to their Nani’s place. Nazir persuaded Mahajabeena to go too, but she refused. ‘And don’t prepare anything for dinner, I will come and make something.’ Mahajabeena smiled, wondering if he’d ever change. 

Although Muslim separatists had called for a poll boycott, voters turned up in large numbers and surprised everyone. The old PDP-Congress alliance was replaced by the National Conference-Congress alliance.24
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Invention and Rebellion

The invention is the most important product of 
man’s creative brain. The ultimate purpose is the 
complete mastery of mind over the material world, the 
harnessing of human nature to human needs. 

—Nikola Tesla, My Inventions

‘What is   cloning, Abba?’ Athar and Shahid came to Nazir and asked. He had just returned for the day and was taking off his shoes.

‘Let Abba freshen up, he has just come back. You can ask your questions later,’ Mahajabeena came with a glass of water.

‘But we want to know.’

‘And I will tell you,’ Nazir said. ‘Now tell me where you learned this word?’

‘Everybody at school was discussing this; in Srinagar, people have made a goat, like, with their hands!’25 They sounded excited as they told everything to Nazir.

‘With their hands? Like a clay goat?’ 

‘No Abba, a live goat, one that does “mehhhhhh”!’ Nazir could hardly control his laughter listening to his youngest son imitating a goat’s voice.

‘It is in the newspapers too,’ Mahajabeena said.

‘It has been done in Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology. They have cloned a pashmina goat and named her Noori.’ 

‘Well, it is a kind of photocopy that scientists have created,’ Nazir said.

‘So, they photocopy the goats? In the photocopy machine?’

‘Something like that, but a bit more complicated. You will learn it all when you grow up. And then teach me too, okay?’

‘Okay Abbu,’ Athar smiled. The kids went into the room to watch television.

‘Isn’t this against the laws of nature?’ Mahajabeena asked, ‘creating life artificially?’

Nazir said, ‘Maybe. Even I don’t understand these things, but look, how our Kashmir is progressing. When I read about it, I couldn’t believe that scientists in Srinagar have made this possible. For me, this holds importance because it reflects how times can change for the better.’

‘What you say is right. After all, education makes us move forward in time,’ Mahajabeena said.

‘Okay, so leave this thing aside, tell me how your day was. How is your school doing?’ Nazir asked.

‘It’s a little busy. They have just opened.’

‘Well, I was thinking that you should start learning how to drive a car. I will send someone from the market to teach you.’

Mahajabeena was amused, ‘But why do I need to learn? I won’t need to drive far away anyway.’

‘Look, the rains will start in some time. It’ll be easy for you to commute to school. And whether you actually do it or not, you must know how to drive. Might come in handy one day,’ Nazir explained.

‘But even after I learn, by the time we buy a car, my practise will have gone to waste,’ she argued.

‘And who said that there will be a long gap between your learning and our owning?’ Nazir smiled, ‘I have already booked a Maruti, I believe you will drive your car in a month.’ Mahajabeena was out of words. This man was always thinking of their future. She was in tears.

‘Now now, don’t you do this. Waterworks are not allowed,’ he took her hand in his. ‘Let’s go inside and check on those two naughty boys.’ He smiled and took her inside.

Driving lessons commenced in a few days. Nazir had hired a driving teacher and he used to teach her after school. Within a month, she was confident. One day, when Nazir came home, he brought her gift with him—their first car, a Maruti. As Mahajabeena sat inside, she noticed a rose-scented freshener hanging on the rearview mirror. The seat covers had a leather feel, just as she would have liked them to be. But most excited were Athar and Shahid to have their car. 

‘I will sit in the front seat!’ Athar said.

‘No, I will!’ Shahid fought.

Athar said in a stern voice, ‘I am elder to you so you must listen to what I say.’

‘Okay, don’t fight. While going to the shrine, Athar will sit in the front and while returning, Shahid will, okay?’

‘Okay!’ both agreed happily.

They went to the Sufi shrine of Dastageer Sahib in Srinagar which was revered by Hindus and Muslims alike. It was a long drive of about three to four hours and they returned soon after paying their respects.

A few days later, Kashmir was up in flames once again, but the reason this time was not political. The Dastageer Sahib shrine caught fire due to unknown reasons. Its wooden architecture was quickly destroyed. People came on the streets to mourn the loss and show their anger.26

‘This is unbelievable!’ Majhajabeena grieved. Nazir was equally upset but decided not to show his grief. He knew that it would make Mahajabeena weak. 

‘The chief minister has said that the shrine will be restored to the original structure; now don’t be in a bad mood, the inner structure is safe,’ Nazir said, but Mahajabeena only sighed.

Winter was knocking at the door once again, and so was the threat of terrorist infiltration in the valley. It was the first time that the Indian army chief had directly accused Pakistan, ‘With the eyeball-to-eyeball deployment along the LOC, it is well-nigh impossible for the terrorists to do any activity without the knowledge of the Pakistani army.’ The stress was building again, on the border as well as in the interiors of the valley. Nazir was now unable to come home every day. But he always shared his well-being via phone. It was enough for Mahajabeena.

On 13 December 2001, a few terrorists had attacked the Indian Parliament in New Delhi. Five gunmen snuck into the Parliament in a car with home ministry and Parliament labels. The shootout led to the death of a dozen police officers and a gardener. All five gunmen, one wearing a suicide vest, were killed. The ministers and MPs escaped unhurt. Extensive investigations revealed possible involvement of four accused—a Kashmiri militant named Afzal Guru, Shaukat Hussain Guru, his wife Afsan Guru and a lecturer at Delhi University named SAR Geelani, all members of Jaish-e-Mohammed, an Islamist terrorist group in Kashmir. Their primary motive was to ask for the separation of Kashmir from India. After some rigorous judicial proceedings, SAR Geelani and Afsan Guru were acquitted of all charges by the Delhi High Court in 2003. Shaukat and Afzal were given the death sentence. In 2005, the Supreme Court commuted Shaukat’s sentence from death to ten-year imprisonment while it upheld the death sentence of Afzal Guru. Following the rejection of a mercy petition by the president of India, he was executed on 9 February 2013. His body was buried within the precincts of Delhi’s Tihar Jail.27

This fueled a massive outrage in Kashmir. There was a call for a mass shutdown; protestors rallied in every main area. Forces were deployed to maintain peace, but the outrage resulted in the deaths of a few and left many injured. 

‘This seems never-ending,’ Mahajabeena said while reading the newspaper. Nazir was on duty and her mother was here to help.

‘May Allah bring peace to our land.’ 

There was a complete shutdown due to curfew, so Athar and Shahid were also at home. Shahid was now in the fourth standard and Athar in the eighth. They were studying quietly in the other room. Although they lived in the secured sector, they were well aware of the situation, especially Athar. He was a teenager now, and Mahajabeena was extra cautious to make sure that he did not take the wrong path. Nazir had strictly told him that if he was ever sighted with the boys who pelted stones, he would never be welcome at their home again. 

Mahajabeena understood his concern, but she was aware of the rebellious nature of kids at this age and always tried to reason logically. ‘You both are our pillars, do not break away, else we will crumble. There are many people who will say otherwise, but the importance of peace is always more than bloodshed. The stone-pelting, the juloos—these have done no good to anyone. Your father and I will never forgive you if you ever take part in such activities,’ she told them once. ‘Tvahi chaa phikiri taraan (Do you understand)?’ she asked.

‘Never, Ammi, trust me,’ Athar said.

With the changing year, Colonel Jamwal returned to the valley again; this time as the commanding officer of 9RR. As soon as he joined the command, he called for Nazir and Mushtaq. Nazir was serving in his core unit, Territorial Army, JAKLI. He was as overwhelmed to see Colonel Jamwal as was the colonel.

‘Welcome to the team again, Nazir,’ he said with a smile.
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The Flood

Goldbrown upon the sated flood
The rockvine clusters lift and sway;
Vast wings above the lambent waters brood 
Of sullen day.
A waste of waters ruthlessly
Sways and uplifts its weedy mane
Where brooding day stares down upon the sea
In dull disdain.
Uplift and sway, O golden vine,
Your clustered fruits to love’s full flood,
Lambent and vast and ruthless as is thine
Incertitude!

—James Joyce, ‘Flood’

It was September 2014 and monsoon had just come to an end. The last spell of rain was on. This rain, however, was going to bring the most devastating natural disaster that Jammu and Kashmir had witnessed in decades. The downpour that had started on 2 September continued for more than a week; by the third day, the river Jhelum, in Srinagar, was reported to be flowing at 22.40 feet that was 4.40 feet above the danger mark; many areas in the summer capital of the state had been submerged. It was flowing at 33 feet at Sangam in Anantnag district, which was 12 feet above the danger mark, officials said.28

Nazir called home to find out if everything was alright, ‘Abbu, are you fine? Is everyone home?’

Sonualla said, ‘We all are fine, Nazir. You know the situation is more-than-worse in most parts of the city and we’re lucky that the water has not reached us.’ Nazir felt a sense of relief. His father said it was their turn now to help other Kashmiris who were in distress and he agreed.

Calling Mahajabeena, he said, ‘I might not come home today Maha, maybe not tomorrow as well, you don’t worry. I will keep you informed.’

‘Nazir the situation is bad. Don’t worry about the kids and me. We will be fine. But do keep me informed whenever you get time.’ 

It had been two days since it was raining and now the river Veshaw in Kulgam was flowing above the danger mark as well. The northern bank of the river housed Kulgam’s civil administration and the villages in the district were located on the southern bank. With the bridge being washed away, the connection between the two areas was disrupted. Although civil authorities were trying to carry out a rescue operation, there wasn’t much success due to the lack of connectivity. 

The situation was grim and civil authorities were in constant touch with Colonel Jamwal, who decided to help people out with his team. The water was rising every minute, and they started patrolling the area. The people were still hopeful that the rain spell would end soon and the situation would return to normal again. They were not anticipating a natural disaster. When the floodwaters rose suddenly in an area, some Gujars along with their livestock got stuck on a small island in the middle of the continuously-rising Veshaw River.

Colonel Jamwal and his team reached the location in time. They brought in rubber rafts and sailed in as many people as they could. ‘You need to relocate. The water is rising and it seems that the rain won’t be stopping any time soon,’ Nazir told the people.
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Nazir (centre standing) during the army flood relief work

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s friend, Hanif
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Nazir (right) during the army flood relief work

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s friend, Hanif




The men looked at each other and replied, ‘We are going to stay to safeguard our sheep. We have seen such rains. We’ll be fine.’ They were still not convinced that water may rise to a dangerous level after which it would become difficult to rescue them.

Nazir and the others tried to persuade them but all went in vain. After much convincing, at last, they agreed to send the women and children to a safer place with the army.

As the teams went about rescuing people, Colonel Jamwal checked AccuWeather. It displayed heavy rains for at least the entirety of the coming week. This raised an alarm. If the Veshaw River bandh was to be breached by the rising waters, it could lead to incomprehensible damage to life and resources. The colonel decided to recce the bandh to access the situation. As they toured the area, they saw a few locals standing there. They were also trying to assess the situation. What the team could gather by patrolling indicated that the bandh could possibly be breached in two to three places. Colonel Jamwal shared his contact number with the locals there and asked them to be careful and connect with him immediately if the bandh was breached. 

A day passed and there was no sign of the rains stopping. The next day, the team received multiple calls, ‘The bandh has been breached, sir. Water is entering the villages.’

The teams immediately left for the rescue. The extremely danger-prone villages near the breaches were Aarigatnoo that housed around three hundred and fifty families and Kelam Gund which was home to about a hundred and fifty families. Colonel Jamwal divided the teams. He took one team to Aarigatnoo and instructed the company commander to take another team to Kelam Gund. As the team reached Aarigatnoo, Colonel Jamwal told Nazir to make announcements through the Masjid’s speaker and inform the public about the looming disaster.

Nazir immediately went and announced, ‘The water is rising every minute, we urge you to evacuate your houses and leave for safer locations. Once the bandh is completely breached and Veshaw’s waters gush in with full force into the village, it will be tough to rescue everyone. This is for your safety.’ 

Nobody came out.

The announcement was repeated. Still, there wasn’t any sign of people heading out.

When the third announcement was a waste too, Nazir said to Colonel Jamwal, ‘Sir, aise baat nai banegi (this will not work). We will have to order rather than put out a request. Otherwise, these people will lose their lives.’ Colonel Jamwal agreed.

Nazir announced the final time, ‘This is the last and final request to you all. If you do not come out of your houses now, you will be pushed out forcefully.’

This did the trick. People moved out of their houses, even though they were visibly unhappy about it. Some even started ranting towards the forces, ‘We have lived here, we will die here. Who are you to order us?’

‘You cannot tell us what we should do.’ 

‘We know our place and weather, why should we still have to leave?’

The team did not pay heed and forced them to evacuate. Women and children moved to their respective relatives’ places in nearby villages. A few men refused to leave. Similar was the case in Kelam Gund.

After completing the evacuation, both teams returned to the base camp. They were dripping wet and were starving, not having eaten since noon. Everyone remained tensed. It was 11 pm in the night and when everyone was about to take some rest, the phones started ringing. 

‘Sir, save us! The water is coming with full force, we are unable to do anything.’ The people were panicking. 

There was a major breach in the dam.

The teams immediately left for the villages again. On arrival, they found that a few people had returned to their homes after the previous evacuation, and now they were trapped amidst the gushing Veshaw waters. Rescue operations were started at various locations. Meanwhile, a team saw that the causeway at Asajipora Kamad Sadoora Road was immersed, the water running about 0.9 metres above the surface. 

‘We need to illuminate the causeway. There may be people stuck inside,’ Colonel Jamwal ordered. The lights on the Casspirs (Ambush Protected Vehicle) were turned towards the causeway where they saw people were stuck, with water almost reaching their chin. Few had their cattle on the shoulders and others were with children.

Nazir and other members of the team immediately went into the waters with ropes to bring the people outside. They tied the ropes and led people one by one to a safe location. The operation took about three hours and by the time everyone was safely rescued from under the causeway, it was 1:30 am. The teams moved to the villages and started evacuating people. They convinced people and helped them get out of the villages. By early morning, almost everyone was relocated to a safe location. 

With the ongoing heavy rains, the Veshaw River changed its course, and by morning the causeway was washed off without any sign. More than 250 houses had either washed away or reduced to rubble, and water was flowing right through the village. The rescue operation was still not over. The river was changing its direction recurrently and the teams were kept on their toes—constantly patrolling the area and rescuing people. Army men were continuously dripping wet for a stretch of eighteen to sometimes forty-eight hours and yet the thought of the plight of people kept them going.

The extent of destruction left people devastated. The place that once held their homes, were now submerged under water. They were left with nothing. Even the livestock were swept away. The paddy lands were washed away as well, and huge pebbles were floating around. The army set up two makeshift camps for the dislocated people. Around one hundred and fifty families took shelter in them. Ration and other necessities were reaching them through the Jawahar tunnel. The troops helped to take the relief ration to the villages which had seen the worst of the floods.

Since the entire focus of press coverage remained restricted to Srinagar and Anantnag, the high scale rescue operations in these two villages remained largely unnoticed for almost a week. But as the water receded and a few reporters happened to visit the area, light was shed on the excellent work of the army. There were no casualties in these villages despite the extent of the disaster. The local press lauded their efforts. The Hurriyat tried to shift the focus from army to itself by stating that the local people had helped themselves. The local people, in return, soon countered their lies. 

‘Had not the army issued a warning and evacuated the village, many lives would have been lost. It is only a miracle that despite large-scale devastation, not a single life was lost here. Fauj nahi hoti to hum mar jaate (If not for the army, we’d have died). They put in their best during the rescue and relief operation,’ villagers said. All around, this disaster left everyone terrified. Hundreds of people were left stranded. The army was deployed in many areas for rescue operations. Life took many weeks to return to normal. 

Later, as Mahajabeena and Nazir were discussing the operation, Nazir said, ‘You know Maha, this operation gave us a good opportunity to work with local volunteers under one roof towards a bigger cause. There still may be a few differences, a few grievances but the experience can be deemed positive by simply improving on the mistakes that we made and carrying on with the learning to the daily happenings in our lives. The experience of being a part of this relief operation was like a practical exercise that explained the importance of patience to me, that introduced me to some secular-minded people who showed me the impact of unity.’

Mahajabeena nodded, ‘May Allah be with everyone.’

It had been a few weeks since the disaster and life was trying to go back to normal in the valley. The army men who did all they could—be it helping people to cross the river with ropes or carrying the weak on their shoulders—were appreciated and thanked by the deputy commissioner of Kulgam. He also presented awards for exemplary assistance in flood relief works to Colonel Jamwal’s team. 

‘It was my duty towards fellow Indians, fellow Kashmiris,’ the colonel said while accepting the certificate. Mahajabeena was a proud wife as she saw Nazir standing there. ‘He is a true Indian, an ardent follower of Islam’s preachings,’ she thought. She couldn’t thank Allah enough for all the blessings.

As time passed, Athar and Shahid became more mature. Athar was home for his vacations and one day when they were playing in the courtyard, Nazir and Mahajabeena sat discussing their children.

‘I am glad that they are interested in studies and sports equally.’

‘Yes, but they still wait for your chess lessons,’ Mahajabeena smiled.

‘That is good. I wish I could teach them more often. Chess sharpens the mind.’ The kids were busy playing by themselves. Occasionally they would look over towards their parents. Nazir spoke suddenly, ‘I want Athar to become an engineer.’

‘And Shahid?’

‘To become a doctor; to serve the needy and the poor,’ Nazir replied.

Mahajabeena heard him and asked, ‘But don’t you wish for them to join the army like you?’

Nazir smiled, ‘The army gave me everything that I have today. It gave me a reason, a path, an aim. But the only thing I wish more is time to be with you all. I want these two to have that luxury, to be there with family whenever they want.’

‘But that can be the case in any job, don’t you think?’

‘Might be, but I can only talk about the one which I know inside out, right?’ he looked at Mahajabeena.

‘Abbu, come play with us!’ Athar came running to Nazir.

‘Yes Abbu, otherwise bhaijaan is cheating and not letting me win,’ complained Shahid, as he pulled on Nazir’s t-shirt.

Nazir came to his rescue, ‘So, we will be a team and defeat Athar bhaijaan, okay?’ Athar protested this solution, calling it unfair. 

‘No, it won’t be, Ammi will be on your team,’ his father assuaged, smiling at his wife. Mahajabeena tried to shoot daggers from her eyes at Nazir but soon gave up and joined Athar’s team.

‘You don’t worry Athar, we are going to defeat Abbu, and how!’ They played till night came upon them. That whole evening etched itself in Mahajabeena’s memories, forever imprinted in her heart. 

It was Athar’s secondary examination in 2015. Nazir was mostly on duty and Mahajabeena thought that it would be better for her to stay at Srinagar so that she could monitor his studies. But Athar refused to let her do so.

‘Ammi, I will study, you don’t have to be on leave just for that. I will not waste my time.’ Athar was a sincere boy so Mahajabeena agreed, but every week she continued to visit him. They sat and discussed their day and studies. It was important for Athar to pass with good grades. It was more important to learn so that he could complete his father’s dream of becoming an engineer. 

Whenever Nazir was at home, they took time out to watch cartoons together; they still loved it. Some time was also set apart for chess. While Shahid was always engaged in one mischief or another, Athar had grown calmer.

As Nazir sat with Colonel Jamwal one day, he seemed a little worried. The colonel asked him what the matter was. Before Nazir could answer, Hanif smiled and said, ‘Sir, he had loaned a person some money. Now he is not returning it even after several reminders. This is what’s bothering him.’

‘Sir, let us threaten him a little, he will return my money,’ Nazir suggested instantly.

Colonel Jamwal smiled and said, ‘Why Nazir? Don’t threaten anyone. You gave him money, he will return it. Pursue him a little. Hanif will help,’ he patted Nazir’s back and left. A few days later, amidst some discussion, Hanif told Colonel Jamwal that Nazir had lent more money to the same person.

‘Why? That day you were so worried and now you have given him more money?’ Colonel Jamwal asked.

Nazir grinned and said, ‘Sir, he needed the money more than I did. He will return it after some time.’

‘He will never change,’ Colonel Jamwal smiled ‘always ready to help others.’

On 29 October 2015, Colonel Jamwal visited the Wissu Company to see their drills. It was around 4 pm when he received a tip from police about Abu Qasim. 

Abu Qasim, alias Abdul Rahman, had a cash reward of ₹20 lakh on his head and had been active in the valley since 2009. He was the commander of Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) in the whole valley. The LeT is an infamous Pakistan-based militant group formed in 1990 that primarily fought and continues to fight against India’s control over Jammu and Kashmir.

The National Investigation Agency (NIA) was also looking for Qasim after a captured Pakistani militant, Naveed Ahmad, told the interrogators that he (Qasim) had tasked him and another Pakistani militant to carry out the attack at Udhampur on 5 August 2015. Apart from masterminding the Udhampur attack in August, that left two BSF personnel dead and twelve others injured, he was also part of the LeT squad which carried out the 2013 fidayeen attack at Hyderpora in which twelve army men were killed and sixteen were injured. Two years ago, on his direction, LeT cadres killed Dr S Jalaludin, the former Director of Sher-i-Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences, Soura, along with his personal security officer.29

On 7 October, after killing Jammu and Kashmir Police Sub-inspector Altaf Dar, a top counter-insurgency officer who was chasing him and his associates, Qasim managed to give the police and the army the slip and reach his hideout in south Kashmir.

Unlike in the past, where Abu Qasim had managed to slip out of cordons, this time Colonel Jamwal decided to apply different tactics. The 9RR troops, which were designated to cordon the Khandipura village, remained at their posts (their movements were being tracked by informers of LeT). Instead, Colonel Jamwal decided to take limited number of select troops out of the area and then induct them into the target area through the neighbouring battalion’s area. 

‘This time we are not going to take any chances. Ditch the army vehicles,’ Colonel Jamwal ordered.

The highway was lined with trucks carrying fruits. They took two civil vehicles and men hid beneath the surface of the fruits. In the front, two army men dressed in pherans sat with the driver. Three such vehicles reached Khandipura village and surrounded it from three sides. Colonel Jamwal was about to reach the location when he called and ordered a cordon. 

It was around 6 pm. Floodlights were brought in to ensure adequate light was given to the entirety of the cordoned-off area. Along with this, they deployed vehicles with headlights turned on. By this time, teams from 9RR reached the location. Nazir was on leave at that time but when he received information about the operation, he joined the 9RR team at the location.

Colonel Jamwal was not surprised to see him. Over the years, Nazir had displayed this kind of dedication each time they were on duty. 

‘You were supposed to be on leave to spend time with your family,’ he said.

Nazir simply said, ‘Duty is paramount, Sahib,’ and started helping to set up the cordon. 

Over the next eight hours, nothing moved. The troops sat tight and the village was lifeless. It was icy cold. Nazir and Colonel Jamwal were taking rounds to ensure the men remained alert. At around 1:45 am, as they were talking, Colonel Jamwal along with Colonel Akhil (who was supposed to take the charge from Colonel Jamwal in the following few months) went thirty to forty metres behind the cordon line. It was at that moment that they heard rounds of firing and a grenade blast.

‘Abu Qasim is trying to breach the cordon,’ Colonel Jamwal said as they rushed in the direction of the blast. At the location, a body was lying two metres ahead of the soldier. The area was little dark; Nazir threw light on the lying body—he had a weapon. 

‘It’s Abu Qasim,’ Nazir shouted.

The news spread across the valley with the dawn of the new day. The team received accolades from everyone. The army chief, Lt. Gen. Deependra Singh Hooda himself called Colonel Jamwal and congratulated him on this big win. He eventually visited the battalion and congratulated everyone.

It was the beginning of the year 2016 and Nazir had now been promoted from a rifleman to a lance naik. The good news was accompanied by anther—Nazir had purchased a house in Jammu, for Mahajabeena. 

‘What was the need?’ Mahajabeena was happy but worried about the expense.

‘Of course, there was a need! Now we will go to Jammu in the winters. That house will be our winter capital,’ he chuckled. Mahajabeena couldn’t help but smile at his statement, ‘Ji huzoor (Yes, my lord)!’ She asked when they would be going to the new house.

‘Well, we can go next week, if you want to. Winter vacations are about to start so Athar, Shahid and you will not have to take leave. I can ask for a couple of days’ leave so we can all go there,’ Nazir suggested.

They all went to Jammu in February. The house was located in a vast field. There were similar houses nearby, but most of the place was covered with crops and vegetation. It was a secured area.

‘This is so peaceful,’ Mahajabeena said. She loved the location of their new home.

Nazir held her hand, ‘I am glad that you liked it.’ They were taking a stroll around the neighbourhood later that day when Mahajabeena recognised someone. 

‘Hello, listen!’ she called him. The man turned to her.

 ‘Yes, sorry to bother you, but did you by any chance live in Ashmuji?’ Mahajabeena asked hesitantly. The man’s face appeared familiar to her.

The man was taken aback a little, ‘Ah, yes, but it has been some time since we left that place.’ They all knew what the man was referring to. In 1990, Kashmiri Pandits had to flee from Kashmir under threat from terrorists. 

Mahajabeena was sure of the man’s identity, ‘That is what I thought,’ she said, ‘I am Mahajabeena.’ She turned towards Nazir and explained, ‘Nazir, their family lived near our home in Ashmuji. The Bhat family.’

 Maharaj Bhat’s eyes lit up, ‘Yes, now I remember! Teuh chiv varai (How are you)?’ 

‘Ahansa, shukriya (Fine, thank you),’ Mahajabeena replied.

‘Please come to our house, my family would love to meet you,’ Maharaj Bhat said. ‘After all, we are from the same village; you are my sister,’ he invited them warmly. 

‘We will surely come tomorrow morning. Unfortunately, we have some work at home now,’ Nazir said. 

‘My house is third in the first lane,’ Maharaj Bhat informed them, ‘you can call me if you have any issue.’ He even exchanged numbers with Nazir. Mahajabeena and Nazir bid him goodbye and returned to their new home. Athar and Shahid were tired and went quickly to sleep. 

‘They have not had dinner,’ Mahajabeena said.

‘It’s okay, let them sleep,’ Nazir said. He covered them with a dohar and turned the lights dim. After that, they came out to the porch. 

‘It is so difficult to leave the place where you were born and settle elsewhere,’ Mahajabeena sighed. She was still thinking about Maharaj Bhat.

Nazir agreed, ‘That is true; they have made houses here, but their heart lies in their hometown.’ 

They sat on the porch. The moon was shining bright and everything seemed still. The grass moved a little with the intermittent breeze. They preferred to say nothing. Although they were very young in 1990, they still had faint memories of that night, and meeting Maharaj Bhat brought all those memories back. The next day, they all got ready to visit Maharaj Bhat. 

‘Namaskar,’ they were greeted by Maharaj Bhat’s elder son at the door. 

Once everyone had greeted one another, Maharaj Bhat walked in and told Nazir, ‘You kept your promise, come let us sit. I will serve you the best noon chai.’ 

 ‘Jan gav (It is good),’ Nazir said as he took the first sip. 

They chatted as morning turned to noon. The conversations were mostly about family, home and kids. As Nazir and Mahajabeena were about to leave, Nazir said to Maharaj Bhat, ‘Bhai, come home.’ 

‘Of course, I will. How long you are planning to stay here?’ Maharaj Bhat asked.

‘No, I am talking about Kashmir. Come and settle there once again. I will take care of everything. You will be safe,’ Nazir said.

The man smiled a little, trying to hide his pain, ‘You said this Nazir and that is enough for me. Although I cannot come now, I promise you, I will come home someday. And if not, my ashes will come for sure.’ A tear trickled down his cheek. 

Nazir hugged him. That was all he could do.

Once they returned to Kulgam, they got busy with their daily lives. The political scenario was still unstable after the demise of the then chief minister, Mufti Mohammad Sayeed. The chief minister’s post was still vacant and the transition of power was awaited. As the days passed, it seemed increasingly difficult for the two parties to come together again with the PDP setting some conditions like the initiation of the confidence-building measures by the centre. The wait ended on 4 April when Mehbooba Mufti Sayeed was sworn in as the first woman chief minister of Jammu and Kashmir.30

This was a welcome decision. ‘See, now state and home both have woman rulers,’ Nazir said while watching the news.

‘What do you mean?’ Mahajabeena asked

‘Kashmir has a woman chief minister and you are already the chief of this house,’ Nazir chuckled. 

‘All you can do is talk big!’ Mahajabeena smiled. 

The first few months of 2016 passed in peace but the biggest turmoil in Kashmir was around the corner. Hizbul Mujahideen’s commander, Burhan Wani, the architect of the social-media-driven psychological warfare in Kashmir, was killed along with two other militants in an encounter in Anantnag district on 8 July 2016. He carried a reward of ₹10 lakh on his head and was tracked down in the Tral forest after a tip-off. Two other militants accompanied him. The operation ended with the killing of all three militants.31

When the news broke, it led to the eruption of protests in parts of the valley but what started as a selective outbreak, soon engulfed the whole valley. There were mass protests, shutdowns and curfews. Life came to a halt in Kashmir. Schools were shut down and markets were closed for months.

It was on one such day during the curfew when Nazir called Ajaz, who had also joined the army, ‘I am going to get Major sahib’s family out of Srinagar, are you coming with me?’

Ajaz was amused at his statement, ‘Nazir, are you mad? Have you lost your mind? In this condition, you are risking your life and expect me to come along? I will not come. And bhai, I suggest you also don’t step out.’ 

‘You are no army man, Ajaz,’ Nazir scolded him. He disconnected the phone and left for the destination.

In the evening, Nazir went with two other men and safely dropped the family to the airport. While returning, he got stuck at Badami Bagh. The situation was volatile at Pantha Chowk. Nazir and his companions had to cross the area, which seemed difficult as they were in an army vehicle. The public was agitated and it was difficult for them to keep calm around army vehicles and uniforms.

Nazir called Ajaz and asked him to come and pick them up. It was around 11:30 pm at night when Ajaz came. 

‘What is in the bag?’ he asked Nazir.

‘Uniforms,’ Nazir replied. Nazir had changed into civilian clothes and kept his uniform safely in the bag.

‘The people will not let you go unharmed if they see your uniform,’ Ajaz said, ‘you will have to get rid of it. Burn it so that nobody sees it.’

Nazir’s face turned rigid, ‘Ajaz, you know me. Whatever may be the consequences, I will not burn my uniform. It is the pride of my nation.’ Ajaz tried to argue with him, pointing out the volatility of the people.

 ‘So be it. I will protect my uniform even with my life if required,’ Nazir remained adamant. Ajaz knew that Nazir would not budge from his decision. They left and returned home safely the next morning. 

Colonel Parmvir Singh Jamwal departed from Kashmir at the end of 2016. Colonel Akhil Mendhe replaced him. Till then, Colonel Akhil had also observed Nazir’s devotion towards his duty and so Nazir continued to be in the new Colonel’s QRT as well.
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Second Sena Medal (BAR), 2017

The limitation of riots, moral questions aside, is that they cannot win and their participants know it. Hence, rioting is not revolutionary but reactionary because it invites defeat. It involves an emotional catharsis, but it must be followed by a sense of futility.

—Martin Luther King Jr, 
Civil Rights Movement Leader and Spokesperson (1955–1968)

It was an early July evening in 2017 and Nazir had just returned from his duty when he received a call from home regarding Mahajabeena. She was down with fever for three days and now it had shot up. With weakness gripping her whole body, she was unable to move.

Nazir took permission from Colonel Akhil Mendhe and immediately left for home. Mahajabeena’s condition was not getting better and Nazir decided to get her admitted to the district hospital in Kulgam. With him constantly being in the hospital, he couldn’t take the risk of leaving Athar and Shahid alone at home. 

‘You go to your grandmother’s home with uncle,’ he sent them both with Ajaz. Mahajabeena was stable but had still not recovered. It was around 10 pm at night and Nazir was with Mahajabeena in the hospital when Colonel Akhil entered the ward. Nazir was out of words when he saw him. The colonel was returning from an operation when he had decided to visit the hospital and check on Mahajabeena’s recovery.

‘Sir, aap meri biwi ko dekhne haspatal tak aae (you came all the way to the hospital to check on my wife)?’ Nazir broke down. He was touched by this gesture and he told everyone later, ‘CO sahib meri biwi ko dekhne haspatal aae the (CO sir had come all the way to the hospital to check on my wife).’

It was little past 11 pm on 13 November 2017 when information was received that four to five militants were hiding in the Qazigund area. There had been information about three villages but no input till that moment about the name of the village. Colonel Mendhe decided to start flushing the villages. 

A joint team of the army, the police, and the CRPF decided to cordon off the village. The parties moved, it was a cold winter night on 13 November. A crescent moon was shining bright and there was no sign of a cloud in the sky. Finally, they knew that it was a village called Kund where militants were hiding.32

‘Please get out of the house. This is for your own safety.’

‘Kindly cooperate,’ the soldiers said as they began searching the houses. 

At around 4 am in the morning, the militants broke the cordon and ran towards the forest area. ‘We might lose them if they go deep into the jungle, follow them,’ Colonel Mendhe ordered. The parties divided themselves and followed the militants’ trails. 

Colonel Mendhe, Nazir and two other soldiers were chasing the militants in the foothills of the mountain alongside a naala. Suddenly Nazir saw a silhouette of a man hiding in between the cliffs. Without wasting another second, he pushed Colonel Mendhe and the others to the ground and fired a shot in that direction. It turned out to be a militant in hiding. Without even thinking about himself, Nazir had saved the Colonel’s life.
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Nazir during Holi celebrations at his unit

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir while on patrolling duty

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's wife, Mahajabeena
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Nazir at his unit

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena


[image: ]

Nazir (right) with his friend, Hanif (left) during his Delhi vacation

Source: Personal collection of Nazir's friend, Hanif




As Nazir ran ahead, he saw bullet marks in the naala that connected the village and the fields. ‘This trail is fresh, at least one person must be trying to escape through this route,’ he thought and jumped into the naala. As he moved forward, following the trail of bullet marks, he became surer of the presence of a militant. And there he was, Muzamil Ahmad Dar, the LeT’s district commander. 

There was no one else nearby and it became a one-on-one fight. Muzamil lunged forward, quickly sprinting towards Nazir and took out his gun to shoot him. Nazir promptly retaliated with a kick, pushing his weapon aside. Muzamil then tried to reach for his rifle while Nazir weighed him down to the ground. He quickly used his knee and pressed on the militant’s stomach. Muzamil was panting but he dashed forward and moved towards the rifle; Nazir moved in a flash and grabbed the gun. Without wasting a minute, he fired the shot. Blood splattered everywhere as the bullet pierced Muzamil’s head. 

‘I wish you had never taken this route,’ Nazir said as he laid him down. Muzamil’s head dropped. The fight was lost for him. As Nazir went back to the village carrying the body, everyone took a breath of relief. 

‘I am so glad that you are safe,’ Mushtaq hugged him.

Nazir smiled, ‘Allah hai na saath (Allah is with me).’

When they returned, everybody was praising Nazir. 

‘You did it again,’ Colonel Mendhe lauded him.

Nazir called Mahajabeena when the operation got over, but on hearing her depressed voice he got worried. ‘I will come home tomorrow, you don’t sound okay,’ he said. 

As soon as he stepped inside his house, Mahajabeena hugged him and started crying. 

‘What happened suddenly?’ Nazir tried to console her. He made her sit, wiped her tears and offered her a glass of water, which she refused.

‘You will have to drink, come on, take one sip,’ he insisted.

She reluctantly drank the water, trying to control her sobs. Nazir knew that she must have been thinking about the encounter all day long. She was usually calm and collected, but sometimes it was difficult for her to pretend to be strong. 

‘I am fine, and I am with you,’ he reassured her, but she just nodded.

‘Okay, tell me now, where are Athar and Shahid?’ 

‘They have gone to Athar’s friend’s house.’

‘Okay, then you get ready. I will take you to Aharbal,’ Nazir said, ‘I am going in to change and you do too.’ Mahajabeena protested. It would take at least two hours to reach there.

 ‘So what? Get ready, I will call Athar and inform him of our plan.’

They dressed up. It was just like the times they used to meet before the wedding. Nazir helped her sit in the jeep and then drove to the Aharbal waterfall. He stopped midway to get some snacks packed. ‘Are we going for a picnic like school kids?’ Mahajabeena laughed.

Nazir was glad to see all her tension fading away, ‘Yes classmate, we are,’ he chuckled.

Once they reached the Aharbal waterfall, they started feeling more at peace. The weather was extremely pleasant with a slight chill in the air. The sun was shining bright. They parked the jeep and walked towards the waterfall. The sound of water gushing over and falling from a height could already be heard. The snow-clad Pir Panjal mountains surrounded the area. There were only a few people apart from Nazir and Mahajabeena. 

‘Come,’ Nazir held Mahajabeena’s hand and took her near the railing surrounding the waterfall. The area was covered with pine and fir trees, adding to the picturesque location.

‘This is so pretty! Do you remember how we used to come here in our first year of marriage?’ she asked. Nazir only held her hand tighter in response. They sat on the grass nearby and took out the snacks. There was another family at some distance; husband, wife and their two daughters. 

‘I love daughters,’ Nazir said, ‘they just fill the house with so much positivity and warmth.’ Mahajabeena knew how much Nazir wanted a daughter. He had no sister and always longed for that affection. 

‘You know, Mahajabeena, I want us to adopt a girl once I retire. We will settle and raise her with all our love.’ 

Mahajabeena smiled, ‘And what about the two kids we already have? Would they like your attention to be divided?’

‘Oho, don’t worry about that. I will manage them,’ he winked.

‘Well, we’ll see about that,’ Mahajabeena answered, ‘but now, we have to send Shahid to Kota next year so that he can start his coaching for the medical entrance exam.’ 

‘Of course, and after his senior secondary exams this year, Athar will start his journey towards engineering.’ Nazir smiled, ‘All of our dreams are coming true.’ Both of them were weaving happy stories about their future that afternoon, unaware of what destiny had in store for them.

It was the beginning of 2018. It was a very important year for the Wani household. Athar was going to appear for his senior secondary exams later in November and they had planned to take Shahid to Kota for medical coaching. Nazir was also going through a shift as he was transferred within battalions early this year. Their house in Jammu was now completely ready; Nazir had made sure that Mahajabeena did not have to bother with that. 

Mahajabeena was working in the kitchen when she heard the engine sound of a car starting. She came running outside and saw Shahid trying to start the car.

‘Get down at once!’ she shouted at Shahid, fuming with anger.

Shahid got scared. It was rare that he saw his mother so angry. ‘Have you gone mad? You’re not even old enough to drive it!’

‘I was just trying a little, Ammi,’ Shahid fumbled.

‘You don’t understand what harm you can do to yourself by “trying” to ride a car when you don’t know a single thing about it! Get inside the house right now.’

But, Shahid did try again and drove the car one more time, only to bump it into a pole. He suffered minor injuries, but Mahajabeena had come to a decision. The following day, when Nazir returned, Mahajabeena told him to get rid of the car. ‘I cannot be around him every time. And we can buy a car later. But if anything happens to him, I will not be able to forgive myself.’

That evening, Nazir sat with Shahid and explained to him his mother’s worry and made his son promise that he would never do anything that could cause his Ammi pain.

‘And now that you will be going to another city away from home in a few months, you have to promise me that you will be more responsible towards your well-being and the well-being of others.’ Shahid agreed, obediently. ‘Your Ammi and I love you a lot. If any harm comes to you—even if it’s a small one—we will not be able to survive Shahid.’

‘Abbu, I promise, I will never let you down.’

Nazir smiled, ‘That’s my son. When you become a doctor, always serve the poor with an open heart. They are the ones who will need your help the most but will be able to afford it the least.’

‘I will remember this, Abbu,’ he said, hugging his father. A sense of relief spread over Mahajabeena’s face as she saw the father and son together.

‘It seems that I will not be able to come,’ Nazir said over the phone. It was June and they were supposed to go for Shahid’s admission to the coaching centre in Kota.

‘But how will we manage things?’ Mahajabeena sounded worried

‘Take Abbu with you.’

It was not practical for Mahajabeena, ‘He will not be able to help with admission formalities. He doesn’t understand these things. Try and get at least a few days’ leave,’ she insisted.

Finally, Nazir managed to get twelve days of leave and the three of them left for the coaching hub. In between, they took a break in New Delhi.

‘I am in Delhi, won’t you show me around?’ Nazir called Hanif and said. Hanif was overwhelmed to see Nazir after such a long time. Nazir was equally happy. But his eyes welled up when Colonel Jamwal invited him home. As they were discussing different things, Nazir said to the colonel, ‘Sir, I have decided to resign from the army.’ This came as a surprise to everyone except Mahajabeena; she knew that Nazir was contemplating to put his papers since some time now.

‘This is your personal choice, Nazir,’ Colonel Jamwal said, ‘but, think it through, just consider about yourself and family and then arrive at a decision.’

Nazir nodded.

Colonel Jamwal smiled and added, ‘And what if I am posted again in the valley? Who will be there to support and assist me if you retire?’

A big smile spread across Nazir’s face, ‘Sir, if you will come, I will postpone my retirement by two years.’ This moment stayed with Nazir. 

Colonel Jamwal handed his car keys to Hanif and said, ‘Take this and make sure that Nazir and his family don’t have any trouble. Show them everything in our city.’ Nazir left Delhi with warmth in his heart and pride in his eyes.

They reached Shahid’s coaching centre and settled him in. ‘Study well and make us proud,’ Nazir said as he kissed Shahid’s forehead. ‘May Allah be with you.’

‘Yes Abbu,’ Shahid hugged him.

When Nazir and Mahajabeena were returning from Kota, Nazir had a sense of peace on his face. As if all his duties were finally complete.
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Last Call: Operation Batgund, 2018

The Indian soldier did not fail in his duty, he ensured that the task given to him was completed because he knew that he had to live up to the reputation of the Indian Army which consists of courage, valour and sacrifice.

—General Bipin Rawat,
  Chief of Army Staff of the Indian Army

Mid-November in 2018 marked the beginning of chilly Kashmir winters. The weather was seemingly calm but clouds were looming in the sky. Similar was Nazir’s state of mind as he walked through the lane to reach the office of his junior commissioned officer (JCO) Subedar Major Dilip Singh. Nazir wanted to discuss the seniors’ dissatisfaction with the work of the soldiers.

He vented his heart out to Singh who had known Nazir since his recruitment days. He was well aware that Nazir had and would go to any lengths to protect the country. He tried to calm his colleague down, ‘Don’t worry,’ he said, ‘there are highs and lows in every sphere, be it work or personal life. Just focus on your work and give your best as you always do.’ 

Nazir was still worried; he was never one to shy away from his responsibilities. ‘Sir, I will show you the results in the next two months. You and everyone else will see our efforts.’ He saluted JCO Subedar Major Dilip Singh and left. Little did he know that in a matter of just ten days, proof of his bravery would be visible to everyone.

‘I am going home tomorrow, my leave has been approved!’ Ajaz told Nazir on call. It was 23 November 2018.

‘It will be a long road ahead after vacations. Wait for one day, I got the approval only today, I will come along with you. Then we will take our families to some picnic or we can go out somewhere too,’ Nazir said. Ajaz agreed on the condition that he be delayed no more than a day.

The next day, Nazir was busy packing his things for the trip home. They were supposed to go on an operation, but in the evening, it got cancelled. Mahajabeena was at her mother’s place as she was not feeling very well and was down with fever. With no one at home to take care of her—Athar was in Srinagar at a friend’s place and Shahid in Kota for his coaching—Nazir had suggested Mahajabeena stay at her parental home.

 ‘You switch off your phone and sleep now. The operation has been aborted. I will meet you day after tomorrow.’ Nazir had not visited home in a few months but was going to on 26 November. 

‘Okay, it is good in a way that you don’t have to go on an operation tonight. You too take rest. We will meet day after tomorrow,’ Mahajabeena said.

‘Yes we will and listen, mai che tchain maaye (I love you).’

‘Tsche chuk myon zuw, tche chakh me dil azzez (You are my life, you are close to my heart),’ Mahajabeena said, disconnecting the call. She switched off her mobile phone and went off to sleep.

One militant had died a few days back. Nazir and Mushtaq had information that a few other militants would be visiting their home on choutha to meet their parents. The army had planned to ambush them near the area around 10:30 pm. But soon, the police told them that the militants wouldn’t be going there that night. They had decided to return to the company headquarters. The operation was called off and Mushtaq and Nazir decided to take some rest.
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Remains of the house where Operation Batgund took place

Source: Kashmir News


‘You eat a little at least. You have to take medicine,’ Mushtaq said.

Nazir nodded and ate some bread. ‘It has been a rough day today.’ They closed their eyes, only to wake up again when there was a knock on their doors.

Nazir asked, ‘Vakhet kyah av (What time is it)?’

‘Kah (Eleven),’ Mushtaq said as he opened the door. There was a policeman standing outside. 

‘Kyah chu (What happened)?’ Mushtaq asked.

‘Let’s go, we got information while tracing a call. We have to arrest a few people.’

Nazir closed the door and went to the courtyard. He tried to call Mahajabeena as was his ritual before going on any operation, only this time, she had switched off her phone after their previous conversation. 

He called Ajaz who was serving elsewhere, ‘I am going on an operation.’

‘Where?’ Ajaz asked.

‘Will tell you when we reach.’ They bid each other goodbye over the phone. At around 11:15 pm, they left the company headquarters in a Casspir.

‘How many militants are we expecting?’

‘At least five to six.’

The militants were holed up in Basher Ahmad Ganai’s new home. His old home was located right beside the new one. As they reached the location, Nazir himself took charge and placed the cordon around the house with the help of the police and the CRPF. They had tightly sealed the exit and entry points into the village. The village was accessible from Kulgam and Shopian and both the tracks were completely sealed off. The army was moving quickly and in good numbers to the site of the incident. This was aimed at strengthening the cordon so that none of the trapped militants could escape.

Till that time, there was no firing from inside the house and the army waited patiently at the location. They had called for one extra delta company for support. As the Casspir reached near the village, its sound alerted the militants and they jumped outside the house in a bid to escape. The army men opened fire and as the car containing the delta company reached the location, four militants were already dead within thirty seconds.

It was 4 am and the parties took positions again. There were two more militants inside the house. One militant was assumed to be in the courtyard and the others inside the house. Nazir and Mushtaq climbed up the stairs to the first floor of the adjacent house. Nazir was covering Mushtaq from behind. ‘This will give us a better view,’ he said.

The house had an outer boundary of aluminium sheets. It was still early morning and due to the darkness, very little was visible. Nazir and Mushtaq decided to break the window. The glass shattered with a blow and as they peeked inside the tabela it seemed that something was moving in the courtyard.

‘I think there is some movement, but I can’t tell clearly,’ Mushtaq told Nazir.

‘I have night vision goggles. Let’s confirm.’ Nazir looked through them, ‘There is one militant.’ 

The whispering led the militant to look upwards, but before he could aim his gun, Nazir aimed his rifle and fired. The militant dropped dead in a moment. The house was set ablaze and in that light the militant whom Nazir had shot was clearly visible. As the house burned, the last remaining militant ran from the kitchen to the last room. Nazir took the bulletproof shield from Mushtaq, but he pondered for a moment and said, ‘I don’t need this.’

‘Okay, I will go downstairs now,’ Mushtaq said, leaving Nazir on the first floor. Downstairs, he asked two civilians to take out the body of the slain militant as he guided them. Nazir, meanwhile, was keeping an eye on everything. It was 7 am in the morning now. The militant in hiding saw the movement in the tabela and in the hopes of causing casualties, fired thirty rounds. But Nazir didn’t lose a moment to react and combated the militant’s firing from above. 

He came downstairs and Mushtaq changed his position to the other side of the house. From 7:30 till 8:00 am in the morning, the army fired five hundred rounds but there was no retaliation from the room. It was still not clear if the militant had died. They decided to call the house owner.

‘You check through the window,’ Nazir asked the house owner. 

He went and peeked through the window mesh. On returning, he told Nazir, ‘One under the blanket.’

Nazir decided to go ahead and shoot the remaining militant. As they started moving towards the room through the gallery, Nazir asked CC Captain Mahesh, to cover him from the back. When they reached near the window, seven rounds were fired. Nazir aimed his rifle. 

As he peeked inside, the militant opened fire. A bullet pierced through his head. Nazir dropped to the ground. Before giving up his life, he fired a few last shots that seriously injured the terrorist.

The firing ceased. Mushtaq was on the other side and had no idea about this. Captain Mahesh came and announced, ‘Nazir has been shot.’

Mushtaq couldn’t believe this, ‘He left only five minutes back, it can’t be true.’ But then he saw Captain Mahesh’s tear-filled eyes. He asked where his friend had been shot.

‘In the head,’ Captain Mahesh told him. 

After seven to eight minutes, the militant threw a grenade through which he aimed to cause more casualties to the army. But that grenade fell on Nazir’s rifle. 

The rifle was shattered to pieces. The army men then retaliated and threw two grenades inside. Within five minutes, the militant was done for. The operation was closed. The bodies of all six militants were recovered, along with the heavy arms and ammunition. As per Kashmir Life, out of the six militants killed in the encounter, five were identified by the police and handed over to the respective families. It was a combined group of Hizbul Mujahideen and LeT, as per police records.

Umar Majid Ganai who was operating under the code names of Abu Hanzla and Gazala was the topmost wanted militant. Operating since 12 December 2015, according to official records, Ganai was heading the Hizbul Mujahideen in the district. He is the same militant who was photographed in Lal Chowk in the wake of reports that the Hizbul had a meeting in Srinagar. There were a number of photographs that appeared on social media suggesting the meeting actually took place. But there was no confirmation from any security agency.

Waseem Ahmad Wagay was his deputy. A resident of Amshipora in Shopian, he was one of the five militants from his village and probably the last one. He had been active since December 2016. Reports said he was one of the militants who had escaped from the Kachdoora encounter in April 2018.

Khalid Farooq, another militant who was killed in the encounter, was a resident of Aliyalpora on the outskirts of Shopian. He had been with the militants for almost a year. Police sources said he had fled from the Khudpora operation in which two militants and the house owner were killed, two weeks back.

Mohammad Abbas Bhat, another Hizbul militant killed in the gun-battle was a resident of Montribugh in Shopian. He had been active since September 2016.

Not far away lived Mushtaq Ahmad Mir, an LeT recruit who was a resident of Chak-e-Cholan. Since he was operating since early 2014, local sources said he was perhaps the oldest surviving militant of the group that was killed in the encounter.33

The sixth militant was a Pakistani terrorist.
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Final Goodbye

Aye The Hum Misr-e-Bulbul Sair-e-Gulshan Kar Chale, 
Ley Lo Maali Baagh Apna Hum To Apne Ghar Chale…

(O gardener the nightingale came and 
leisured in your garden
 Care for it oh! Your garden is yours now, 
I am going to my resting place…)

—The epitaph on Nazir’s grave

Mahajabeena woke up a little late on the morning of 25 November 2018. She was still feeling slightly unwell due to the fever. She looked at the watch and immediately got out of bed. ‘I have a lot to do,’ she thought. Today was Athar’s senior secondary chemistry exam. He was staying with a friend for the night to prepare. Mahajabeena picked up the phone to wish him good luck but instead, the phone rang with Ajaz’s call. It seemed a little weird to her that Ajaz was calling this early.

‘Hello bhaijaan, sab khariyaat (everything okay)?’ she asked.

Ajaz gathered himself and told her, ‘Mahajabeena, do not panic after what I am going to tell you. Nazir has been admitted to the army hospital.’ Mahajabeena was shocked and asked what had happened. ‘He got a little hurt in the operation last night,’ Ajaz tried to explain.

But this can’t be. She had had a conversation with Nazir before going to bed. He had clearly told her that the operation was cancelled. The previous night’s conversation played itself over in her mind.

‘But he wasn’t supposed to go. He called me and told me that the operation was cancelled!’ Mahajabeena tried to confront Ajaz, ‘Maybe you have heard about some other Nazir, bhaijaan. Did you check again? Maybe someone else was injured. I shall call Nazir right now.’ Mahajabeena was still in a state of shock. She was about to hang up the phone when Ajaz said, ‘Please calm down. I am sure that it is our Nazir. He went on an operation last night.’ He paused for a minute and said, ‘Sister, the jeep must be reaching soon to pick you up. You get ready.’ 

Mahajabeena was now worried about Nazir, ‘But bhaijaan, please tell me, how is he?’ she asked. Ajaz avoided answering the question and only insisted that she get ready to go to the hospital. Ajaz’s behaviour planted a seed of doubt in her heart, and she knew something wasn’t right. Mahajabeena picked up her mobile and dialled Athar’s number straight away.

‘Hello Ammi, I just finished revising for the paper. It’s good that you called. I need your wishes before the exam starts,’ Athar said as he picked up her call.

Mahajabeena knew that Athar’s exam was going to start in a few hours but she had to inform him about his Abbu’s health, ‘Athar, come home immediately. Abbu was injured last night. He has been admitted to the base hospital. Please come home, we have to take the defence card to the hospital.’

Athar was shocked, ‘Ammi, how? When? Is he alright?’ 

She said she wasn’t sure and asked him to get home as soon as possible. Athar agreed. But Mahajabeena’s heart was sinking. She had a strong feeling that something bad had happened. She immediately gave a call to Mushtaq’s wife.

‘Sister, you tell me what happened to Nazir. Mushtaq must have told you. I feel like they are hiding something from me,’ Mahajabeena asked her.

‘I want you to sit down for a moment Mahajabeena.’

Mahajabeena was getting worried and impatient with every passing second, ‘Please tell me the actual thing sister, apko khuda ka vasta (swear to god).’

There was a pause. And then she broke the news, ‘Mahajabeena, Nazir bhai shaheed ho gae (Nazir has become a martyr).’ In that moment, Mahajabeena’s world collapsed. She was inconsolable. Mahajabeena felt numb, she didn’t know what the person on the other end was saying. 

Her mother saw her and immediately understood the situation. She held Mahajabeena and made her sit down. ‘I wish I hadn’t switched off my phone. This goodbye is not right. If only I could talk to him one last time,’ Mahajabeena was crying in her mother’s lap like a baby, her soul felt like it was being ripped apart. 

‘How will Athar and Shahid manage, beta, if you break down like this?’ her mother tried to console her. She was right, Mahajabeena had to gather herself for her kids. It was now time to inform Athar and Shahid before they get to know from anyone else. She wiped her tears, took a bag and put a few necessary belongings in it. The jeep would be arriving at any moment now.

‘Athar is here,’ her father came into the room. She went outside and hugged him. He didn’t know why his mother, who was such a strong woman, was breaking down like this.

‘Don’t worry Ammi, Abbu will be fine. I have brought the card, let us leave for the hospital.’ He tried to comfort her. Mahajabeena looked at him with teary eyes and hugged him again. 

‘What happened, Ammi? Is everything alright?’ Athar was beginning to get worried now. Mahajabeena gathered all her courage and said, ‘Athar, Abbu has passed away.’

It was something that Athar couldn’t process immediately. He had been waiting for Abbu to come home on leave. They had planned to go on a vacation after Athar’s exam. Athar had planned to tell him how he was preparing for engineering and hoping to get in a reputed college after passing his senior secondary. Tears started rolling down his cheeks even though he was trying to put up a brave face in front of his mother. 

Mahajabeena held his hand and said, ‘Athar, you have an exam today, you leave with your friend for the centre. Jo hona tha wo ho gaya (Whatever had to happen has happened), you do not put your future at stake.’

‘But Ammi, I want to be there,’ Athar pleaded.

Mahajabeena wiped his tears and explained, ‘Athar, if you don’t give this exam, it will be almost impossible to fulfil your Abbu’s dream of making you an engineer. You have to look out for this now.’

Athar nodded in agreement and said, ‘But Shahid? Does he know about Abbu?’

‘Not yet,’ said Mahajabeena, ‘and do not tell him. He has to travel a long way from Kota. I do not want him to do something that we all will regret later. Let him come home.’

In a few moments, an army jeep stopped at their gate. Mahajabeena knew what it was about. The army men sat in the room and told her the news. She listened. 

‘Do you wish us to inform anyone?’ they asked politely.

‘I will do that myself,’ said Mahajabeena, ‘and I request you to make sure that my younger son Shahid does not get to know till the time he is able to reach Srinagar. The last rites will be performed only when he arrives. It is his right to see his father for one last time.’

The men nodded in agreement, ‘We will ensure that. We have booked a ticket for him to come to Srinagar. An army vehicle will pick him up from there.’ 

Mahajabeena called Shahid then; he was in his class at that time. 

‘Salaam Ammi, I am in a lecture right now, shall I call you later?’

‘No Shahid, this can’t wait. Can you step outside for a minute? I have to tell you something,’ Mahajabeena tried to keep her voice as calm and composed as possible.

‘Yes Ammi, now tell me what’s so urgent?’ Shahid was standing outside his class.

‘Beta, Abbu has been injured in an operation,’ Mahajabeena informed him.

‘What?? Is he alright?’ Shahid got worried.

Mahajabeena held back her tears and said, ‘Yes beta, he is alright. But he is asking about you and wants to see you. So I want you to pack your bags now. Army men will take you to Delhi and you have a flight to Srinagar from there. I will meet you in Srinagar.’

‘I am leaving right now Ammi; tell Abbu that his favourite son is coming, he need not worry.’ Shahid rushed out of the school. Mahajabeena disconnected the phone and started crying. It was necessary for her not to show any signs of pain over the call with Shahid, or else he would sense that something was not right.

‘Shall we leave?’ they asked Mahajabeena. They were supposed to take her to the hospital.

Mahajabeena nodded.

As she reached the hospital, she was unable to lift her feet up the stairs. She had feared this day ever since she fell in love with Nazir. And in her subconscious mind, she had tried to prepare herself for the situation. But now, it seemed impossible to come to terms with the fact that when she would see him, he wouldn’t say anything to her. She went into the room and saw him. He was lying there with a peaceful look on his face, disrupted only by a bullet mark on his forehead. She could not move; there were people giving their condolences which she could not hear. The only thing that echoed in her ears were his last words, ‘I will see you in two days, I am coming home on leave.’ And he fulfilled his promise. He came home for eternity. 

Sonualla and Raja Begum were informed, and they reached the hospital in no time. As they saw Nazir, with Mahajabeena sitting silently by his side, it seemed like the sky had fallen on them—nothing seemed real. They cried in silence, mourning the death of their eldest son. Raja Begum hugged Mahajabeena and burst into tears.

‘Be strong Ammi, he gave his life for the country. We should be proud of him,’ Mahajabeena tried to comfort Raja Begum, who was devastated. Her child was lost to her forever, without saying a word. The images of his childhood flashed before Raja Begum’s eyes. The images that were so dear to her. Her happy child going to school, helping her in her household work, chatting for hours, discussing her problems, the sehra chand face. ‘Allah!’ 

‘Inna Lillahi wa inna ilayhi raji’un (We belong to Allah and to Allah we shall return),’ Mahajabeena consoled her while keeping her grief aside. Her phone rang, it was Shahid. She quickly went into a corner and received the call, ‘Hello Shahid,’ she tried to sound as normal as possible, ‘have you reached Delhi?’

‘Yes Ammi, I have reached. How is Abbu? Is he conscious?’ Shahid was getting restless.

Mahajabeena tried to put a smile in her voice, ‘Yes Shahid, he is fine. He was asking about you. I will tell him that you have reached Delhi and in no time you will be in Srinagar.’

‘Ammi, can I talk to Abbu for a minute?’

 ‘Shahid, Abbu is sleeping now and I don’t want to disturb him. You will be home in some hours, wait till then.’ 

‘Okay Ammi, as you say. You take care of yourself and Abbu, I am going to board my flight now.’ 

Mahajabeena was distressed. She had to lie to her child about his father. ‘You have to be strong, you did the right thing,’ she tried to reassure herself.

‘Ammi,’ a voice came from the door’s direction.

She looked up and found Athar standing there. ‘How was your exam?’ she asked.

‘I have tried Ammi, the rest Allah will look after. I was not able to concentrate even for a minute, but Ammi I know what you were saying.’ Athar held her hand, ‘You need not be so strong alone Ammi, we can be strong together.’

Shahid reached Srinagar by late evening on 25 November. He was picked up and taken to the hospital immediately. Mahajabeena was waiting for him, ‘Shahid.’

‘Ammi, I am home. Now Abbu need not worry. He wanted to see me na? Let’s go and meet him,’ he said.

‘Shahid I lied to you,’ Mahajabeena held his hand, ‘Abbu has become a martyr.’ Shahid was shocked. He couldn’t believe what he had just heard. He had not expected this at all. Abbu was injured, he was waiting for him, and he wanted to meet him. How could he leave like this? 

‘No, this can’t be,’ Shahid shouted. Tears started rolling down his eyes. Athar came and hugged Shahid. The brothers wept profusely. They didn’t say anything. What could they say anyway? 

The night was a long one. All of them sat beside one another. There wasn’t a hint of sleep in their eyes. Memories came flowing down like the wind to Mahajabeena—their wedding, Athar and Shahid’s arrival in their life, the little moments of love, the care. Life with Nazir was no less than a beautiful dream.

On the morning of 26 November 2018, Nazir came home wrapped in the Tricolour. The decorated soldier was taken to his native village, Ashmuji, in an army helicopter, and handed over to his family. Mahajabeena touched the coffin one more time. Trying to hold back her tears, she prayed for him, ‘You will always be with me, may Allah be with you!’ and she bid a final goodbye to her husband, her lover, her confidant and her friend. The relatives picked up the coffin and Nazir’s final journey commenced. The graveyard was covered with a blanket of fresh snow. 

The wreath-laying ceremony was conducted with full honour. As his coffin was being lowered, a twenty-one gun salute was given to him. A large number of people, including those from neighbouring areas, paid their last respects to him. Sonualla broke down, ‘He had promised he would come to the fields with me.’

The hauntingly melancholic tunes of ‘The Last Post’ was played by the military bugles as an unforgettable ode to Nazir’s martyrdom, signifying the end of his journey. Everyone had a lump in their throats. While Shahid and Athar were fighting tears, Mahajabeena, at home, could hold it in no longer. She cried endlessly in her room.

The Indian flag in which Nazir was wrapped was folded and handed over to Mahajabeena. It was a symbol of Nazir’s sacrifice, selflessness and valour. She took it, touched it to her eyes, ‘This is above all for me. After all, this is the reason why he sacrificed his life.’

It was January 2019, a month since Nazir’s martyrdom. Athar and Shahid were back in their classes. Although they had wanted to stay, Mahajabeena forced them to resume their studies and not waste any more time. 

‘This is what your Abbu and I have always wanted. I am sure you will make him proud and fulfil the dreams that he had for you two.’ Holding back her tears, she bid them goodbye with a smile. ‘Ammi, you take care of yourself, and don’t hesitate to give us a call any time.’ The brothers hugged each other as they went their separate ways.

Mahajabeena returned to their Kulgam home a few days later. 

‘I will come along with you.’ Her mother did not want Mahajabeena to be alone in the home that had so many memories of Nazir. She knew the pain her daughter would feel on entering the empty house. Mahajabeena gave a faint smile and nodded. On their way home, Mahajabeena sat and closed her eyes only to open them when she reached the premises of the colony. The ride was just an hour long but to her, it seemed a lifetime had gone by. As she unlocked the door, the memories of stepping inside the house for the first time flashed before her eyes. Nazir had surprised her with this house after Athar’s birth. He was always so thoughtful, so caring. 

‘I’ll go check the kitchen, Ammi, there is so much dust all over,’ Mahajabeena said and went inside. Her mother knew the reason for her moving so hurriedly, but she also understood that Mahajabeena’s pain was only hers to bear. ‘Time will heal the wound,’ she thought to herself.

Next few days went by and Mahajabeena now had to take care of legal paperwork. She was now solely responsible for her sons. Sadly, Athar had failed the exam that he had appeared for on that fated day. Mahajabeena consoled him, for she knew how difficult it was that day for Athar to even step out of the house.

‘You did all that you could, so don’t grieve, Athar. Look towards the future, look at what lies ahead and everything will be alright,’ she said.

She was gathering pieces and rearranging her life bit by bit. The support that she got from the army, Nazir’s friends and seniors and society at large was overwhelming. Nazir had made brothers for life and now they were always there for his family. Hanif and three of Nazir’s other friends arriving was something that Mahajabeena had not expected. They were all posted in different locations in India and some had even retired from the services and yet, they all came to their friend’s home to pay their respects. ‘Please do let us know if you need anything, Mahajabeena; if we can be of help in any way,’ Colonel Jamwal and Colonel Mendhe told her.

‘Sir, there is only one request. Please guide Athar and Shahid. Nazir had wanted them to be on the right path, and your guidance will be of immense help,’ Mahajabeena said

As the year progressed, the Wani family received news that made them proud, contented, elated and at peace, all at the same time. Mahajabeena was unable to express herself when she was informed that Nazir would be conferred with the highest peacetime honour, the Ashok Chakra. The pain of losing her soul mate would never cease, but this news came as a breath of fresh air. He had always put forth his country and his duty before everyone and everything. He had never wished for recognition for doing the same. But now his efforts, his work, his valour were going to be recognised. He was going to be the first Kashmiri to receive this honour. She called home and asked Nazir’s parents to come along to receive the award on behalf of Nazir. As Raja Begum reached Kulgam, the two women shed tears for the man whose place could never be replaced in their lives.

On 24 January, the news about Nazir being the first army person from the valley to be conferred with Ashok Chakra spread across the country through various news channels. Sonualla, Mahajabeena and Raja Begum were already in New Delhi by that time. 

On 26 January 2019, Mahajabeena got up before sunrise. She completed her daily rituals and offered prayer to Allah for Nazir. It had been two months since Nazir had left them, but she always felt his presence. It was a big day for him and for the country he loved so dearly. She wore a white suit and an off-white shawl. The day was chilly. Suddenly, she remembered the last time they were in Delhi—Nazir, her and the kids. Her heart started sinking again. She knew, no matter how long it was, the pain would never stop. It would start healing and then some little memory would break it open. The hardest thing was that Mahajabeena knew that the one person she could talk to about anything and everything was no more with her.

Her train of thoughts broke with the ringing of the phone. The vehicle was ready to take them to the Republic Day celebrations. She quickly grabbed her purse and left with the family. As they reached the venue, they were escorted to their designated seat. Mahajabeena and Raja Begum received Ashok Chakra from President Ram Nath Kovind. The official introduction that aired for Nazir made everyone emotional.

‘Late Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani Sena Medal 2 had joined Indian Army JAKLI Unit on 16 January 2004. He was a courageous and decorated soldier of the Indian Army. He had contributed immensely in the successful completion of many operations in south Kashmir. He was awarded the Sena Medal twice for his exceptional valour and duty. Upon receiving the information about the presence of six terrorists in a village of Jammu and Kashmir on 25 November 2018, Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani reached the location with his team and held front. Terrorists tried to break the cordon by indiscriminate firing and the use of grenades. With fearlessness, Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani killed one wanted terrorist in close firing. Displaying exemplary skill, he fired a grenade in the room where another terrorist was hiding. Despite being seriously injured, he killed one foreign terrorist in a one-to-one battle. Not caring for his wounds, he continued the fight with fierceness and courage and injured the other terrorist. But the terrorist also injured him and Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani was martyred. In this way, he displayed remarkable valour and made the supreme sacrifice for the nation.’

As Mahajabeena retreated towards her seat, her lifetime with Nazir played before her eyes. She looked at the medal and held it tightly in her hands.
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The last journey of Nazir in his village

Source: https://www.youthkiawaaz.com/2018/12/lance-naik-nazir-ahmed-wani-terrorist-turned-army-man-lost-his-life-to-terrorism/
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Mahajabeena bidding farewell to Nazir

Source: https://www.youthkiawaaz.com/2018/12/lance-naik-nazir-ahmed-wani-terrorist-turned-army-man-lost-his-life-to-terrorism/


[image: ]

Nazir’s grave in his village

Source: Kashmir News
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Twenty-one gun salute to Nazir

Source: https://toistudent.timesofindia.indiatimes.com/news/newsmakers/ashok-chakra-for-lance-naik-nazir-ahmad-wani/40999.html
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Grieving parents of Nazir, Sonualla (left) and Raja Begum (right)

Source: https://www.firstpost.com/india/nazir-ahmad-wani-from-militancy-to-ashok-chakra-this-soldier-from-kashmir-braved-a-hard-life-and-bullets-5959501.html
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Bust of Nazir unveiled at the Army Goodwill School, Wuzur

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena
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Lt. Gen. Ranbir Singh (GOC, Northern Command) and Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena, at the bust-unveiling function, Wuzur

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena
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Mahajabeena receiving the Ashok Chakra from President Shri Ram Nath Kovind at the Republic Day function, 2019

Source: Personal collection of Nazir’s wife, Mahajabeena
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LETTERS


It has been a few months since you left, and all the continuing responsibilities and the demands of the day have made me stronger. It seems that life is normal, certainly fully functional.  But when I sit down after a whole day’s work, when I am alone, it pains inside. The vacuum that you have left in my life will never be filled, ever. And yet, the ways in which you continue to be by my side are innumerable. 

You made everything fall into place way before you left. Now when I look back, it seems that you were in a hurry to fix everything. To make life easy for me. Seems that somehow you knew. The house, education of our kids, the paddy fields. I have no regrets; you gave your life for the cause that you lived for. And I hope you know how much respect and love you have earned for that.

But then again, the personal loss can never be recovered, I am still trying to make peace with the fact that you, whom I confided in, who were my sounding board, will not be coming back. That now our worrying over the children will be mine, and laughing about little things together will now be a memory.

There are so many unanticipated gaps in my life now.  But then you always said, ‘Aap mere ghar ki mard ho (You are the man at home)’. Athar and Shahid miss you a lot. I need to be strong through their grief. At times I find myself numb, empty; but I keep doing things that need to be done.

You will always remain in my heart as the joyful, loving, caring husband and father that you were. The memories will always make me smile. I will always remember the blessing that you were in my life and it will be impossible to forget the loss.

Yours,

Maha

Everybody says that I look a lot like my father! This is the best compliment that I could ever get but the saddest thing is that now I won’t be able to stand beside you, Abbu, and compare my face with yours, ever. But I promise you Abbu that I will try my level best to achieve the almost-impossible task of being like you as a person, to follow your advice and realise the dream that you had for me. When I was young, I couldn’t understand why you weren’t always around. But then when I finally learned that your absence meant that you were working for our motherland and us, I realised the sacrifice you were making so that we were safe and happy.

You always told me not to look for mistakes in others, rather look into myself and try to be a better person. ‘Why would someone listen to you if your actions speak otherwise?’ you used to say. The advice has been, and will be, my guiding light. Abbu, you have clearly passed on your fearlessness on to us. Maybe that is why none of us shows our vulnerable side to each other. While we three are completely heartbroken with you leaving us so suddenly, without even a proper goodbye, it is your memory and Ammi’s strong will that keeps us going. I promise you, Abbu, I will always protect Ammi and Shahid the way you used to shield us. 

It is very easy to fall prey to the wrong ways but you always led by example—how a man of great character becomes an inspiration for not only his family, his community, his state but for the entire nation. You were and you are my role model Abbu, my superhero. Thank you for never forcing me to become a ‘manly man’. You always showed us that being a real man is more than chauvinistic machismo; a real man is one who is of dignity and grace. Thank you for teaching me to treat women well and to respect them as equals in any field. Thank you for making me who I am today.

I know my prayers reach you and I know that your love always surrounds me. 

Yours,

Athar

Abbu, as I am trying to write, all the memories are flashing before my eyes. Not a single day goes by when I don’t imagine what life would be like had you not gone. Every situation that I find myself in, I dream of a scenario where you’re present and sharing in the happy moments.

You were my superhero, my guardian angel. From sharing little joys to instilling values in me, you made me strong enough to deal with situations. No matter how tough the time was, you never let it reflect on our day-to-day lives. There were days when I wouldn’t get to see you but then when you showed up, you always made sure that we have twice as much fun. 

Eid was a blast with you. Before we could even make a demand, you used to bring firecrackers, new clothes and sweets for us. You always remembered everyone’s likes and dislikes. Now Eid will never be the same, ever. 

I still remember how you always said that I was the naughty one between bhaijaan and me. It was you who taught me never to let my mischief harm anyone. 

And then, the way you secretly trained me to ride a bike so that I can help Ammi commute from our grandparents’ place; I still remember Ammi’s face when she saw me riding the bike for the first time. That moment is etched in my heart forever. The memories are endless…

Abbu, you’ve left people with a lot of good recollections of you. They always talk about how you made them laugh, how you were there to listen to them, how you always helped whomever you could with whatever you could. Your duty was your priority. It gives me a feeling of warmth to hear these things about you and inspires me to be the kind of son you’d be proud of.

Thank you, Abbu. Thank you for your love. Thank you for the memories. Thank you for being a good, hard-working man who encouraged me to be the best person I can be and to do the best I can in everything I wish to achieve. 

But above all, I thank Allah for choosing me to be your son. You were the gift of Allah, and now that he has taken you back, I must complete the dreams you had for me. And then we will meet again.

Abbu, thank you for being my father. I love you.

Yours,




EPILOGUE

It has been a year since Nazir Ahmad Wani’s martyrdom. The Wani household is still trying to cope with the loss and adjust to their routines. Mahajabeena is managing the household and the education of her kids single-handedly. Nazir’s elder son, Athar, has taken the first step towards realising his father’s dream for him. He has been enrolled in a reputed engineering college. The younger one, Shahid, is studying hard for the medical entrance exams. Mahajabeena’s life is now divided between the home and official responsibilities.

In June 2019, an army goodwill school in Kashmir was named after Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani, AC, SM**. Northern Command chief, Lt. Gen. Ranbir Singh presided over the ceremony in a village called Wuzur in the Qazigund area of Kulgam during which the school was renamed ‘Shaheed Lance Naik AGS Wuzur’. Mahajabeena unveiled the bust of Nazir placed in the school.

She is trying to handle all the responsibilities with a smile on her face. It is her firm belief that Nazir’s story will inspire the younger generations and motivate them to choose the right path. She continues educating the younger generation so that things can change for the betterment of people—something Nazir wished for.


APPENDIX

The Ashoka Chakra citation34 reads as follows: 

Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani, Bar to Sena Medal The Jammu and Kashmir Light Infantry/34th Battalion the Rashtriya Rifles

Since his enrolment in the Army, Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani, SM**, epitomised qualities of a fine soldier. He always volunteered for challenging missions, displaying great courage under adverse conditions, exposing himself to grave danger on numerous occasions in the line of duty. This is evident from the two gallantry awards conferred on him earlier.

Lance Naik Nazir, yet again insisted on being part of the assault team during Operation [Batgund] launched by 34 Rashtriya Rifles Battalion on 25 Nov, 2018 post receipt of credible intelligence regarding presence of six heavily armed terrorists in Shopian district of Jammu and Kashmir. Tasked to block the most likely escape route, Lance Naik Nazir moved swiftly with his team to the target house and tactically positioned himself within striking distance. Sensing danger, the terrorists attempted breaching the inner cordon firing indiscriminately and lobbing grenades. Undeterred by the situation, the NCO held ground and eliminated one terrorist in a fierce exchange at close range. The terrorist was later identified as a dreaded district commander of [Lashkar-e-Taiba].

Thereafter, displaying exemplary soldierly skills, Lance Naik Nazir closed in with the target house under heavy fire and lobbed grenades into a room where another terrorist was hiding. Seeing the foreign terrorist escaping from the window, the NCO encountered him in a hand to hand combat situation. Despite being severely wounded, Lance Naik Nazir eliminated the terrorist. Showing utter disregard to his injury, Lance Naik Nazir continued to engage the remaining terrorists with same ferocity and audacity. He injured yet another terrorist at close range but was hit again and succumbed to his injuries.

For displaying unparalleled bravery and supreme sacrifice in the line of duty, Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani, SM is awarded the ‘Ashok Chakra (Posthumus)’.


GLOSSARY

Azaadi: Independence

Baarat: Wedding procession

Bab: Father

Bada sahib: Officer

Baithak: Living room

Bhaijaan: Brother

Chillai-Kalan: Severe cold

Chulha: Mud stove

Dalan: Courtyard

Dawat: Party

Eidi: Monetary gift on the occasion of Eid

Ghusl: Ritual of washing the whole body, as prescribed by Islamic law. To be performed in preparation for prayer and worship

Gosht: Meat

Janab: Sir

Ji: Yes

Jigar: Love

Kahwa: Kashmiri tea flavoured with cinnamon, cardamom and saffron.

Kangri: A small pot filled with lighted charcoal, used to transport fire, or (in Kashmir) carried close to the body as a means of keeping warm.

Karkhana: Small factory

Khala: Aunt

Khatna: Circumcision

Langar: Here, food prepared in a mess by and for soldiers

Malham: Balm

Mehendi: Henna

Nahi: No

Nala: A shallow water channel

Namaz: Prayer

Namkeen: Salty

Nikaah: Wedding

Noon chai: Salt tea, it is a traditional beverage made in Kashmir 

Nosh: Daughter-in-law

Pagal: Silly

Pallu: End of a dupatta

Pheran: The traditional outfit for both males and females in Kashmir

Rukhsaati: Departure

Salaam: Hello

Sharara: A pair of loose pleated trousers worn by women from South Asia, typically with a kameez and dupatta.

Shorba: Soup

Shukriya: Thank you

Tabela: A shed for livestock

Waan: An apparatus for making fabric by weaving yarn or thread

Waankh: Tiny braids

Walima: Reception

Yaara: Friend

Zanaan: Bride
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FOREWORD

Defence Services are the instruments of National Power and
they have never failed the Nation in their onerous responsibilty of
ensuring terrtorial integrity and providing safety to its citizens
The Indian Amy, a highly professional force has consistently
protected India from all adversaries, both external and interal.

Since Independence, Jammu & Kashmir has witnessed
turmoil and terrorism initiated by Pakistan, which the Indian Army
and other security forces have combated with dedication.
Seeing the entire spectrum of challenges in which our soldiers
operate, | can say with conviction that the Indian Army will continue
to put India first, always and every time. One such individual who
had displayed such exemplary dedication was Lance Naik Nazir
Ahmad Wani, AC, SM*, an epitome of valour, courage and
sacrifice.

The biography of Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani by Dr Sonal
Chaturvedi is seminal work of his personal and professional
experiences. Interacting a number of his family members,
fellow villagers, Commanding Officers and peers in the Army, the
author has etched out a courageous profile of a passionate and an
audacious soldier.

| am sanguine that this book is a befitng tribute to
Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani and shall continue to inspire future
generations for years to come. | am steadfast in my belief that our
Amed Forces and soldiers like Lance Naik Nazir Ahmad Wani shall
continue to live upto the trust and confidence reposed by the Nation
in the finest traditions of soldiering.

“Jai Hind' 'A%

(Bipin Rawat)
General
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